
 

 

Agenda - Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, 

Sport, and International Relations Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee room 3, Senedd 

Meeting date: 24 January 2024 

Meeting time: 10.30

For further information contact: 

Lleu Williams 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddCulture@senedd.wales

Hybrid 
------ 

Pre-meeting registration  

(09.45-10.00)  

 

At its meeting on 17 January 2024, the Committee agreed a motion 

under Standing Order 17.42(ix) to exclude the public from the 

beginning of today's meeting  

 

Private  

(10.00-10.30)  

 

1 Welsh Government Draft Budget 2024-25: Draft Budget summary 

of main findings 

(10.00-10.30) (Pages 1 - 3)  

 

Attached Documents:  

  Draft Budget summary of main findings 

 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



 

 

Public meeting  

(10.30-11.30)  

 

2 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

(10.30)   

 

3 Allegations surrounding the Welsh Rugby Union: evidence session 

with the Welsh Rugby Union 

(10.30-11.30) (Pages 4 - 127)  

 

  Richard Collier-Keywood, Chair, Welsh Rugby Union 

  Abi Tierney, Chief Executive Officer, Welsh Rugby Union 

  Nigel Walker, Executive Director of Rugby, Welsh Rugby Union 

 

Attached Documents:  

  Research brief: Allegations surrounding the Welsh Rugby Union 

  Sport Resolutions: Independent review of the Welsh Rugby Union - 14 

November 2023 

 

4 Papers to note 

(11.30)   

 

4.1 Public service broadcasting in Wales 

 (Pages 128 - 131)  

Attached Documents:  

  Correspondence from Ofcom: Public service broadcasting in Wales - 10 

October 2023 



 

 

4.2 Challenges facing the creative industry workforce in Wales 

 (Pages 132 - 140)  

Attached Documents:  

  Response from the Deputy Minister for Arts, Sport and Tourism - 

Written response by the Welsh Government to the report of the Culture, 

Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International Relations 

Committee’s entitled ‘Behind the scenes: The creative industries 

workforce’ 

  Written response by the Welsh Government to the report of the Culture, 

Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International Relations 

Committee’s entitled ‘Behind the scenes: The creative industries 

workforce’ 

 

4.3 HSBC UK Welsh Service Line 

 (Pages 141 - 142)  

Attached Documents:  

  Response from the Minister for Education and Welsh Language – Welsh 

language banking – 17 January 2024 

 

4.4 Welsh Government Draft Budget 2024-25 

 (Pages 143 - 156)  

Attached Documents:  

  Letter to the Minister for the Economy and Deputy Minister for Arts, 

Sport and Tourism - Welsh Government Draft Budget 2024-25 – 18 

January 2024 

  Letter to the First Minister - Welsh Government Draft Budget 2024-25 

- 16 January 2024 

  Letter to the Minister for Education and Welsh Language- Welsh 

Government Draft Budget 2024-25 - 16 January 2024 



 

 

  Letter from Discovering Old Welsh Houses Group to the Deputy 

Minister for Art, Sport and Tourism - Proposed cuts to the Royal 

Commission on the Ancient and Historic Monuments of Wales - 12 

January 2024 

  Letter from the Royal Welch Fusiliers Museum to the Deputy Minister 

for Art, Sport and Tourism - Proposed cuts to the Royal Commission 

on the Ancient and Historic Monuments of Wales - 16 January 2024 

  Letter from the Wales Heritage Group - Proposed cuts to the Royal 

Commission on the Ancient and Historic Monuments of Wales - 16 

January 2024 

 

4.5 International Relations in Welsh Government 

 (Pages 157 - 161)  

Attached Documents:  

  Response from the Deputy Minister for Arts, Sport and Tourism - 

Written Response by the Welsh Government to the report of the 

Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International 

Relations Committee’s entitled ‘International Relations Annual Report 

2022-23' - 16 January 2024 

 

4.6 Arts Council of Wales Investment Review 

 (Pages 162 - 163)  

Attached Documents:  

  Letter to the Deputy Minister for Arts, Sport and Tourism – National 

Theatre Wales – 16 January 2024 



 

 

4.7 Allegations concerning bullying at S4C 

 (Pages 164 - 165)  

Attached Documents:  

  Letter from the Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport to the 

S4C Board Members – 16 January 2024 

 

4.8 UK/Belgium: Agreement on the Gainful Occupation of Certain Family 

Members of Personnel of the Diplomatic Missions and Consular Posts 

 (Pages 166 - 167)  

Attached Documents:  

  Letter from the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee to the 

Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International 

Relations Committee  - UK/Belgium: Agreement on the Gainful 

Occupation of Certain Family Members of the Personnel of the 

Diplomatic Missions and Consular Posts – 18 January 2024 

 

5 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 

public from the remainder of this meeting 

(11.30)   

 

Private  

(11.30-12.20)  

 

Break  

(11.30-11.45)  

 



 

 

6 Allegations surrounding the Welsh Rugby Union: consideration of 

evidence 

(11.45-12.05)   

 

7 Welsh Government international relations: analysis of overseas 

visits - Autumn term 2023 

(12.05-12.20) (Pages 168 - 203)  

 

Attached Documents:  

  Research brief: Welsh Government international relations: International 

relations monitoring report - Q1 2024 

  Annex 1 - Letter from the First Minister to the Secretary of State for 

Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Affairs: Devolved 

Governments on overseas ministerial visits - 3 May 2023 

  Annex 2 - Response from the Secretary of State for Foreign, 

Commonwealth and Development Affairs to the First Minister: 

Devolved Governments on overseas ministerial visits - 22 May 2023 

  Annex 3 - Welsh Government international visits - December 2023 

  Research brief: Welsh Government international relations: Scottish 

Government Overseas Ministerial Visits 

  Overseas travel by Minister in 2021-22 costing more than £500 per 

trip 

  Welsh Government international relations: response from the First 

Minister to the International Relations Annual Report 2023-24 - 6 July 

2023 

  Correspondence from the Welsh Government: Welsh Government 

international relations - 10 January 2024 



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 1By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 4

Agenda Item 3 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



 
SR/038/2023 

 

 

 

 
INDEPENDENT REVIEW OF THE WELSH RUGBY UNION 
 
 
Review Panel:  
 
Dame Anne Rafferty (Chair) 
Quentin Smith 
Maggie Alphonsi MBE  
                
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
FINAL REPORT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Pack Page 18



  
 

- 2 - 
 
 

I. Executive summary           4 
 

II. Opening                       12 
a. The crisis 
b. Forewarnings 
c. The BBC Wales Investigates programme 
d. Events after the BBC programme 
e. This review 
f. Concerns from contributors 
g. Bringing about change 
h. The international situation 

 

III. Governance                       29 
a. The context for governance 
b. Modernisation 2012 - 2018 
c. Governance report, July 2022 
d. Attempts at reform after Value Alpha  
e. The March 2023 reforms 
f. Next steps 

 

IV. Management of women’s and girls’ rugby                 42 
a. A challenging context 
b. The problems experienced in women’s national rugby 
c. Responses from the WRU 
d. Women’s performance rugby review, July 2021 
e. Response to the women’s performance rugby review 
f. Investment 
g. Where to play 
h. The current position and next steps 

 

Pack Page 19



  
 

- 3 - 
 
 

V. Employment and equality, diversity and inclusion      55 
a. Context on Equality, diversity and inclusion 
b. Context for workplace culture 
c. Equality, diversity and inclusion report, February 2022 
d. The Welsh Rugby Union’s position in response 
e. Equality and Human Rights Commission 
f. Employment policies and their operation 
g. Staff survey 
h. Everyday discrimination 
i. Steps to embed equality, diversity and inclusion  

 
 
VI. Looking Outwards: values, transparency and relationships   70 

a. Statements of values 
b. Expressing values 
c. Transparency 
d. Stakeholder relationships 
e. Closed culture 

 

VII. Positive voices                              76 
 

VIII. Recommendations                    78 
 

APPENDICES                     89 

1. Background on rugby union in Wales  
2. Letter from Tonia Antoniazzi MP and 121 former players to the Welsh Rugby 

Union, April 2021 
3. Resignation speech and letter from Amanda Blanc, November 2021 
4. Open letter from Hayley Parsons, January 2023 

 

Pack Page 20



  
 

- 4 - 
 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1. On 23 January 2023 BBC Wales Investigates reported “allegations of bullying, sexism 

and sexual harassment that strike at the heart of Welsh Rugby”.  This included a failure 

to support rugby for women and girls, bullying and use of sexist, racist and homophobic 

language.  The allegations sparked an outcry and over the following days the Welsh 

Rugby Union (WRU) announced a review by a panel of three people according to 

published terms of reference. 

2. The panel has heard from people in writing and in dozens of meetings, including current 

and former staff, players and directors.  A clear pattern emerged to the evidence; we set 

that out below along with our recommendations, which the new leadership at the WRU 

should implement at pace. 

3. Following this summary, the report sets out background, before reporting on four areas: 

(1) governance; (2) management of rugby for women and girls; (3) equality, diversity and 

inclusion; and (4) the WRU’s relationship with external stakeholders. 

4. We make 36 recommendations, driven by the following principles.  Governance should 

be efficient and inclusive.  Representative and managerial roles should be separated so 

that the Board focusses on management and a reformed Council represents Welsh rugby 

(with a membership constituted on a wider basis than at present).  Rugby for women and 

girls should have a higher level of investment according to clear strategies accepted 

across the organisation.  The workplace culture should be professional, cohesive, kind 

and inclusive.  The WRU needs to align itself more clearly in the public mind with its stated 

values. 

Governance 

The WRU Board was both frightened of what they had to do and unaware of what they 

had to do: If I ask the right question, I don’t know what to do with the answer.  So, it’s 

much better not to ask the question. 

Pack Page 21



  
 

- 5 - 
 
 

5. This is how a former director of the WRU summed up the governance culture at the WRU 

for the period covered by this review.  The Board was dysfunctional, ill-equipped and 

unable to address the serious institutional and cultural problems it faced. 

6. The governance of the WRU long failed to put in place secure systems managed by those 

with appropriate skills to run a £100 million business.  The WRU’s governance undermined 

its efforts to fulfil and balance the roles and responsibilities of both a national sporting 

body and a large business. The Board has included significant numbers of Council 

members elected by club rugby but not representing or reflecting wider Welsh society.  

The Council has suffered the same flaw: representing the specific pool from which those 

elected were drawn.  Further, the system of election meant few Board members were 

appointed for their skills following an open, competitive process. The outcome for the 

WRU fell short of good practice for selecting directors of a large and complex body.  The 

system was neither broadly representative nor delivering efficient management. 

7. Everyone we met told us the WRU’s governance arrangements were not fit for purpose 

prior to the reforms voted through at the Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) on 26 

March 2023.  We were told that, at times, the executive ignored or side-lined the Board, 

the elected members felt cut off, there were references to a “board within a board”, and 

the advice from the highly experienced non-executive directors was not heeded. 

8. The March EGM reforms promise to improve governance.  They might well not have been 

passed without the BBC Wales Investigates programme (as similar reforms failed in 

October 2022).  In that way the BBC programme has already played a significant role in 

bringing about change.  We propose further changes to governance arrangements. 

9. We open this report with governance because failings of governance were a significant 

cause of the poor culture we found.  With better governance, problems would have been 

identified earlier, resolved more quickly and effectively, and reduced overall. 

10. The governance culture has been criticised as too political and it was perceived as such.  

This was inevitable when key positions on the Board are elected on personal platforms 

representing one group of stakeholders (i.e. community rugby).  Ending the system of an 

Pack Page 22



  
 

- 6 - 
 
 

elected chair and reducing the number of elected directors should reduce the problem.  

Some told us strong characters had built up positions in the staff structure to levels they 

would not have secured in open appointment procedures.  We heard suggestions of 

unexpected outcomes to several recruitment processes following internal lobbying.  These 

concerns would be allayed by a move to a less political system where election played little 

role in governance or management.  

11. We make recommendations for the reform of the Board and Council. 

Culture 

I don’t know who to trust.  I feel like I’m not being a 100% true to myself because there’s 

things that I’d want to call out, address or bring up but I feel vulnerable because I don’t 

trust people. 

12. These are the words of one manager describing the stress of facing cultural issues they 

wanted to challenge but could not. 

13. We were surprised at the number who had experienced great stress through working at 

the WRU.  That might be expected for those directly involved in performance sport, but 

the experience was shared by many in management and administrative positions.  It 

should be borne in mind that we were talking to people in 2023, a very difficult year for all 

staff.  Nonetheless, we could not accept that the degree of stress was inevitable, let alone 

justifiable or productive. The broad nature and intensity of this experience and the 

accounts we have heard reveal an environment with elements of bullying and 

discrimination.  We understand why people sometimes found this toxic, perhaps an 

overused term but apt here.  

14. Board members told an external consultant in 2022, before the BBC programme, of their 

concerns about allegations of sexism and misogyny and of problems in the women’s elite 

programme. The Board knew of stuttering progress towards inclusion within the WRU.  

The response to those problems prior to the broadcast was inadequate.   

Pack Page 23



  
 

- 7 - 
 
 

15. We set out in this report examples of discriminatory and exclusionary language reported 

to us, including sexist, racist and homophobic language experienced by some employees. 

16. Too often the focus was on attempts to manage problems rather than resolve them.  There 

was a lack of transparency, non-disclosure agreements (“NDAs”) were overused, and 

reports commissioned by the WRU went unpublished. Challenges were dealt with 

piecemeal. This organisational culture led to problems festering and the WRU not 

providing adequate or appropriate support to staff who needed it.  Aspects of the culture 

were sexist, misogynistic, racist and homophobic and these were not properly challenged.  

This culture is one part of the treatment of women’s rugby. 

17. For these reasons we recommend steps to make the workplace culture more inclusive 

and considerate. 

Women’s and girls’ rugby 

There was this tension of us being brought in because female fans were growing, there 

were more females wanting to play and I think the organisation had to tick a box in terms 

of we're committing to this and there are individuals internally that are super supportive, 

but this other side that weren't so supportive and didn't really understand why we were 

doing it. 

18. Staff were employed to develop women’s and girls’ rugby but found hesitant support and 

significantly different attitudes dependent upon which manager was at the helm, forcing 

people to navigate unnecessary challenges and creating room for factions to develop.  

The team faced regular changes and a lack of support and communication.  The WRU 

was told of these problems (for example in an open letter and in a report) but could not 

hear what was said. 

19. The WRU tried to develop women’s and girls’ rugby, but the effort was unfocussed and 

inconsistent.  Staff were appointed to roles developing rugby but the lack of an accepted 

strategic plan or co-ordinated support from managers left them unable to overcome the 

challenges.  Some difficulties stemmed from a lack of acceptance of women’s rugby by 

Pack Page 24



  
 

- 8 - 
 
 

some senior managers.  This caused stress for people trying to carry out their roles, and 

high staff turnover.   

Breadth of the issues 

It was really important that I actually made that point, that the men in the organisation that 

I work with, sexism is definitely not the way I would have ever described anything that I’d 

experienced.  In fact quite the opposite, they were very supportive and treated me equally. 

20. Many staff felt the BBC programme did not describe the organisation they worked for, that 

discriminatory behaviour was not widespread or that they had neither witnessed nor heard 

of it.  We heard this from a number of employees, like the woman quoted above, who 

wanted to explain her experience of working positively with others at the WRU.  We attach 

a letter from a director at Cardiff Rugby1 which was very critical of the WRU’s governance 

and culture but also read “The WRU’s dedicated and hardworking staff, most of whom are 

a credit to the game and work tirelessly to champion it …”. 

21. Some also pointed out how far society has come in recognising unacceptable behaviour 

and that like every other organisation the WRU reflects those changes.  Some staff told 

us things were better now than years ago and many of the people involved had moved 

on. 

22. This leads to some important points about what our conclusions do not mean.  They do 

not mean that all – or even most – people have experienced bullying or discriminatory 

behaviour.  Neither do they mean everyone, or even most people, behaved poorly.  One 

employee told us how hard the days after the BBC broadcast were, as a male rugby 

playing WRU employee.  The staff survey we conducted reflects their surprise at what 

was said about the WRU. 

23. We recognise that complexity, but it is not the complete picture for three reasons.  First, 

not everyone has to experience a problem for it to exist.  A significant number did 

experience a toxic environment of the type we have described.  Second, discussion with 

 
1 Letter Hayley Parsons OBE to WRU, appended below 

Pack Page 25



  
 

- 9 - 
 
 

staff who did not report problems often led them to identify some issues requiring cultural 

change, more often bullying and a failure to act on it but sometimes discrimination.  Third, 

this evidence does not affect our conclusions about the governance culture which has 

resulted in the organisation too often falling into destructive approaches or failing to deal 

with poor behaviour.   

The future 

24. We have tried to look to the future.  We have not shone a spotlight on individuals and, as 

we explain below, our Terms of Reference do not ask us to make findings of fact about 

individual allegations, those in the BBC programme or any others.  This is not a report 

about individual misconduct or failings and, were it so perceived, the wider problems 

would be missed.  It is a report about the governance, management and culture at the 

WRU. 

25. Change is needed and action must be at pace.  Another contributor stated: “We’re [now] 

in a better place but unless things rapidly or urgently change then people will be done with 

it”.  The WRU is an iconic institution in Wales and has the strength to survive the current 

crisis and, over time, learn and prosper from it.  Our proposals to change the culture and 

governance of the WRU are meant to support future success, for all the teams. 

26. We asked the WRU if our recommendations are deliverable in practice (subject to votes 

from member clubs) and the WRU confirms that they are.  Similarly, we asked them to 

confirm that the factual content of the report is accurate, and they did. 

DIRECT ANSWERS TO THE TERMS OF REFERENCE 

The culture within the WRU 

27. There were serious failings of governance and transparency throughout the period 

covered by this review.  The result was an organisation unsure on its feet, allowing 

problems to develop and with a tendency to manage the problem rather than the 

underlying issue.  Having allowed problems to develop the WRU could either neglect them 

or be too robust in dealing with them. 

Pack Page 26



  
 

- 10 - 
 
 

28. The governance system compromised the WRU in seeing cultural issues in its 

organisational structure or more broadly.  The Board and executive had very limited 

diversity.  The Board was given warnings but did not hear them or did not take effective 

action in response. 

29. Throughout this period key appointments to the Board were by election on the basis of 

personal platforms.  That is not a skills based system and creates a political context to 

governance. 

30. Relations between staff were too political and the organisation too compartmentalised. 

There were no clear lines of accountability or supervision against Key Performance 

Indicators (KPIs).  Consequently, staff were vulnerable to people who used force of 

personality to persevere with their own agenda or ‘empire build’. 

31. The work environment had elements of bullying and discrimination and was experienced 

as toxic by some employees.  They found working at the WRU stressful, with a sense of 

powerlessness and even fear.  A small number of people was widely perceived as 

challenging, which tipped into bullying in some departments at some times.   

32. There were instances of discriminatory and exclusionary language.  They often went 

unchallenged.  We were told the more an employee was in an office-based role the less 

likely they were to hear such language. 

33. External contributors told us they were not surprised at the content of the BBC Wales 

programme.   

34. The women’s game was not properly supported and developed.  Significant change 

started with the November 2021 agreement to put in place contracts for some female 

players.  Change then gained traction.  We heard people referred to as a ‘strong supporter 

of women’s rugby’ making clear that others were not.  The context for these problems is 

a wider cultural attitude towards women’s contact sport.  Other unions have experienced 

problems in bringing about cultural change. 

Pack Page 27



  
 

- 11 - 
 
 

35. Finally, the WRU failed to express clear values or create an inclusive environment. 

The actions and behaviour of leadership at all levels within the WRU 

36. This requires a narrative answer which is below.  In summary, the governance and 

management systems allowed the failings set out above to develop and then failed to 

remedy them, even when identified.  The WRU did not set or demonstrate standards.  It 

has not kept pace with its employees or its purpose.  This can be seen at two levels: the 

unaddressed discriminatory language or bullying experienced by some staff and the 

friction between executives and the Board. 

The extent to which employees feel able to voice concerns or to challenge inappropriate and 

discriminatory language and behaviour. 

37. Most employees answering our survey were clear that they could bring grievances 

although some said the process was hard or they feared the consequences. 

38. Conversely in written reports and in interviews we heard that complaining was difficult, 

particularly in relation to the conduct of some in senior positions and the uncertainty of 

how the grievance would be handled.  Staff would say to each other that complaints would 

be bought off then silenced with an NDA.  Guidance from the Equality and Human Rights 

Commission2 (EHRC) endorses the view that NDAs can negatively affect the culture of 

the organisation using them.  Beyond that, even where systems are in place, an inevitable 

consequence of the toxic culture is an inherent reluctance to raise issues. 

39. Opportunities for feedback from members of the women’s national team were too limited.  

There was turmoil in their support arrangements during the period of this review with too 

little, and frequently changing, support from the WRU.  Coaches and managers came and 

went in quick succession.  Some individuals rose to the challenge, and helped to keep the 

 
2 https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/guidance-confidentiality-agreements-in-discrimination-
cases.pdf  

Pack Page 28

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/guidance-confidentiality-agreements-in-discrimination-cases.pdf
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/guidance-confidentiality-agreements-in-discrimination-cases.pdf


  
 

- 12 - 
 
 

team together, but there should have been an organised process for listening to players 

and acting on issues.  We recommend creation of such a process now. 

The effectiveness of the WRU’s whistleblowing policy and procedures. 

40. The whistleblowing policy was too basic.  It was unclear what would happen were a report 

made, other than the WRU considering it.  However, in relation to the issues for this review 

the formal and informal lines of communication with managers and use of the grievance 

policy are more salient. 

The WRU’s actions in response to individual complaints set out in the BBC Wales programme 

of 23 January 2023. 

41. As the problems initially emerged the WRU had taken steps at a superficial level 

appropriate.  It arranged mediation, it held meetings to talk issues through, commissioned 

an external review of particular grievances and set up a review of women’s rugby.  Those 

actions did not lead to solutions to the immediate problems.  They were never going to, 

given the extent of the underlying problem and the resources applied.  Following the 

review of women’s rugby some progress was made on the long-term problems, albeit 

without the wider engagement which would have driven cultural change. 

 
OPENING 

42. Rugby is Wales’s national sport.  The Welsh team has been a leading force amongst the 

Home Nations and in the wider world for well over a century.  The WRU was a founder 

union of what is now World Rugby.  The sport is closely tied into the sense of Welsh 

identity and Welsh society. 

A. The crisis 

43. For some years governance of the WRU has been at best suboptimal and at times 

dysfunctional and unable to address the serious institutional and cultural problems it 

faced.  The structures gave a preponderant – almost absolute – control to the community 

Pack Page 29



  
 

- 13 - 
 
 

game, expressed through elected representatives.  Attempts to modernise were 

controversial, partial and piecemeal. 

44. Members of the Board did not accept each other’s skills or the legitimacy of each other’s 

position.  At times it seems the executive did not operate to allow effective direction by the 

Board.  Most Board members accept that a “them and us” atmosphere arose.  This was 

demonstrated when a member of the Board asked Amanda Blanc, a fellow Board member 

and one of the UK’s most senior female corporate executives3: “What do you know about 

governance”4. 

45. The failure of the motion proposed at the October 2018 AGM to move from an elected to 

an independent and appointed Chair and the subsequent departure of the Chair and Chief 

Executive meant the WRU entered Covid in a difficult position5.  The pandemic was hard 

on all team sports and participation has not returned to where it was in most nations 

including Wales. 

46. The Board had failed to identify and implement an overall strategy.  In particular, it fell 

behind other leading nations in the development of women’s rugby at the national level.  

For example, professional contracts started to be offered in the 2010s, at first for 7s teams 

or for particular tournaments or on a part-time basis.  Writing in 2018 The Guardian 

explained the history and gave its view that: 

It will not all be about cash – it will also be about will.  Countries like Ireland, Australia 

and Wales have yet to show significant willing when it comes to matching their 

potential with the funding that would help to realise it.6 

 

47. Results deteriorated and there was a high turnover of key staff with coaches or 

managers leaving in 2016, 2017, 2020 and 2021, sometimes following a period of 

 
3 Ms Blanc was an appointed non-executive director of the WRU and served from 1 January 2020 to 18 
February 2022.  She is currently chief executive of Aviva, a FTSE 100 company. 
4 BBC 12 March 2023 
5 https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/65040223  
6 https://www.theguardian.com/sport/blog/2018/sep/18/england-pro-contracts-change-womens-rugby-union-for-
ever  

Pack Page 30

https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/64917827
https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/65040223
https://www.theguardian.com/sport/blog/2018/sep/18/england-pro-contracts-change-womens-rugby-union-for-ever
https://www.theguardian.com/sport/blog/2018/sep/18/england-pro-contracts-change-womens-rugby-union-for-ever


  
 

- 14 - 
 
 

difficult relationships.  The WRU in 2019 and from the start of 2021 was also managing 

grievances and involved in Employment Tribunal claims from staff alleging sex 

discrimination. 

 

48. The WRU in response commissioned three reviews, covering the women’s performance 

programme, equality, diversity and inclusion, and governance.  Reports were received in 

July 2021, February 2022 and June 2022 respectively.  All were highly critical.  The 

subsequent attempts at change were uncertain, unclear, and faltering. 

 
49. Many we spoke to experienced very high levels of stress and described significant parts 

of the working environment as “toxic”, in the sense we have given above or in the sense 

of dysfunctional and causing unnecessary harm without apparent purpose or benefit, as 

well as discriminatory.  Failures included governance, a lack of transparency and a 

desire to control.  Unsurprisingly, and predictably, the crisis was in the women’s national 

programme.  The attitude to the women’s game is plain from, for example, the limited 

access for women to the National Centre for Excellence until 2022, from limited 

engagement at Board level with the report into the women’s game and from the question 

to Ms Blanc.  There are other examples below. 

 
50. During this period Amanda Blanc resigned as Chair of the Professional Game Board 

and from the WRU Board.  She explained her resignation to the Board7, setting out her 

concerns about culture and governance.  The women’s performance review “verges on 

the insulting towards women” and had been redirected away from cultural issues, not 

published and little discussed.  Only 3 of 8 members of the executive had even 

contributed to the review and “one can only imagine how this would be perceived 

nationally”.  Discussion of the proper disciplinary response to a Council member who 

made derogatory comments about women involved extensive expressions of concern 

that it was unfair to deprive him of too many complimentary game tickets.  As well as 

those cultural issues she explained serious flaws in governance: lack of a skills matrix 

for the Board or of the skills needed on a properly appointed board, stalled progress 

 
7 Ms Blanc’s resignation letter and speech to the Board are appended 

Pack Page 31



  
 

- 15 - 
 
 

towards an independent Chair, absence of discussion of strategy, poor recruitment 

processes and filling senior roles by reshuffling staff rather than external recruitment. 

 
51. This must have been painful to hear.  It was delivered by someone with detailed 

knowledge of the subject, vast experience, and entirely committed to the success of the 

WRU. 

 
52. Members of the executive team were also given a warning about the women’s 

performance review by a non-executive director who explained “this sort of stuff is 

career limiting if you don’t get ahead of it … if you don’t manage the agenda, it will 

manage you”.  When told the executive team was working on the recommendations, she 

asked what it was doing about managing the culture and preparing the wider community 

for how the issue would be perceived. 

 
53. In the following year, 2022, there were external reports to the Board on equality, 

diversity and inclusion and on governance.  In this way, action was taken in response to 

the concerns above but lacked urgency.  By this point the difficulties in the women’s 

national squads had already reached, and then passed, breaking point. 

 
54. In this context of crisis the BBC TV programme was broadcast. 

 
B. Forewarnings 

 

55. The WRU had numerous warnings of the crisis which engulfed it.  By mid-2022 it should 

have seen the serious problem it had not controlled or mitigated. It included both 

particular issues in women’s rugby and general issues in the WRU.  The warnings 

included: 

• The high rate of attrition from support, management and training staff on the women’s 

programme, including loss of coaches or managers of the women’s squad in 2016, 

2017, 2020 and 2021.  Employment Tribunal claims were brought by several women in 

2021. 

• A letter in April 2021 from 121 people who had represented Wales, led by Tonia 

Antoniazzi MP raising concerns about its custodianship of the women’s game. 

Pack Page 32



  
 

- 16 - 
 
 

• The report on women’s rugby in July 2021 which set out numerous failures to support 

the women’s game and made 40 recommendations. 

• Amanda Blanc’s resignation in November 2021, particularly referring to the report into 

women’s rugby and the lack of skills on the Board to manage the issues. 

• Further reports on inclusion (February 2022) and governance (July 2022).  The 

headline of the governance report was that the Board was not fit for purpose.  The 

detail raised issues about diversity on the Board, the lack of a value narrative and 

concerns from stakeholders about equality, diversity and inclusion.  Individual directors 

reported to Value Alpha Limited 8 that they were aware of allegations of a culture of 

sexism and misogyny. 

• The lack of progress on change.  An example is the delay introducing women’s 

contracts. 

• Articles in the press reporting alleged discrimination.  A Daily Mail article in March 2022 

reported that Wales rugby was ‘rocked’ by allegations which included a report from a 

senior female employee that ‘a colleague openly joked about wanting to rape her’ and 

‘a culture of misogyny’.  The report was amplified by The Telegraph in August 2022 

under the headline “WRU faces claims of casual sexism and racism” referring to 

differential treatment of the men’s and women’s national teams. 

 

C.  The BBC Wales Investigates programme 

56. On 23 January 2023 Wyre Davies reported “allegations of bullying, sexism and sexual 

harassment that strike at the heart of Welsh Rugby”.  He explained that there was a review 

“into the women’s game which the WRU kept under wraps” and that “there were warnings 

about how some women were treated”.  The allegations included “how some inside the 

WRU had treated women”.  The programme featured Charlotte Wathan who was hired in 

2018 “to help transform the women’s game in Wales” but “quit after 4 years” because of 

how she was treated.  By early Spring 2021 she felt her mental health deteriorating and 

told the WRU she felt broken by her working experience and treatment.  She considered 

 
8 The external consultancy which conducted the governance report in July 2022. 

Pack Page 33



  
 

- 17 - 
 
 

the culture “toxic”.  In April 2021 she brought a formal grievance followed by Employment 

Tribunal proceedings. 

57. During her time at the WRU she considered there was “an attitude that it was ok to make 

derogatory comments … to make sexist/ sexual comments around women or about 

women” explained away as banter.  She said there were concerns that the women’s game 

was not taken seriously. 

58. Ms Wathan was reported as finding worrying attitudes at the National Centre of 

Excellence, giving the example of someone referring to a drill as a “c*** drill”. 

59. The BBC interviewed Marc Roberts.  He said he had warned about what he had seen and 

heard in the organisation and that there was a lack of support for women.  He had heard 

colleagues joking that someone could have experienced sexual abuse because he went 

to a private school.  The most senior manager present later repeated the phrase. 

60. In an online meeting in 2020 Ms Wathan reported that she heard a “senior manager” refer 

to a “P***”.  Marc Roberts also heard this and explained that nothing was said in response.  

He objected and said it was unacceptable.  The term was used again.  Ms Wathan 

reported that the year before someone said they wanted to rape her.  She said this was 

witnessed by a senior manager but there were no repercussions.  Tonia Antoniazzi MP, 

herself a former player who took part in the review of the women’s game, said proper 

practice would have been for the conversation to be shut down immediately.  The manager 

had said he recalled someone saying he wanted to visit Ms Wathan in her hotel room. 

61. Ms Wathan explained she did not report the comments contemporaneously.  She said 

she did not believe she would be listened to, or the comments dealt with.  She also feared 

repercussion.  Wyre Davies said the WRU called Ms Wathan’s allegations 

“unsubstantiated following a thorough independent legal investigation”. 

62. A third employee spoke anonymously.  It had been her dream to work for the WRU but 

she left in 2018 after 6 years also describing life inside the WRU as toxic.  On the pitch 

Pack Page 34



  
 

- 18 - 
 
 

women were not equals and attitudes included the women’s game being one for lesbians.  

She described constant undermining of her by a manager.  She even considered suicide.  

HR advised her to make a grievance against the manager, but she left.  She tried to bring 

Employment Tribunal proceedings but was threatened with an application for legal costs 

on the basis her claim was out of time and without basis. 

63. Ms Antoniazzi said three people came to her with their individual perspectives and 

concerns about governance and how women were being treated.  She positioned the 

problems at a level similar to the abuse allegations recently reported in gymnastics and to 

racial abuse in cricket.  An external review into women’s rugby had been set up but not 

published.  Ms Antoniazzi was concerned at the lack of transparency.  The BBC reported 

that just three of eight executives took part in the external review of women’s rugby. 

64. Finally, Wyre Davies reported on Ms Blanc’s resignation speech.  She had been asked if 

she had enough business experience for her role.  She was “beyond disappointed” with 

the review of the women’s game which bordered on the insulting.  The Board had 

discussed an allegation of bullying of a female member of staff but spent most of the time 

on how to defend the man concerned.  The WRU was “sitting on a ticking time bomb” in 

terms of diversity and inclusion. 

65. The programme ended with Ms Wathan saying she hoped she had brought about 

transformational change. 

D. Events after the BBC programme 

66. The allegations in the programme were startling and the WRU found itself at the centre of 

a media storm.  For too many the storm fell into the category of shocking but not surprising. 

67. The day after broadcast, Steve Phillips, the WRU CEO, apologised for past failings:   

“My reflections on the last 24 hours, probably just like everybody else in Wales, just a 

sense of being appalled with the contents of the programme and the allegations made. 

I have a general sense of being very sorry for how those individuals that worked for the 

WRU felt and a genuine sense of sorrow that we managed to seem to create a culture 

Pack Page 35



  
 

- 19 - 
 
 

between 2017 and 2019 where employees were not in a position or comfortable 

enough to approach the WRU and raise their concerns with us. 

Could we have done things better?  Probably and I think we can always be better but I 

think, I can't turn back the clock, but I would like to look forward and say we will take on 

board everything that's been said externally9.” 

68. That reflects a consistent theme in the response of WRU: admit serious failings. 

69. The initial response was that that WRU would solve the problem itself.  However, it was 

not remotely possible for that line to be maintained.  Members of the Senedd – including 

the First Minister - expressed serious concerns10 and the Principality Building Society, a 

key sponsor, called for “immediate and decisive” action11.  Admiral, another sponsor, said 

its own culture was important to it and that “naturally the cultures of the partners we work 

with are also important”12. 

70. The reports in the BBC programme had a much wider resonance, as shown by the 

contribution of Rhian Bowen Davies, the Welsh Government’s first national adviser for 

violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence: 

“This is another example where misogyny and sexism is systemic and is a culture that 

tries to quieten individuals who suffer any kind of violence or violence at home. 

We need to take definite steps to change this kind of culture.  This culture exists in systems 

where men have ruled for decades13” 

71. Welsh Women’s Aid issued a statement on the Welsh Rugby Union14: 

 
9 Steve Phillips: Welsh Rugby Union boss says sorry but wants to stay at helm - BBC Sport 
10 https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Welsh_Rugby_Union  
11 WRU boss Steve Phillips must go, says sexual violence adviser - BBC News 
12 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-64377064  
13 WRU boss Steve Phillips must go, says sexual violence adviser - BBC News 
14 Statement on the Welsh Rugby Union : Welsh Women's Aid (welshwomensaid.org.uk) 

Pack Page 36

https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/64387302
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Welsh_Rugby_Union
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-64377064
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-64377064
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-64377064
https://welshwomensaid.org.uk/news/welsh-womens-aid-statement-on-the-welsh-rugby-union/


  
 

- 20 - 
 
 

“While we note the Welsh Rugby Unions condemnation of the harassment that has come 

to light, it is swift reflection and dedicated reform that is needed.  This must go beyond 

statements and gestures to robust and transparent actions that will tackle the systemic 

causes of this problem.” 

72. We heard from some that the WRU’s intended response oscillated between a very 

assertive approach to the programme and the allegations in it (for example criticising the 

BBC or the people in the programme) or saying nothing.  There were two criticisms of this.  

One, it reflected a record of over-assertive and controlling responses.  The other was the 

uncertainty of how to respond.  One sponsor felt that it had done more planning on how 

to respond to a crisis at the WRU than had the WRU itself.  Tellingly, it had offered to help 

the WRU, using its work, but the WRU did not take it up.  The BBC programme was 

broadcast almost 9 months after the Daily Mail article, so these allegations were not a 

surprise. 

73. On 25th January the WRU announced an external task force15.  It said rugby and the 

WRU needed to be as welcoming and inclusive as they could be. 

74. On Thursday 26th January the BBC reported that Hayley Parsons16, a non-executive 

director at Cardiff Rugby and founder of the website GoCompare, had contacted Mr Evans 

and called for the chief executive and the Board to resign.  Ms Parson’s correspondence 

was based on her own experience and made wider points, beyond the immediate reports 

in the BBC programme, calling on the WRU to: 

“Take immediate and decisive action to address the issues raised in the programme, but 

also against a backdrop of a long-standing and deep-rooted culture of toxicity and bullying 

within the WRU. 

 
15 Welsh Rugby Union: Chair Ieuan Evans launches external taskforce review with Steve Phillips to stay - BBC 
Sport 
16 Welsh Rugby Union responds after Cardiff director Hayley Parsons calls for board and chief executive to leave 
- BBC Sport 

Pack Page 37

https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/64400977
https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/64400977
https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/64416671
https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/64416671


  
 

- 21 - 
 
 

In my role at Cardiff Rugby, I constantly witness and have to deal with the fallout of 

incompetence at the Welsh Rugby Union.” 

I believe the board, in its current state, does not possess the expertise and experience to 

run the WRU, which is essentially a £100m company. 

As a group of individuals, they are not fit for purpose, and the future of Welsh rugby 

requires people with the capability and experience to turn this urgent and dire situation 

around. 

Many people have told me first-hand about the culture of bullying and manipulation within 

the WRU.17“                     

75. By the end of the weekend - Sunday 29th January 2023 – the chief executive had 

resigned.  Nigel Walker, who had been Performance Director, in charge of the elite 

squads, took over as Interim CEO, a position he still holds although a new CEO has 

been appointed and announced.  The WRU awaits her release by her employer so she 

can take up the post (when Mr Walker will become Executive Director of Rugby). 

 

76. It was soon clear people saw governance of the WRU as key in structuring outcomes.  

For example, on 30th January 2023 Huw Jones, former Sport Wales CEO, was reported 

as saying: 

“Most sporting governing bodies in Wales have evolved, they are more balanced, have 

outside expertise and are much more professional. 

The WRU has not changed.  The board is still dominated by elected district 

representatives from the clubs who will always have the ascendancy in voting and 

that's why nothing has changed18”  

 

 
17 Welsh Rugby Union responds after Cardiff director Hayley Parsons calls for board and chief executive to leave 
- BBC Sport 
18 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-64454205  

Pack Page 38

https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/64416671
https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/64416671
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-64454205


  
 

- 22 - 
 
 

77. A few days later Ieuan Evans and Nigel Walker appeared before a committee of the 

Senedd and continued the approach of accepting and apologising.  Mr Evans said: 

“As a relatively new chair—a matter of weeks—I've been humbled and harrowed by 

what I've heard, particularly the impact on our female staff and players.  I think we all 

know that we should do more, we need to do more to make the game and our 

organisation more inclusive, but I was shocked by the personal stories highlighted by 

our former staff in the programme, and I can only apologise once more to them, and 

not only them but people elsewhere affected by the allegations in that programme as 

well, and to say that I will work night and day to ensure that all of our staff feel safe and 

valued.” 

 

78. Mr Walker said: 

“To be candid, I think, as an organisation, we have been in denial as to the extent of 

the problem.  So, there have been cases in the past that have been dealt with—in 

theory, dealt with, and people have moved on.  I think each individual case is an 

indication that there has been a wider problem, but people have not joined the dots.  

When you see it presented over a 30-minute programme in the way that it was, unless 

you're going to bury your head in the sand for another six months or 12 months, you 

have to take action, and that's the position we're in.  None of us are proud of the 

position we're in.” 

 

79. More specifically he explained that the WRU had commissioned a review into its 

management of the women’s game (prior to his involvement) and his view on reading it 

was: 

“There are 40 recommendations in the review, and it was obvious that the Welsh 

Rugby Union had failed women's rugby.” 

80. The events on which we are reporting have affected past and present staff of the WRU, 

all aspects of rugby in Wales and the social and cultural position of the WRU as well as 

having commercial implications.  Those who consider an open and inclusive culture 

optional should reflect on two incidents.  Shortly after the BBC programme a senior 

member of WRU staff met a major sponsor.  He delivered a full apology without 

Pack Page 39



  
 

- 23 - 
 
 

equivocation, recognising the damage to the sponsor whose reply was “This conversation 

can continue”.  In other words, absent a satisfactory response from the WRU, the 

relationship would have ended.  A senior manager at another corporate supporter had 

colleagues from a head office outside the UK demanding to know why they were involved 

with the WRU. 

81. The WRU is right to see this as an existential crisis. 

E. This Review  

82. The review panel is made up of Dame Anne Rafferty, a former Court of Appeal judge, 

Quentin Smith a former Chair of Sale Sharks, former independent Chair of Premiership 

Rugby and Board member for the 2015 World Cup, also a solicitor and mediator, and 

Maggie Alphonsi MBE a former international rugby player, Board member of Saracens 

RFC and RFU Council member now a presenter and corporate adviser.  Counsel to the 

panel is David Lawson, a barrister experienced in enquiries.  The review is supported by 

Sport Resolutions, a well-known sports dispute resolution organisation and was assisted 

by two members of the Sport Resolutions panel with experience taking evidence, Mike 

Nally and Steve Pearce.  The final member of the panel was appointed on 13 March 2023. 

(i) The Terms of Reference 

83. The terms of reference are to consider: 

• The culture within the WRU 

• The actions and behaviour of leadership at all levels within the WRU 

• The extent to which employees feel able to voice concerns or to challenge inappropriate 

and discriminatory language and behaviour 

• The effectiveness of the WRU’s Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures 

Pack Page 40



  
 

- 24 - 
 
 

• The WRU’s actions in response to individual complaints set out in the BBC Wales 

Investigates programme of 23 January 2023. 

84. These terms are focussed on the WRU as an organisation and as an employer.  We are 

not asked to consider Welsh rugby or Welsh rugby clubs.  Four of the five bullet points 

are expressly about the WRU and the fifth impliedly so (because it touches on WRU 

employees). 

85. Neither are we asked to adjudicate on the incidents reported in the BBC programme or 

allocate blame.  That would require a different report, focussing on the actions of 

individuals and would involve, for example, defining allegations and formal disclosure of 

documents.  It would take a long time when there is clearly an appetite for change and an 

intention to undertake it. 

(ii) Steps taken 

86. At the outset, we noted that some of our work had been addressed in the three reports to 

which we have referred: Women’s Performance Rugby Review (July 2021), Equality, 

Diversity and Inclusion Report (February 2022) and Governance Report (July 2022).  They 

were written by specialist external companies after consultation, document analysis and 

interviewing.  The WRU had accepted their conclusions. 

87. The reports identified many of the problems which were to overwhelm the WRU shortly 

after they were delivered.  Actions were taken in response, albeit insufficient and lacking 

urgency.  It was not likely the considerable issues revealed by the reports would or could 

be resolved within 18 months and they were not. 

88. We saw no need to re-prove or materially revise the reports’ conclusions.  We have quoted 

from them at length because their conclusions have been accepted by the WRU’s Board 

and we have recommended greater transparency. 

89. We conducted our review in just over 7 months, carrying out the following steps: 

Pack Page 41



  
 

- 25 - 
 
 

• Interviewing well over 50 witnesses or groups of witnesses, generally for over an hour, 

some considerably longer, some twice.  Interviewees included past and present 

players (amateur and professional), senior and junior staff and directors as well as 

people at professional and amateur clubs.  We also received written contributions. 

• We met a range of external stakeholders including sponsors and public bodies and 

people involved in representative politics. 

• We opened the door to everyone involved in all aspects of the BBC programme, 

although not everyone walked through it. 

• Obtaining documents from the WRU, including interviews it had conducted.  These 

came in blocks on different dates and not in sequence or chronological order, which 

required us to revisit topics and to build up a picture of events incrementally.  This 

added to the time it took to complete the review. 

• Obtaining written contributions via an open email address, including anonymous 

contributions.  (Overall, we received over 5,000 pages of documentary evidence plus 

numerous reports). 

• Carrying out two surveys, one of staff and one about the experiences of female 

players. 

 

90. We have not spoken to everyone involved in all the events and some people we asked 

to contribute did not.  Some people who had worked at the WRU were too vulnerable to 

engage with us or simply did not want anything further to do with the WRU. 

 

91. Three times we published notices of how to contribute.  We contacted some people 

directly and others indirectly.  We contacted people known to us, people named in 

documents and people suggested to us.  We set up a way to receive anonymous 

submissions and continued the review for 7 months.  The Terms of Reference are 

focussed on the WRU as an employer and all current staff were directly reminded 

through the questionnaire of their chance to help shape the future of Welsh rugby by 

contributing to the review.   

 
 

Pack Page 42



  
 

- 26 - 
 
 

 
F. Concerns from contributors  

92. There were two striking and unusual aspects to this review. 

 

93. The first was how many people had experienced great stress from their connection with 

the WRU.  It is natural in any investigation to hear from people with concerns.  However, 

we were surprised both by the number experiencing stress but also by the intensity and 

duration of their experience.  It is reflected in Ms Parsons’ letter, quoted above, and was 

central to the presentation in the BBC Wales programme.  People told us of being burnt 

out, having anxiety, suffering mental health issues and seeing worse behaviour at the 

WRU than they had experienced elsewhere. 

 
94. Second, an unusual number worried about the consequences were their identity 

revealed.  Some were players concerned about team selection but the concern from the 

majority was that the WRU can be unforgiving, even vindictive.  A number reported 

comments during disputes such as: “you’ll never work in rugby again” – particularly 

challenging bearing in mind the importance of the WRU in Welsh society and economy 

and the commitment of staff to the WRU. 

 
95. We used a variety of methods to help people make contributions, including 

anonymously, in writing and by using interviewers trained in taking sensitive evidence.  

We have set out conclusions in ways least likely to identify people.  This is a report 

about governance, culture and systems at the WRU. 

G. Bringing about change  

 

96. Rugby has respected and celebrated values.  It speaks for itself through those involved 

and its various organisations.  The WRU embodies the spirit and values of rugby, as 

much a custodian as a governing body.  It is expected to lead and to be an exemplar.  

This Review began because mistakes had been made and problems had occurred.  

Their origin and causes had to be established by us so that resolutions and remedies 

are supported by recommendations for conduct and management.  

Pack Page 43



  
 

- 27 - 
 
 

 

97. The WRU is at the top of the rugby pyramid in Wales, with responsibility for the 

community game and for all the national, representative squads.  It has been, and still is, 

“the place to work” for many who want to contribute to the success of rugby and support 

its role in society.  As the governing body, it oversees the community structure, member 

clubs, national teams, leagues and competitions. 

 
98. The WRU must commit to changes, improvements and, like the sport itself, meet 

challenges with honesty and determination at all levels.  There must also be changes 

bottom to top, grassroots to the Board and Council.  Principally, that means change from 

those who control and deliver rugby in Wales - the WRU’s member clubs.  The 

dedication and commitment is truly impressive and is provided, almost exclusively, on a 

volunteer basis by players and club administrators/officers.  Those elected to positions 

often attend scores of meetings every year and might find it hard to hear the need for 

further change, but improving the governance of rugby, with experienced and skilled 

managers, is essential throughout the pyramid to develop, enhance and promote its 

status and importance at all levels of Welsh society.  As a national sporting body, the 

WRU is required to take into account the interests of a wider group of stakeholders.  The 

WRU is not just a large rugby club. 

 
99. The Review heard evidence of ills similar to those within the WRU in clubs and 

committees – including poor management, committees lacking diversity and inclusivity, 

inadequate accountability, no or inadequate succession planning – which inhibited 

progress.  The Terms of Reference preclude further comment. 

 
H. The international situation  

 

100. Other Rugby Unions have faced suggestions of failing to include women and girls in the 

sport, of other discrimination and of out-of-date governance structures.  Other Rugby 

Unions have published reports on how to advance women’s rugby.  We briefly note a 

few to put the issues at WRU in context. 

 

Pack Page 44



  
 

- 28 - 
 
 

(i) New Zealand 

101. In April 2022 New Zealand rugby19 published “Black Ferns cultural & environmental 

review”.  The report identifies negative experiences including: 

• Culturally insensitive comments 

• Poor communication and inconsistent feedback 

• Allegations of favouritism and ghosting 

• Body shaming issues for some players 

• Lack of good recruitment, induction and ongoing support for both management and 

players. 

102. The review sets out underlying problems with management structures, poor recruitment, 

training and welfare and lack of effective access to complaints processes.  It 

recommended that key performance indicators should include well-being and culture as 

well as on field success and that “a speak up culture” needed to be created “where 

specific and timely feedback is valued…”.  There had to be “sufficient mental health 

support available” and safe spaces for difficult conversations. 

 

103. The review also noted that the team was female and culturally diverse, but management 

did not reflect the ethnic or gender background of the team.  Many coaches and 

managers were appointed by a “tap on the shoulder” and did not have up-to-date job 

descriptions or regular performance reviews. 

 
104. This has now been followed up by a report on governance in the New Zealand Rugby 

Union20.  This concludes that the governance of the New Zealand Rugby Union is not fit 

for purpose. 

 
(ii) Ireland 

105. In December 2022 the Irish Rugby Football Union (IRFU) reported on how to support 

women in rugby and “make Irish Rugby a welcoming and inclusive environment for 

 
19 The black ferns have won five of the seven rugby World Cup’s since women’s rugby was officially recognised 
by the New Zealand rugby football union in 1991.   
20  NZRGovernance-Review-31-August-2023_web.pdf (nzrugby.co.nz) 

Pack Page 45

https://www.nzrugby.co.nz/assets/NZRGovernance-Review-31-August-2023_web.pdf


  
 

- 29 - 
 
 

women, whether as players, coaches, referees, or volunteers”.  The report was into how 

to develop women’s rugby, rather than in response to particular allegations. 

 

106. The report explained the IRFU’s objective of a minimum 20% female delegates on the 

IRFU committee and the 40% target from Sport Ireland.  The IRFU was already 

spending €5.5m on women’s rugby and would need to increase this by €2.4m to meet 

the goals in the report. 

 
107. The report recommended a zero tolerance of discrimination and work to help clubs 

involve women and girls.  Over half of survey respondents felt female players did not 

have adequate access to coaches.   

 
108. The report recommended a zero tolerance of discrimination and work to help clubs 

involve women and girls.  Over half of survey respondents felt female players did not 

have adequate access to coaches.   

 
GOVERNANCE 
  

109. A good system of governance allows people running an organisation to make changes 

but requires them to follow procedures and to consult key stakeholders.  We heard of 

challenges to governance in the WRU.  Its structure is laid out in the Articles of 

Association of the company and many changes require a 75% majority at a 

shareholders’ meeting to amend the Articles.  The shareholders are the individual clubs.  

We describe below how this slowed changes that the majority involved in management 

and governance of the WRU thought essential - most notably, appointment of a skills-

based Board.  Further, the system of governance – based on election by individual clubs 

- makes it harder to engage a wider group and to expand representation.  Whilst 

experience is valuable, long-term tenure of key positions often compromises, even 

stifles, essential change.  A former Board member told us of a visit to a club where the 

two people running it were proud of their combined total of in excess of 50 years in 

charge.  Another perception repeated to us was that those on club and WRU 

committees valued highly the prestige and privileges attached. 

 

Pack Page 46



  
 

- 30 - 
 
 

110. The distinction between shareholders and stakeholders is well-known in governance.  

Shareholders of a national sporting body such as the WRU need to recognise the wider 

social obligations for that body to consult and involve stakeholders generally.  We 

recommend a reformed role and constitution of the Council to encourage this. 

A. The context for governance 

111. The Welsh Rugby Union is organised as a company.  It runs a large business with 

hundreds of employees and significant real estate assets.  It is also a national sporting 

body.  For these reasons we set out some principles drawn from codes on corporate 

good governance as well as governance in sport. 

 

112. The UK Corporate Governance Code was published in July 2018 by the Financial 

Reporting Council21.  It applies to companies listed on the London stock exchange.  

Although it does not apply to the WRU, it is useful as a foundation of good practice for 

governance in large organisations.  Its introduction explains that integrity, openness and 

diversity are required, and companies must build and maintain successful relationships 

with a wide range of stakeholders based on respect, trust and mutual benefit.   

 
113. This starts with Board leadership: 

 

A. A successful company is led by an effective and entrepreneurial board, whose role is 

to promote the long-term sustainable success of the company, generating value for 

shareholders and contributing to wider society. 

B. The board should establish the company’s purpose, values and strategy, and satisfy 

itself that these and its culture are aligned.  All directors must act with integrity, lead by 

example and promote the desired culture. 

… 

E. The board should ensure that workforce policies and practices are consistent with the 

company’s values and support its long-term sustainable success. The workforce should 

be able to raise any matters of concern. 

 
21 https://media.frc.org.uk/documents/UK_Corporate_Governance_Code_2018.pdf 
 

Pack Page 47

https://media.frc.org.uk/documents/UK_Corporate_Governance_Code_2018.pdf


  
 

- 31 - 
 
 

J. Appointments to the board should be subject to a formal, rigorous and transparent 

procedure, and an effective succession plan should be maintained for board and senior 

management.  Both appointments and succession plans should be based on merit and 

objective criteria and, within this context, should promote diversity of gender, social and 

ethnic backgrounds, cognitive and personal strengths. 

 

114. Specific guidance on governance in sport has been available to the WRU from Sport 

Wales; its “Governance and Leadership Framework for Wales: Building on the 

Success”22 is designed for all organisations in the sports sector in Wales, including 

national governing bodies as well as small social businesses.  It quotes other national 

sporting bodies throughout.  It recommends: 

• For diversity and inclusion 

o Actively promote and monitor equality and diversity, championing activities 

which are accessible and available to all; 

o Establish and share strong values in the organisation which include inclusivity 

and diversity; 

o Champion diversity on the board for portfolio responsibility, proactively 

advocating the importance of diversity and equality and mentoring programmes; 

o Evidence progress against equality and safeguarding standards. 

• In the list of many personal behaviours are: 

o Demonstrate the organisation’s values in what you say and how you act; 

o Don’t spend too much time on detail; 

o Don’t be defensive to people who disagree with you; 

o Show interest in the background and skills of colleagues on the board. 

• For board membership 

o The Board should represent the community it serves; 

o Have clear role descriptions and divisions of responsibility for key positions; 

o Have a standardised induction process signed by each board member on 

completion; 

 
22 https://www.sport.wales/files/0a26509a4b1cbd61460824c823653507.pdf 
 

Pack Page 48

https://www.sport.wales/files/0a26509a4b1cbd61460824c823653507.pdf


  
 

- 32 - 
 
 

o Provide all board members with ongoing training and development; 

o Have formal annual reviews of all board members; 

o Complete a skills matrix for the board; 

o Establish a clear strategy which places the participant at its heart and is clearly 

defined, understood and resourced.  

• Undertake an annual organisational review as part of continuous improvement and 

delivery; 

• Have appropriate open and transparent recruitment practices for new board members; 

• Undertake proactive succession planning; 

• Have an appropriately sized board with external knowledge and experience. This is 

usually 8–12 people with at least 25% non-executive directors23. 

 

115. The WRU system does not reflect this guidance.  Clearly it has not had a skills-based 

Board appointed by a transparent process.  A key route to the Board has been election, 

to some extent on personal platforms and after campaigning.  The Board has also not 

offered diversity and generally comprised older, white-British men.  At one time there 

were three women on the Board (Liza Burgess, Catherine Read and Amanda Blanc).  

The number fell back to one, Catherine Read.  This does not represent the Welsh 

community demographically.  Further, the Board’s composition has not, hitherto, offered 

diversity of experience or outlook. 

 

116. The recruitment, induction process, training and ongoing development have been 

underdeveloped as have reviews of performance, appraisals and skills analysis.  The 

Board has not been effective in establishing a strategy, superintending its progress and 

providing leadership to the executive.  It has not communicated values or actively 

promoted or monitored equality and diversity and it was unable to show evidence of 

progress against equality and safeguarding standards. 

 

 
23 We also noted the guidance from Sport England “A Code for Sports Governance” which sets out the 
importance of governance, diversity and “engaging effectively with stakeholders and nurturing internal 
democracy” 

Pack Page 49



  
 

- 33 - 
 
 

117. Our conclusions are uncompromisingly echoed in the Value Alpha Limited’s report on 

governance. 

 
B. Modernisation 2012 – 2018  

118. The WRU has been working to modernise its governance for many years.  In 2012 a 

governance review was chaired by Sir Robert Owen, a High Court Judge.  In October 

2014 the AGM voted for a series of changes to governance which included a term limit 

on the Board of 12 years.  The Board then had 18 members, 17 elected (14 from the 

nine districts and 3 national representatives) and the CEO.  It was decided to add two 

non-executive directors.  It became a 20-person Board with only 2 members chosen for 

professional skills, rather than their ability to represent Welsh rugby and in particular the 

community game. 

 

119. Gareth Davies was elected Chair in 2014 with a modernising agenda to make the Board 

more efficient and more diverse. 

 
120. The first non-executive directors, Aileen Richards and Tim Griffin, were brought onto the 

Board.  Ms Richards was the first woman to join.  She had a 30-year career with Mars, 

one of the largest privately owned businesses in the world, ending as executive vice 

president. Mr Griffin was the Chief Executive of Dell UK.  Gareth Davies was quoted as 

saying: 

“The appointment of Aileen as the first woman to sit on the board of the WRU 

demonstrates that we are determined to modernise and become representative of our 

supporters in our corporate governance24” 

 

121. A few years later (in 2019) Liza Burgess, an ex-national captain, joined the Board as the 

first elected woman. 

 

122. At the AGM in October 2018 the WRU members voted (by a little over 80% of the vote) 

to reduce the Board from 20 to 12.  It then comprised: 

 
24 https://www.wru.wales/2015/04/two-global-executives-join-wru-board/  

Pack Page 50

https://www.wru.wales/2015/04/two-global-executives-join-wru-board/


  
 

- 34 - 
 
 

• The Group CEO.  This person was appointed after a competitive recruitment process 

• Three appointed independent directors, including the chair of the Professional Game 

Board, appointed after a competitive recruitment process 

• The chair of the Community Game Board 

• Seven Council members, 5 district council and 2 national council members, all elected. 

 

123. Mr Davies was explicit that this was part of his modernising agenda25: 

“The governance changes will improve the WRU and provide a governance structure 

that is modern and fit for purpose. 

These changes will also enable us to better improve diversity within our governance, 

better representing the interests of everyone involved in our game.” 

 

124. This was an improvement on a 20-person Board which was most likely to have been 

more of a consultative than a management body.  Even this, relatively uncontroversial, 

change took 18 months to get through and involved road shows round Wales but still 

only received just 5% over the 75% vote required i.e. there was notable opposition. 

 

125. However, even at this point two-thirds of the positions on the Board were still held by 

people elected and therefore appointed without assessment of their skills26.  Before and 

after these changes the system for choosing the Board was by election rather than by 

appointing people for their skills.  The necessary result of appointments without regard 

to skills was a Board variously described as: 

“Incompetent and I mean that in the polite version, they did not have the competencies 

usually to be on the Board and the system would not allow change…”   

“people of integrity who didn’t always know what good looked like” 

“There was a lack of diversity of thought as well, and no diversity of skill sets, causing 

… a real concern around an appreciation of good governance and experience of what 

good governance should look like.” 

 

 
25 Welsh Rugby Union: Rob Butcher to step down as chair and leave board - BBC Sport 
26 Welsh Rugby Union plans to reduce board directors approved - BBC Sport 

Pack Page 51

https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/63472252
https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/45857188


  
 

- 35 - 
 
 

126. We were told the causes of the lack of understanding were cultural and structural.  The 

WRU was told of the dangers it was facing and a more diverse leadership group would 

have recognised and heeded those warnings. 

 

127. We have listened carefully to the points in response.  We were told the executive did not 

facilitate oversight by the Board, so members were hindered in offering the advice and 

support that they could.  Many elected Board members felt their perspective was not 

recognised as valid and, on occasion, they felt ‘pushed around’.  All directors were 

committed to rugby, and to the WRU.  The WRU is owned by the clubs.  People on club 

and WRU committees have put in years of hard work to maintain community rugby. 

 
128. From now on the role of all Board members must be accepted.  We recommend 

additional training and support and greater clarity about the role of the Board and of the 

Council.  This should make interaction easier.  Additionally, an open and inclusive 

environment should be of universal benefit, including to directors who felt excluded. 

 
129. In future, wider recruitment, appropriate training and support for all directors, and a 

reformed Council can provide the available and necessary skills for the WRU to operate 

all aspects of its business. 

 
C. Governance Report, July 2022 

 

130. In March 2022 the WRU commissioned Value Alpha to report on the Board’s 

effectiveness.  The report was commissioned under the leadership of an elected chair 

(Rob Butcher) and shows an awareness from the Board, including elected members, 

that the system was not working. 

 

131. Value Alpha concluded in stark terms: 

“The Board was failing.  Board composition was weak, behaviours inside the boardroom 

were not strong, and key areas of governance process scored poorly.  The Board was 

found to be not fit for purpose.” 

 

Pack Page 52



  
 

- 36 - 
 
 

132. Criticisms included: 

• The Board had too little diversity and did not reflect Welsh society. 

• The route to membership of the Board was a block on strengthening Board 

composition. 

• The skillset of the Board was inadequate for running the organisation. 

• The Board and executive did not communicate between meetings and there was an 

imbalance in where influence lay. 

• The Board did not lead strategy and there was no roadmap or holistic view of 

stakeholders. 

• There was no good system to measure progress and no performance dashboard. 

• There was no strategy and value narrative. 

• Culture was poor in the sense of a lack of accountability and no consideration of 

consequences. 

• Some Board members felt the executive did not give them the information they 

needed. 

• There were only 4 scheduled board meetings per year, and this resulted in ad hoc 

meetings with little structure or strategy. 

 

133. We have set these out as bullet points, but they merit careful digestion.  Members of the 

Board did not set strategy or measure performance.  They lacked the information they 

needed, lacked direction and did not meet often enough to be effective.  The structure 

hindered progress. 

 

134. Value Alpha made a startling comment on concerns from some stakeholders: 

“There was a general level of concern around issues such as EDI, the women’s game, 

girls’ rugby, match-day experience, an employment tribunal, evening Six Nations 

fixtures, ticket prices, culture, diverse memberships; there was a need to see progress, 

and the pace had been too slow; they expected the WRU to be more proactive in the 

media…” 

 

Pack Page 53



  
 

- 37 - 
 
 

135. Again, we see the WRU had clear warnings of the problems it was to face in January 

2023.  Value Alpha sent a self-evaluation questionnaire to Board members and key 

stakeholders.  Answers were on a scale of 1 to 7, seven the highest score.  For twelve 

areas in relation to ‘focussing on critical issues’ the score was a 2 and in five other areas 

a 3.  Questions included protecting the organisation’s reputation.  For ten areas on 

working as a team, three of the scores were a 2 and the other seven a 3.  A critical 

perceived failing of the Board was its relationship with the executive.  Another was 

communicating a narrative to stakeholders and setting strategy.  The Board was advised 

of a history of inaction (giving the example of the response to the women’s performance 

review) and of secrecy (giving the example of keeping the Professional Rugby Board at 

arm’s length). 

 

136. Value Alpha identified significant overrepresentation of club and community game 

interests and no formal representation of the professional game.  There was a dearth of 

representation from women, people from diverse communities, people with disabilities, 

and younger people. 

 
137. Board practice was substandard.  There was too much reliance on non-executive 

directors and in some areas a lack of respect for club members.  Board meetings were 

rushed and inconsequential.  There was no strategy for engagement, attendance or 

participation and no holistic view of stakeholders, players, spectators or diversity. 

 
138. On any basis this is excoriating.  Unsurprisingly problems of this depth had not been 

solved by the time our review started.  We still heard of concerns about emphasis on 

some Board members over others, late circulation of papers and ‘a board within a 

board’.  We heard the same concerns about skill sets, inaction and lack of strategy. 

 
139. It is relevant that stakeholders considered the WRU a strategic asset to Welsh society 

and that it “does amazing things in the community” and “doesn’t sing loudly enough 

about the good stuff they do”.  However, they also reported too slow a pace of change 

and that the WRU “has put us in a difficult situation … we stand for fairness and equality 

in society – does the WRU?”. 

Pack Page 54



  
 

- 38 - 
 
 

 
140. What we have set out clearly shows the WRU having notice of the problems which were 

to throw it into crisis.  One sentence in the report to the Board was “Transparency is both 

inevitable and unavoidable – if the governance doesn’t deliver accountability, it will 

become a tsunami”.   

 

141. The Value Alpha report led to a Governance Review Board paper in September 2022 

which noted “these reviews were endorsed unanimously by the Board on 20 June 2022 

and the recommendations … subsequently fully endorsed…”. 

 

142. That Board paper proposed an EGM in early 2023 – a plan based on the view 

expressed as “the Board was not fit for purpose and needs to modernise quickly”.  The 

paper suggested a greater role for professional aspects of the game, ending dual roles 

within the governance structure and moving to one-club-one-vote in all decision-making 

processes.  

 

D. Attempts at reform after Value Alpha  

 

143. In October 2022, at the AGM, an attempt at further governance reforms was only 

partially successful27.  It was agreed that future voting would be on the basis of one 

member/club one vote, that any member of the Council would be eligible to be chair of 

the Community Game Board and would be a director.  However, the AGM did not adopt 

proposals to allow an additional director to be appointed (and then to become Chair, 

rather than an elected Chair).  The resolution received a majority of the votes (66%) but 

not the 75% special majority required for changes to the Articles of Association. 

 

144. The WRU pushed ahead with further attempts at reform, a decision made prior to the 

BBC Wales programme.  On 1st January 2023 Ieuan Evans was quoted by the BBC: 

“[Rob Butcher tried] to bring new skill sets onto the WRU board, while maintaining links 

to the community game and allowing the board the option to appoint a chair … I intend 

 
27 https://www.wru.wales/2022/10/wru-agm-voting-results/  

Pack Page 55

https://www.wru.wales/2022/10/wru-agm-voting-results/


  
 

- 39 - 
 
 

to pick up exactly where Rob left off in these ambitions … we will also encourage our 

members to take further steps towards improving diversity throughout our governance 

structure.28 ” 
 

145. There was an EGM on 26th March 2023.  By this point the WRU was at the centre of 

national media interest.  The BBC covered not just the EGM but the build-up, in a story 

titled “Battle for Welsh rugby’s heart and soul”: 

“Rugby is a different animal to when the WRU was founded by 11 clubs 142 years ago. 

There is a clear divide between the professional game and the community game, 

though one simply cannot exist without the other. 

However, the debate is now over who runs – or should run – the game in Wales. 

… 

Nigel Walker and chair Ieuan Evans have spent the last month travelling across Wales 

to explain their proposals to clubs in a bid to drum up support. 

However, we have been here before and predecessors in their positions have quit after 

failing.29 ” 
 

146. The BBC cited the ousting of Gareth Davies and Martyn Phillips, then Chair and CEO 

respectively, following the 2018 reforms set out above and the resignation of Rob 

Butcher following the October 2022 vote.   

E. The March 2023 Reforms 

 

147. At the March 2023 EGM the further reforms were passed overwhelmingly, with 97.2% of 

those voting in favour.  Clubs were asked to focus on a single special resolution 

amending the Articles of Association so that a 12-person Board would comprise: 

• An independent Chair and appointed Chief Executive, both by competitive process. 

 
28 https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-
union/64082094#:~:text=%22I%20have%20huge%20respect%20for,left%20off%20in%20these%20ambitions.  
29 https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-
union/65040223#:~:text=Walker%20and%20chair%20Ieuan%20Evans,bid%20to%20drum%20up%20support   

Pack Page 56

https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/64082094#:%7E:text=%22I%20have%20huge%20respect%20for,left%20off%20in%20these%20ambitions
https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/64082094#:%7E:text=%22I%20have%20huge%20respect%20for,left%20off%20in%20these%20ambitions
https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/65040223#:%7E:text=Walker%20and%20chair%20Ieuan%20Evans,bid%20to%20drum%20up%20support
https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/65040223#:%7E:text=Walker%20and%20chair%20Ieuan%20Evans,bid%20to%20drum%20up%20support


  
 

- 40 - 
 
 

• Four members elected by the WRU Council (to which members are elected by the nine 

districts or nationally).  In other words, four elected members rather than the previous 

eight. 

• Four appointed independent non-executive directors, an increase from three. 

• The Chair of the Professional Rugby Board. 

• A person to advance the women’s game. 

 

148. The candidate brief for independent non-executive director issued in March 2023 

following the EGM, reads: 

… that the skillset of Board Directors should be made more diverse through increasing 

the proportion of Independents. The WRU Board will still comprise 12 individuals, but 

the new structure is designed to ensure a greater diversity of business skills, mindset, 

gender and cultural representation, and all other protected characteristics – ensuring it 

is truly representative of all of Welsh rugby. The stated ambition of the existing Board 

is that the new Board should include at least five women. 

 

149. An important amendment to the Articles of Association should inform future 

appointments.  Article 46 now reads: 

In making appointments and elections to the Board, the Board will take into 

consideration the interests of under-represented groups and the value of diversity at 

Board level, in particular taking appropriate action to promote any aspirational diversity 

targets adopted by the Board of Directors from time to time.  

F. Next steps  

 

150. We asked to attend a Board meeting and were invited to the first part of that on 21 June 

2023.  The executive staff was present but are not members of the Board and said little 

other than when asked for information or clarification.  We were told Board papers were 

not sent out long enough before the meeting to leave sufficient time for preparatory 

reading which resulted in complaints, questions and allegations of a “board within a 

board”.  The Board was not invited to go through the CEO’s report methodically.  There 

Pack Page 57



  
 

- 41 - 
 
 

were verbal reports from two independent non-executive directors and a financial paper 

was presented by one of them rather than by a professional finance member of staff.  

Even taking into account the likely unease created by having observers, little amounted 

to a structured discussion by a Board to progress its business on a collaborative basis 

with collective responsibility (although a director did call attention to some key risks and 

sought to advise and guide).  We have taken this into account in recommending reforms 

to the administration of the Board (some might have been made by now). 

 

151. The system left control of the organisation exclusively with the community game i.e. 

those in leadership roles at clubs with votes.  The Council had too much power in how 

the WRU was run.  The reforms which made it through the 26 March 2023 EGM should 

lead to a more skills-based Board.  Had that not happened it would be our first and 

loudest recommendation.   

 

152. We were struck by how difficult it could be, for the interested reader, to understand the 

effect of how the WRU’s governance and committees are arranged.  The degree of 

overlap or duplication is puzzling, for example the Council and the Community Game 

Board are largely the same body, meeting to carry out similar functions, at least as far as 

community rugby is concerned.  We underline later in this report the essential nature of 

transparency, and one interpretation of that word is the importance of clarity.  If the 

reader cannot easily follow what is in place and why, that suggests a deficiency.  

 

153. We realise that much change is in the air and much is yet to come, but we also realise 

that some changes are more potent if allowed to bed down.  Thus, we simply highlight 

that an eye might profitably be turned to simplifying the structure, for example to the 

number of committees in place or the role of the President.  Sometimes structures are 

left in place and amended when reforms are made rather than a new system being put 

in place.  The result can be over-engineered. 

 

154. The Board needs to move to the highest standards of corporate governance.  This is a 

key reason for having an independent Chair with a business or administrative 

Pack Page 58



  
 

- 42 - 
 
 

background.  The Value Alpha report points the way.  We emphasise the need to 

improve communication between departments and between the Board and the 

executive, to have a written strategy for the business, separately from sporting 

strategies, and to have KPIs for the executive and regular reviews for all Board 

members (adjusted for their role). 

 

155. The Council should be developed to bring in a wider range of experience for those 

involved in Welsh rugby.  There should be representatives for rugby for people with 

disabilities, school rugby, college and university rugby, community players and women’s 

and girls’ rugby. 

 
MANAGEMENT OF WOMEN’S AND GIRLS’ RUGBY  

 
156. There are two issues: the particular problems which led to the BBC programme and a 

longer-term problem about the WRU’s commitment to supporting women’s rugby. 

 

A. Challenging context  

 
157. Women’s rugby has been through a period of rapid transition.  We still heard about the 

effects of men’s rugby turning professional, which was almost 30 years ago.  The 

change to regional teams was still a live issue for many and that was 20 years ago.  

Women’s rugby had particular challenges, all the harder for the WRU given its difficulties 

with governance over the same period.  The underlying challenges in developing 

women’s rugby include: 

 

• A cultural attitude that contact sports in general and rugby in particular were 

“men’s sports”. 

• The failure to recognise the growth of women’s and girls’ rugby and invest in it 

early.  Other nations thus moved ahead. 

• The resultant lack of a team structure in Wales.  Women qualifying for Wales tend 

to play in England, making training, support and communication between the 

team more difficult. 

Pack Page 59



  
 

- 43 - 
 
 

• A national body which neglected women’s and girls’ rugby might have appeared 

yet more neglectful because of flawed governance, lack of strategy and poor 

accountability and reporting lines. 

 

158. That context provided fertile ground for problems to take root, making jobs to develop 

women’s and girls’ rugby more challenging.  Some felt there was an absence of real 

belief in the programme, combined with a lack of experience and expertise and that 

aspects of what was done were ‘tick boxes’ or set up to fail.  People naturally felt stress 

as they struggled to show those attitudes were wrong. 

 

B. The problems experienced in women’s national rugby  

 
159. The crisis broke out in the women’s performance programme.  The BBC Wales 

Investigates programme opened on the experiences of a manager of women’s rugby.  

Many of the reports referred to a toxic and abusive environment but they also related to 

the organisation of the women’s game by the WRU. 

 

160. Problems could be seen in three ways: grievances, the high turnover of support staff 

and results.  The pandemic added to this mix by radically reducing people’s contact with 

each other when good communication was essential were the WRU to meet the 

challenges facing women’s rugby.  It added intense financial pressures to issues for the 

WRU (through a very significant, additional, debt to fund activities whilst its income fell 

away). 

 

161. There has been a high attrition rate in management and coaching staff at the WRU.  We 

draw the following from publicly available sources30.  In September 2014 Caroline 

Spanton was appointed national manager of Welsh women’s rugby.  In 2016 Rowland 

Phillips joined as coach for the Wales women’s team.  Ms Spanton left in 2017 and Ms 

Wathan joined in 2018.  In early 2019 Geraint John who had been Head of Performance 

Rugby became Community Director swapping roles with Ryan Jones.  Women’s rugby 

 
30 Mainly the WRU and BBC websites 

Pack Page 60



  
 

- 44 - 
 
 

sat in the community sector so responsibility for it changed at that point.  In March 2020 

Rowland Phillips left.  In November 2020 Warren Abrahams was appointed head coach.  

In July 2021 he left.  In October 2021 Ioan Cunningham was appointed coach for the 

Wales women’s team. 

 

162. Recruitment and exits take considerable time and effort.  Departures may come over 

time or be sudden, often reflecting underlying tensions.  The changes represented many 

months of instability across just 10 years.  The BBC programme recorded that Ms 

Wathan had brought a grievance by April 2021.  She left the WRU as general manager 

of women’s rugby in February 2022.  By April 2022 the BBC website had reported 

“accusations of sexism and misogyny have emerged from a former WRU employee…”.  

In December 2022 the BBC reported that Ms Wathan and the WRU had reached an 

“amicable resolution”31. 

 

163. Certainly, results suggested all was not well.  Wales were 6th in the Six Nations (i.e. 

bottom of the table) on three occasions between 2018 and 2021, which led to online 

abuse, with an impact on health and well-being.  That was just after a period in which 

the men’s team had several championship-winning seasons. 

 
164. Matters came to a head in 2021 when Wales had a very difficult Six Nations.  

WalesOnline explained: 

“Wales were amateur and many balanced rugby alongside full-time jobs, their coaching 

staff came and went through what seemed like a revolving door, and the gap between 

them and the likes of England and France was just growing and growing.  That 

tournament saw Wales lose 53-0 to France, unsurprising given Les Bleuses were 

semi-professional at the time, but then Wales lost 45-0 at home to fellow amateurs 

Ireland, a side they really should have been competing against32“ 
 

 
31 https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/63958545  
32 https://www.walesonline.co.uk/sport/rugby/rugby-news/details-wrus-sealed-review-welsh-27134829 
 

Pack Page 61

https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/63958545
https://www.walesonline.co.uk/sport/rugby/rugby-news/details-wrus-sealed-review-welsh-27134829


  
 

- 45 - 
 
 

165. A public letter was sent to the WRU on 14 April 2021 by 121 leading figures in women’s 

rugby, led by Tonia Antoniazzi MP.  It read:  

“As former Welsh women’s players we are writing to you, the WRU and executive, as 

the custodians of our national sport … 

The inaction of the WRU in providing a performance pathway for women and girls 

continues to negatively affect the national team’s performance … You have failed to 

provide a route for our female players through any elite level, our top players are 

encouraged to play outside of Wales, and our only women’s team on an international 

stage is not winning …. The WRU has yet to publish a strategy for long-term 

development of female rugby players or defined pathways for the game.” 

 

C. Responses from the WRU 

 

166. The WRU took steps in response which included meetings with the CEO, a two-day 

workshop with senior staff, a mediation between some key people and commissioning a 

report on women’s rugby.  When people brought grievances the WRU asked for outside 

reports on them.  Good ideas but there was no overall strategy for dealing with the 

various issues which were connected, not straightforward to resolve and seemed 

intractable.  These were serious risks that needed assessment and co-ordinated action. 

 

167. We also heard that over some time boundaries were broken, proper recruitment 

processes for staff not always followed and factions developed. 

 
168. More specifically, the difficulties with the WRU’s responses to the problems were: 

 

1. Some aspects of the response were incomplete.  Managers and human resources staff 

should have investigated more thoroughly concerns known to be serious.  There 

should have been a proper analysis of the fractured working relationships between 

staff, with people doubting and challenging their colleagues and being doubted and 

challenged in return.  It was not always clear who was handling these difficult issues.  

The final problem emerged very quickly and was not referred to more senior managers 

fast enough. 

Pack Page 62



  
 

- 46 - 
 
 

 

2. The overall approach was piecemeal, but these problems were embedded and needed 

steady and consistent action.  A combination of poor governance, poor organisational 

culture and the history of faltering and uneven support for women’s rugby meant the 

situation was not amenable to simple solutions. 

 

3. Some of these responses were more about improving things for the future than saving 

the current situation.  For example, the women’s performance review and external 

investigations of grievances were not attempts to solve the crisis. 

 

169. The WRU has been quoted as saying that grievances referred to in newspaper articles 

were “not upheld”.  This is a partial but not conclusive answer to the complaints: 

 

1. The WRU’s view of the grievances was affected by points which made the headlines.  

Those involved in the justice system will recognise that particular, keenly contested, 

allegations can become the focus between the parties, obscuring underlying issues.  

Some headline events were rejected in the WRU’s investigations.  However, one part 

of the overarching complaint was surely a failure to support women’s rugby, something 

the WRU’s report on the women’s game had accepted. 

 

2. The investigations also accepted some instances of dismissive and difficult behaviour 

and a lack of clarity over who was responsible for managing the concerns expressed 

about that. 

 

3. Other complaints were rejected but in ways which acknowledged difficulties (even if not 

considered discriminatory).  For example, one grievance said another employee had 

resigned for similar reasons.  That was rejected, but it is accepted that this person 

found the working environment difficult. 

 

4. In several cases it was considered there was a lack of evidence, precluding firm 

conclusions. 

Pack Page 63



  
 

- 47 - 
 
 

 

5. Some findings were tortuous, for example the double negative in “I could not find this 

was without sound reason”.  This was taken to mean that there was a sound reason 

but that is not what it says. 

 

6. Several staff left at the same time because of the working environment. 

 

170. The problems could no longer be contained and addressed with usual and familiar 

approaches because of (i) the scale of the challenges facing Welsh women’s rugby, 

which includes negative attitudes towards women’s rugby and the failure to invest early, 

set out above; (ii) the lack of an accepted strategy for how to tackle those problems, 

which arose because of weak and contradictory management; and (iii) the absence of a 

collegiate management group which put sufficient value on co-operation, collective 

responsibility and shared problem solving.  In other words, the culture and governance 

of the WRU were unable to deal with the challenges. 

 

171. An important example was the delay in introducing women’s professional contracts 

which led members of the women’s national squad, and support staff, to lose faith in the 

organisation.  Simply, they were promised things which never happened.  One of the 

delays was caused by disagreements over how many contracts to issue and for which 

players, arising either from confusion or politics (and an absence of transparency) 

between senior managers.  Poor management of the situation with conflicting messages 

was a contributor to the problems. 

 
D. Women’s Performance Rugby Review, July 2021 

 

172. From about 2018 the Board and senior executives knew there was a problem in the 

women’s national squad.  At least one Board member had players and support staff 

asking directly for advice.  Another was involved in trying to support mediation.  Senior 

executives attended meetings with the support team to try to resolve the problems but 

without authoritative positions on the issues. 

 

Pack Page 64



  
 

- 48 - 
 
 

173. There was disagreement about the origin of the Women’s performance review.  Some 

felt it should focus on “rugby matters”, others that it had been intended to deal with 

structure and culture.  It was suggested that there were attempts to limit the review so as 

to ‘manage the problem’. 

 
174. The opening of the Report was clear and critical: 

“The headline finding from the review is that investment, support and development of 

the WRU women’s performance game is sorely lacking and is a strategic, operational, 

financial, commercial, political, social and reputational risk to the WRU.  Change is 

needed, investment is needed, patience is needed, and results will eventually come 

but only if the WRU acts now to take advantage of this excellent opportunity to build 

long-term success.” 

 

175. The 74-page report gave red, amber, green (RAG) ratings in twenty areas and found red 

(“Need help”) in fifteen and amber (“Working on it”) in five.  Notably, leadership, strategic 

plan and management structure were all red.  The report stated “there is little evidence 

… that the WRU is fully committed to the women’s game”. 

 

176. Descriptions of the culture from people who spoke to that review included “damaged, 

unprofessional and toxic”.  The report recorded “several individuals refer to their own or 

others mental health and well-being being adversely affected by the current situation”.  

This is echoed in our surprise at the number who experienced great stress through their 

relationship with the WRU. 

 

177. The authors commented that the response rate “may well be an indicative factor” in 

terms of the WRU’s approach to women’s rugby.  Only 45% of Board members, 27% of 

Council members and 38% of executive staff responded to the questionnaires 

circulated. 

 

178. Professional contracts had not been brought in despite being promised for at least four 

years. 

 

Pack Page 65



  
 

- 49 - 
 
 

179. There was no evidence of challenge from the Board to potential conflict between the 

general community strategy and the women’s strategy and no focus on finding 

commercial partners for the women’s national team. 

 

180. There was no progress on implementing key parts of the strategy.  There were 

“inordinately high levels of staff turnover” in the women’s programme, visible to the 

public, to investors and to partners, and a reluctance to change had prevented 

implementation of the plan.  The Board had “in recent years … failed in its responsibility” 

for the women’s performance strategy.  This had not been identified to, or by, the Board 

as a risk.   

 

181. Medical support (such as physiotherapy) was “adequate” but less than expected at 

national level.  Access to psychology support was essential.  Specialist skills training 

was required (in scrums, throwing and kicking) along with greater access to strength and 

conditioning training. 

 

182. Of great concern was the lack of access to facilities.  Squad members reported not 

being allowed to use the men’s gym or waiting until the men finished training.  An 

example of the attitude to the women’s team being reinforced lies in a member of the 

men’s performance staff describing the women’s team as “a sore on the arse” without 

challenge from a senior executive.  In fact, the review gave examples of the same 

attitudes at Board level.  For example, a presentation about preparation for the men’s 

World Cup had no equivalent for the women’s World Cup.  A former senior executive 

referred to the women’s game as an “adaptation” of rugby. 

 

183. There were some positives.  One was that recent appointments to the Board suggested 

“that scrutiny will be more thorough than previously”.  The report referred to a perception 

of a power struggle within the executive and a “breakdown of relations between 

coaching, sport science and management staff”.  This raised further questions about 

personnel management. 

 
 

Pack Page 66



  
 

- 50 - 
 
 

E. Response to the Women’s Performance Review 

 

184. The WRU states 38 of the 40 recommendations of the Women’s Performance Review 

have been completed or are in course.  The WRU’s defence to the accusation of failing 

women’s rugby would be the partial one that the low point was the Six Nations 

competition in 2021 and that the Women’s performance review in summer 2021 started 

a process of change, with the executive appointing a range of support staff and 

gradually turning around the atmosphere. 

 

185. Our discussions show substantial progress in 2022 and 2023 but also that there is 

further to go: 

• Professional contracts 

In November 2021 the WRU finally decided to offer professional contracts to the 

women’s team.  From January 2022 there were professional contracts for 24 female 

players, 12 full time and 12 part time.  From June 2023 there were 22 players on full-

time contracts, 2 development contracts and two dual contracts with Great Britain 7s.  

This has now reached 31 full-time contracts.  Under 20 and under 18 teams have been 

established. 

 

• Environment 

The WRU says the women’s national squad now has full access, with the men’s 

squad, to the National Centre of Excellence and decision-making about its use.  

 

Player development centres are being established in east, west and north Wales to 

provide coaching, physiotherapy and strength and conditioning training for players 

aged 17 to 24. 

 

• Commercial 

Vodafone was established as the first sponsor of the women’s game in Wales.  There 

was additional support from Macron for kit provision and a commercial partnership with 

Pack Page 67



  
 

- 51 - 
 
 

WUKA (a manufacturer of period proof underwear). 

 

• Staffing 

WRU says a full coaching and support staff has been recruited and is available daily to 

the senior women’s squad.  The leadership and support team has grown to include a 

head coach, a team manager, two skills coaches, two strength and conditioning 

coaches, two physiotherapists, two analysts, a nutritionist, a team doctor and a 

psychologist. 

 

• Competition 

The Celtic Challenge has been created for teams from Wales, Scotland and Ireland 

and started with one team each in the 2022/2023 season and will be increased to two 

teams per country in the 2023/2024 season. 

  

• Cohesion 

A senior playing group was established with regular meetings with the coaching team. 

The performance director regularly attends training and matches. 

 

186. Change is now at pace.  One criticism in the governance report was that the Women’s 

Performance Review had not been acted on which indicated a failure to listen and 

respond to criticism.  The WRU is now hearing the concerns of the women’s team and 

staff.   

 

F. Investment 

 

187. This has been transformed.  Women’s and girls’ rugby was previously under the 

community department of the WRU and the expenditure on women’s rugby came from 

the ring-fenced community budget.  It was very limited and not particularly directed at 

the national team or creating a player development pathway.  We heard that within the 

last 10 years clubs would have budgets of just a few hundred pounds a year to run a 

Pack Page 68



  
 

- 52 - 
 
 

women’s team.  Very little WRU funding came to community clubs for having a women’s 

team.   

 

188. The WRU says expenditure on the women’s senior team in the financial year 2024 is 

budgeted at £2.8m with an additional pathway spend of £659,000.   

 

189. The growth in expenditure should be a basis for significant improvements in support for 

female players.  However, other unions are making significant investments, so 

competitors are also moving forward.  The Scottish Rugby Union announced 28 

professional contracts in December 202233 and the Irish Rugby Football Union is 

already spending €5.5m (about £4.7m) and has committed an additional €1 million34. 

 

190. We have recommended that the WRU benchmark its expenditure against other unions 

and ensures salaries on contracts are a reasonable alternative to other employment. 

 
G. Where to play 

 

191. The WRU has gone to considerable lengths to ensure male players qualified for the 

Wales team play in Wales.  This includes funding for the regions to allow them to 

contract players eligible to play for Wales and a limit on selection for the national team 

for players who play outside Wales until they have 25 caps.  There is no similar system 

for the Wales women’s team.  Consequently, many play in clubs in England, such as 

Exeter, Saracens, Bristol and Gloucester Hartpury. 

 

192. Advantages to playing in a home country include easy access to training sessions, 

playing more regularly with teammates and support services (e.g. physiotherapy).  

However, there is no equivalent to the United Rugby Championship in which women 

could play now.  We heard suggestions for how to improve this situation, for example 

monthly games in Wales, whilst players remained otherwise attached to club or country 

 
33 https://scottishrugby.org/scottish-rugby-announces-28-professional-womens-contracts/  
34 https://www.irishrugby.ie/2022/12/08/independent-review-sets-a-positive-pathway-for-womens-rugby-in-
ireland/  

Pack Page 69

https://scottishrugby.org/scottish-rugby-announces-28-professional-womens-contracts/
https://www.irishrugby.ie/2022/12/08/independent-review-sets-a-positive-pathway-for-womens-rugby-in-ireland/
https://www.irishrugby.ie/2022/12/08/independent-review-sets-a-positive-pathway-for-womens-rugby-in-ireland/


  
 

- 53 - 
 
 

or having a team from Wales in the Allianz Premiership Women’s Rugby club 

competition, currently the English domestic league35.  Further consideration is outside 

our Terms of Reference. 

 
H. The current position & next steps  

 

193. The situation is generally better than it was.  There is more investment, better access to 

elite training facilities and a more defined development pathway is being put in place 

and resourced. 

 

194. Contracts had been discussed for at least 4 years.  Nigel Walker was appointed 

performance director from September 2021 and says he immediately noticed the 

scepticism of everyone involved in women’s rugby about whether there would ever be 

progress.  He made a point of delivering contracts as soon as he could.  People noticed 

the clarity and the alignment of action and speech.  This started to rebuild trust. 

 

195. There is still occasional difficulty about access to facilities at the National Centre of 

Excellence and women continue to hear that men should take precedence.  There 

remains some offensive language relating to race, sex and sexuality.  For these reasons 

we recommend a manager with responsibility for the culture at the National Centre of 

Excellence. 

 

196. There is a lack of publicity about women’s and girls’ rugby.  Again, this has improved 

from near invisibility but there is further to go, such as visibility in stadia and training 

centres, increased social media activity, telling players’ stories and documenting activity 

and progress. 

 

197. The creation of hubs to support the women’s pathway is incomplete. This should be 

concluded (or a similar system introduced to support emerging players). 

 
35 Obviously this would require agreement from the RFU; we simply set out for readers some thoughts of those 
involved in Welsh rugby.  We were also told that this was investigated in 2021 and there was no agreement to 
include a team from Wales. 

Pack Page 70



  
 

- 54 - 
 
 

 
198. Women’s rugby needs its own voice within the WRU.  People told us Nigel Walker 

provided this as performance director.  There was concern that pushing for changes in 

women’s rugby could be career limiting.  Trust is still cautious, although much improved 

compared to 2021.  This will be a key consideration for the new director with 

responsibility for women’s rugby.  Following the EGM in March 2023, Article 43(d) of the 

Articles of Association now provides for: 

 

one Director with the ability to support and/or further the women’s Game and/or with 

experience of playing, coaching or otherwise participating in the women’s Game, who 

shall be appointed by the Board of Directors from time to time. 

 

199. Disagreements in the women’s game became unmanageable in part due to lack of 

clarity about managerial responsibilities and strategy.  Warnings to directors did not 

translate into action, even though the directors knew of allegations of misogyny.  People 

are still unsure about the management and reporting structure.  Proper managerial 

accountability for the women’s game should be secured by the incoming new director. 

 

200. Their other role is defining a strategy for supporting and developing women’s rugby, 

sharing it with the team and staff and ensuring it is accepted by the management.  We 

heard people are still unsure what the strategy is.  A women’s rugby strategy was 

approved by the Board in December 2018 for implementation from January 2019.  

However, there was still consultation on key elements in November 2019.  Although the 

situation is much improved from the period 2019 – 2021 it is not clear what the next 5/10 

years will look like.  The strategy must deal with the route to the next cycle of contracts.  

Players must be able to plan leaving and returning to their non-rugby careers, families 

and club commitments.  At a time of inflation, the real value of salaries needs careful 

monitoring.  The initial number of contracts (12) was also an issue and even the 

increase to 24 was barely enough to maintain a team of 15 professionals.  The 31 

current contracts is about the minimum (given injuries and replacements).  The number 

of contracts also raises a duty of care issue, as the risk of injury is more significant if 

players do not have training and support equivalent to that of their competitors.   

Pack Page 71



  
 

- 55 - 
 
 

 

201. There is a long way to go in the development of women’s professional rugby, across all 

unions, but slow progress cannot be accepted.  Women’s and girls’ rugby is growing fast 

and efforts should be made to ensure progress is maintained and Wales improves its 

position relative to other unions. 

 
 
EMPLOYMENT AND EQUALITY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION 
 

202. In 2008 the WRU had about 140 staff.  Over the following 10 years this grew to about 

400.  At the start of that period the WRU had a largely functional HR role focussed on 

payroll and basic policies.  The approach became more professional.  Some pay 

analysis was done, alongside introduction of more objective recruitment procedures. 

 

203. HR has for much of the recent period been part of the legal function.  We heard this led 

to good compliance but a legal attitude to employment issues, rather than problem 

solving and support. 

 

204. In September 2021 a new People Director was employed.  She reports to the CEO.  

This is an important additional resource which should be a basis to develop the 

workplace culture. 

205. This is a third area (along with governance and women’s rugby) where the WRU has 

commissioned an external report.  Again, it was critical and implementation of its 

recommendations is incomplete. 

 

A. Context on equality, diversity & inclusion  

 

206.  The Financial Reporting Council published “Board Diversity and Effectiveness in FTSE 

350 companies” in 202136.  The executive summary explained: 

 

 
36 Written by SQW and the London Business School Leadership Institute 

Pack Page 72



  
 

- 56 - 
 
 

“What scholars have found, however, is other important benefits to demographic 

diversity, and other performance indicators.  More diverse boards appear consistently to 

have the ability to consider a greater range of solutions and provide access to broader 

social capital and resources such as increased firm reputation, greater corporate social 

responsibility, higher innovation levels, and other performance indicators.  More diverse 

boards appear consistently to have the ability to consider a greater range of solutions 

and provide access to broader social capital and resources…37“ 

 

207. McKinsey & Company reported on diversity in 2015, 2018 and 2020.  Its report “Diversity 

Wins” concluded: 

“Our latest report shows not only that the business case remains robust but also that the 

relationship between diversity on the executive team and the likelihood of financial 

outperformance has strengthened over time.38 ” 

 

208. This mix of the benefits of diversity was identified in the Review of EDI conducted by 

Plan4Sport and Inside Inclusion in February 2022 (see below).  It included fulfilling 

everyone’s potential, increasing participation on and off the pitch, attracting and 

retaining the best talent, avoiding “groupthink” and meeting legal and regulatory 

obligations. 

 

B. Context for workplace culture 

 

209. Defining culture is difficult, as is measuring or analysing it.  One useful definition of 

organisational culture is: 

“The norms and values that determine the behaviour of those who work within an 

organisation.  These norms result from complex processes of emulation and 

reinforcement, sometimes unconscious, by each employee of their colleagues’ 

behaviour…39“ 

 
37 https://www.london.edu/-/media/images/leadership-institute-refresh/frc-board-diversity-and-effectiveness-in-
ftse-350-companies.pdf  
38 https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/diversity-and-inclusion/diversity-wins-how-inclusion-matters#  
39 Culture Shock: Creating a Changemaking Culture in Local Government, Adam Lent and Jessica Studdert 
https://www.newlocal.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Culture-Shock.pdf  

Pack Page 73

https://www.london.edu/-/media/images/leadership-institute-refresh/frc-board-diversity-and-effectiveness-in-ftse-350-companies.pdf
https://www.london.edu/-/media/images/leadership-institute-refresh/frc-board-diversity-and-effectiveness-in-ftse-350-companies.pdf
https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/diversity-and-inclusion/diversity-wins-how-inclusion-matters
https://www.newlocal.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Culture-Shock.pdf


  
 

- 57 - 
 
 

 

210. The Governance Institute produced a report in 2018 Organisational Culture in Sport40 

which advises: 

• The onus is on the board to set the tone from the top and determine and monitor the 

culture and values of the organisation.  Board members should try to experience the 

culture of the organisation. 

• Culture is under-discussed at board level and thinking is focussed by crises.  There is 

a place for culture on the risk register. 

• Board composition is vital and it needs to be clear that roles are fitted to skills.  

Elections do not always produce the best candidates and can lead to cliques.  

Leadership should reflect the diversity of the community served. 

• Dominant personalities are a risk – they can drive change but they can intimidate, 

subdue and have an air of impunity.  This might arise from people with ‘reputation as a 

participant’, i.e. former players. 

• Openness and transparency are key to accountability.  There is a particular role for 

stakeholders. 

• Diversity allows the organisation to call on a wider range of lived experience and offer 

potential for growth in under-represented ‘markets’. 

• Poorly designed Key Performance Indicators have a negative effect on behaviour. 

• Accepting a duty of care to participants is part of the organisation’s responsibility to 

people. 

211. We note the link with governance and organisational behaviour.  Also, the reference to 

dominant personalities is a risk for many organisations.  We have already set out that 

staff were vulnerable to this. 

 

C. Equality, diversity & inclusion Report, February 2022 

 

212. This report, by Plan4Sport and Inside Inclusion, opens with a clear statement of the 

meaning and value of inclusion: 

 
40 https://www.cgi.org.uk/assets/files/policy/research/Organisational-culture-in-sport.pdf  

Pack Page 74

https://www.cgi.org.uk/assets/files/policy/research/Organisational-culture-in-sport.pdf


  
 

- 58 - 
 
 

“Central to this is the importance of developing long-term strategies where difference is 

not just acknowledged but valued, where everyone has equal access to opportunities, 

and where no one experiences barriers to participation because of their identity or 

perceptions about their identity.” 

 

213. The report found that “every group consulted pointed to a lack of leadership on EDI by 

the WRU and that this must be addressed urgently”.  This applies both internally and 

externally and: 

 

“Internally, poor employment practices, a lack of an EDI Strategy and Delivery Plan, 

team of experts, failure to mainstream EDI in all areas of the business and a lack of data 

are significant risks to the WRU from a legal, financial and reputational perspective.” 

 

214. The report identified four strategic priorities: 

• Lead by example with “visible, vocal and transparent leadership on EDI”. 

• Good governance: corporate processes should embed EDI and be based on data. 

• Build confidence and capacity both internally and externally and within clubs and 

regions. 

• Engage and collaborate – ensure the WRU is vocal, demonstrating a clear advocacy 

and working with clubs to build a shared sense of purpose. 

 

215. Staff had limited EDI training and policies needed to be updated and applied 

consistently. 

 

216. The report recommended an executive director for EDI and an EDI advisory group made 

up of external stakeholders.  The WRU “could consider building an EDI framework into 

existing club development accreditation programmes”. 

 
D. The WRU position In response  

 

217. In April 2022, two months after the EDI report, the BBC reported on an Employment 

Tribunal against the WRU, stating it included “accusations of sexism and misogyny”.  

Pack Page 75



  
 

- 59 - 
 
 

The WRU refused to comment on the particular allegations but said:  

 

“We are on an EDI journey … that’s been ongoing since like 2020.  We have had 

various board training sessions, consultation with staff, we have an executive board 

sponsor who is Nigel Walker41.”   

 

218. Again, the WRU accepted that progress on embedding EDI was insufficient. 

 

219. As with governance some changes were underway prior to the BBC Wales programme 

of January 2023.  An EDI manager was recruited in June 2022 (a significant step which, 

along with the post of People Director, should give the WRU the resource to follow the 

recommendations in the EDI report and in our report).  A new dedicated EDI section has 

been created on the WRU intranet.   

 
220. On 1 February 2023, shortly after the BBC Wales programme, the Chair wrote to the 

Deputy Minister for Arts and Sport in the Welsh Government setting out steps the WRU 

had taken prior to the BBC Wales programme to advance its EDI provision.  It is difficult 

for the WRU to say the allegations in the programme were a shock given the earlier 

press statement acknowledging the WRU’s EDI journey and that the press had started 

covering the issues months earlier.  The changes identified included: 

• Appointing a new People Director in September 2021.  The role is broader and more 

strategic than a traditional personnel manager.  Previously this role sat with legal 

services which would tend towards a compliance-based approach to personnel rather 

than to planning and building teams.  The People Director reports to the CEO. 

• Training for all staff and board members on EDI. 

• Creating an anonymous, external, whistleblowing line. 

• Carrying out a staff survey in September 2022. 

• Offering all staff the opportunity to participate in EDI focus groups in August 2022. 

• Creating a senior leadership group to improve cross department communication. 

 

 
41 https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/61126215  

Pack Page 76

https://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/rugby-union/61126215


  
 

- 60 - 
 
 

221. Following the BBC Wales programme, the WRU took steps to get in touch with 

employees.  One was establishing a “Have a Voice Project”, a programme in which 119 

employees took part in 20 groups of facilitated restorative conversations.  Themes which 

emerged included "Trust, A sense of purpose, Honesty, Inclusion and Support”.  It also 

started regular calls amongst the senior leadership group to help break down silos 

between departments. 

 

E. Equality and Human Rights Commission  

 

222. As the national equality regulator responsible for enforcing the Equality Act 2010, the 

EHRC’s duties (as set out in the Equality Act 2006) include reducing inequality, 

eliminating discrimination, and promoting and protecting human rights. 

 

223. The EHRC has a range of enforcement powers, also set out in the Equality Act 2006, 

which include: investigating “suspected” breaches of equality legislation (s.20 Equality 

Act 2006) or, instead, entering into “Agreements” (s.23 Equality Act 2006) where an 

organisation voluntarily agrees not to commit specific unlawful acts and enters into an 

action plan setting out how it will develop its practice to prevent future unlawful acts. 

 
224. The 2023/24 EHRC business plan includes the following work stream: 

5B - Work with sporting organisations and specific service providers to promote 

respect for others and prevent prejudice. 

 

225. We make clear that our recommendations should not be seen as standing in the way of 

the EHRC fulfilling its statutory role and any difference of view should be resolved in 

favour of the EHRC’s.  We cannot and do not purport to limit what is required to give 

effect to the law or to work with the EHRC. 

 

F. Employment policies and their operation  

 

226. Several of the WRU policies in place at the time of the BBC Wales programme were 

from 2019, including the Harassment and Bullying, the Disciplinary and the Grievance 

Pack Page 77



  
 

- 61 - 
 
 

policies.  We were told they had been reviewed in 2022 but it seems the “detailed review 

and redrafting of [some] policies” recommended in the EDI Review had not happened. 

 

227. The whistleblowing policy in place prior to the BBC Wales programme was basic.  It 

repeated the legal obligations for a system to report malpractice such as criminal 

activity, breach of legal regulations, endangering health or safety, environmental 

damage or an attempt to conceal those. 

 

228. The phraseology of the policy tended to discourage disclosures.  Disclosures had first to 

be made to the head of legal affairs or the human resources department.  Second, any 

subsequent action depended on the view taken by that person, so it was possible 

nothing would happen.  Third, whilst the whistleblowing policy stated employees are 

protected from adverse consequences, that paragraph ends suggesting an employee 

can be liable to pay compensation: “Both we, as employer, and the person taking 

detrimental action, can be liable where an individual has disclosed malpractice and is 

then penalised in some way for doing so.  If you penalise a colleague, you may have to 

pay compensation personally”.  That is confusing, without context. 

 

229. Rather than further reviewing the text of the policies we are concerned about how they 

operated.  Some staff felt there was a clear system for bringing grievances, set out in the 

staff handbook and known to everyone.  They also told us they experienced an inclusive 

environment, “respectful and supportive”.  The people who reported this work on the 

administrative side of the WRU, as opposed to performance, and generally recognised 

that the culture on the administrative side might be more supportive. 

 

230. The staff survey (below) shows most staff know about the policies and believe they 

could use them.  However, the qualitative data is that at times, in respect of some 

people or issues, the grievance system could not be operated. 

 

231. We heard of a “strong fear culture” particularly around some at a senior level or that only 

“strong” staff would be able to use complaint mechanisms.  This was also reflected in 

Pack Page 78



  
 

- 62 - 
 
 

our survey where we read that bullying was not sufficiently challenged.  The WRU did 

take some steps to investigate this type of concern.  Exit interviews were held and 

followed up.  Meetings were held with staff who were leaving, and concerns were 

sometimes escalated.  In at least one case, team members were asked about the 

approach of their manager (whom they said was tough but not providing a basis for 

further action). 

 

232. However, the references to some managers being intimidating are sufficiently common 

that we accept it did occur.  We heard an observation by a third party of someone 

“belittling people in front of other people.  And that seemed to be systemic, almost 

aggressively talking to people rather than pulling them aside and having a quiet chat”.  A 

low number of people were identified where “I can’t believe what wasn’t managed.  I 

can’t believe nobody had that difficult conversation to tell that person” to stop.  We 

asked someone if they had seen bullying: “well, I would say hostility and aggression”. 

 

233. As with the issues in women’s rugby conventional approaches (in this case exit 

interviews and follow up) did not identify and solve the problem.  We have 

recommended reverse mentoring, 360-degree appraisals and assessing inclusive 

collegiate management style in appraisals of managers as ways of responding. 

 
G. Staff survey  

 

234. We circulated a staff survey to all employees of the WRU with three aims.  One was to 

make sure as many as possible had the chance to contribute.  We included 

opportunities for written comments on most questions and reminded people how to 

submit evidence.  Second, to identify the extent to which people had suffered racist, 

sexist, misogynistic or homophobic behaviour, per our terms of reference.  Third, to 

listen to the staff about what ought to change. 

 

235. We considered inviting some of the staff who gave their name to expand on their 

comments.  On balance, we did not.  We had several times asked people to contribute, 

Pack Page 79



  
 

- 63 - 
 
 

using online invitations and in the survey itself.  We thought it better to respect people’s 

decision about how they wanted to contribute. 

 

236. Eighty-five people replied.  Of these, twenty-nine were women, six preferred not to give 

their sex and fifty were men.  There were people from a range of ethnic groups and with 

different sexualities, which we don’t specify because the numbers were small, and we 

are careful not to give information which might identify someone. 

 

237. Only eleven had not watched the BBC Wales Investigates programme.  Almost sixty out 

of the eighty-five responders who had were surprised by the contents.  Some felt the 

reality more complex than presented stating, for example, that not all those said to have 

behaved poorly were male, so it was inaccurate to portray the issues as particularly 

relating to sexist behaviour.  Similarly, some said the issues concerned disputes 

amongst individual senior staff, not the tenor of the wider workplace.  Prior to broadcast 

twelve responders considered the WRU had serious issues. 

 

238. Before asking about mistreatment relating to sex, sexuality or race and ethnicity we 

sought opinions on the WRU as an employer, looking for some general impression of its 

culture, management and personnel services overall.  Nine thought the WRU was not a 

good employer and eighteen that it was similar to other employers, with some strengths 

and some weaknesses.  The rest thought it was good.  There were general concerns 

such as pay and conditions, and the lack of appropriate performance management (i.e. 

positive feedback for those contributing and follow up for those not).  People with these 

concerns pointed out that national sports bodies paid less than private companies and 

they felt training and career progress at the WRU could be better organised.  Several 

mentioned a male dominated culture or the need for more training in EDI issues and for 

more transparency.  Staff who considered the WRU a good employer commended 

benefits, work-life balance, friendliness and an atmosphere supportive of family 

responsibilities.  They felt valued and included.  Some felt the WRU was a good 

employer but still said significant change was needed.  Their rationale was generally that 

Pack Page 80



  
 

- 64 - 
 
 

their previous employers had greater problems, i.e. the WRU was a better employer 

than others but still needed to improve. 

 

239. Six people felt how they were treated by the WRU was influenced by their sex, sexuality 

or race/ethnicity.  Generally, the treatment identified might be termed ‘casual’ or 

‘everyday sexism’, such as assuming the woman at a meeting would make the tea.  

However, the answers went beyond ‘everyday’ discrimination in several instances. 

 

240. Staff plainly thought carefully before completing the form.  For example, only two of the 

six who said they had been subject to treatment on account of their sex, sexuality or 

race/ ethnicity considered the WRU a bad employer.  The others considered the 

difficulties were – belatedly – being reduced or were driven from outside the 

organisation or were occasional/ one off. 

 

241. Ten responders had experienced comments on their sex, sexuality and racial or ethnic 

group and which made them uncomfortable.  There was not a complete crossover with 

those who experienced adverse treatment, and the total, taking both groups, was 12 out 

of 85, 14% of those who responded.  At least 5 of the reports related to issues in the 

community.  Points included being told not to go on work trips, comments dismissed as 

‘what a woman would say’ and being watched doing physical things because of being a 

woman. 

 

242. Twelve considered other staff had been treated differently on account of their sex, 

sexuality or race/ethnicity.  One was positive, receiving additional support.  Three 

referred to external issues (related bodies such as clubs) and at least two to past events. 

 

243. Nineteen had heard comments in the course of their work which made them 

uncomfortable.  Eight cited individual events or were specific: the comments were very 

rare or one-off.  Several said they were quickly closed down.  The comments covered 

the range of protected characteristics in this review as well as disability. 

 

Pack Page 81



  
 

- 65 - 
 
 

244. Staff were asked to rate on a scale of 1 to 5 how easy it was to raise concerns with the 

WRU.  Only eight chose 1 or 2 (relatively difficult) and sixty chose 4 or 5.  Complaints 

had been made by nineteen individuals, eight of whom thought the process easy.  A 

large majority of the complaints was some years ago. 

 

245. Nineteen responses said the community game was affected by sex, sexuality or race/ 

ethnicity.  All of those answers related to sex, such as the dominance of men in the 

game, the lack of facilities for women and the absence of women at a representative 

level.  Quite a number said the game had moved a long way fast but had started as 

extremely male dominated. 

 

246. Twenty-one felt club and community rugby was less open to people based on their sex, 

sexuality or race/ ethnicity.  Responses pointed out the game was run by white men, 

and some felt the culture had been sexist, homophobic and racist in the past.  Those 

who said club and community rugby was not affected by those factors often had the 

same starting point but saw progress as more advanced and rugby now much more 

inclusive.  Support for further work on inclusion was very widespread, fifty-three 

contributors asserting more could be done to improve inclusion, partly on the basis that 

more can always be done but also because the journey is continuous and important. 

 

247. Some asked why we included questions about the community game.  Our purpose was 

to understand the WRU’s role in leading the community game and how the culture of the 

WRU affects and is affected by the wider game.  Our Terms of Reference do not require 

a separate review of the community game, so we address only its relation to the WRU.  

We asked whether opportunities in the senior squads were affected by race/ethnicity, 

sex or sexuality.  Eight people said yes, referring to the relative lack of development of 

the women’s elite pathway and the historical lack of support for women’s rugby. 

 

248. Many individual submissions were useful and thoughtful.  We have not quoted from 

them because individual answers were confidential.  We have of course considered 

Pack Page 82



  
 

- 66 - 
 
 

those responses along with answers to closed questions (and we agree with those who 

pointed out that some questions aren’t easily answered directly). 

 

249. We draw these conclusions: 

1. The number of staff subjected to treatment or comments relating to protected 

characteristics, or who have seen or heard that treatment or those comments, is too 

high.  Some reports were of one-off events, and some were from some time ago, 

others more recent and more challenging. 

2. These difficulties have particularly affected women.  Five of the six who experienced 

adverse treatment and eight of the ten who experienced inappropriate comments were 

women.  27% of people who answered the survey and stated they were women had 

experienced an adverse environment at work at some point (as above some events 

were one off or some time ago).  Again, this is too high. 

3. We heard one instance of racial discrimination, which we do not explain so as to 

respect anonymity, but it was concerning, since it affected how the person could do 

their job or involved more sustained comments. 

4. A number feel bullying has not been challenged and making complaints is too difficult.  

The concerns about dominant characters are echoed in our detailed interviews. 

5. However most staff were clear that the four paragraphs above are not descriptive of 

the WRU day to day, for three reasons.  First, they said most reported misconduct was 

some time ago.  We are cautious about this because if you ask people about a wide 

period of time most events identified will probably not be recent.  However, it seems 

clear that over the last few years staff have felt there is engagement with EDI and 

culture is improving.  Second, many events were driven by people outside the WRU, 

albeit in connected areas, such as rugby clubs.  Third, events tended to be sporadic 

and not part of people’s daily working life. 

 

250. Finally, the WRU carried out its own staff survey in September 2022.  89% of 

respondents were proud to work for the WRU.  The greatest concerns were that people 

worked in silos and that recognition and reward were not fairly distributed.  There were 

notable concerns about lack of open communication and of clear strategy. 

Pack Page 83



  
 

- 67 - 
 
 

 

H. Discriminatory language & actions 

 

251. Many were concerned about the gendered nature of the organisation and use of 

discriminatory language. 

 

252. People told us of a significant difference in culture at the Stadium compared to the Vale 

(the National Centre of Excellence).  The latter was much less formal, with more bad 

language and sexual innuendo and a lot of teasing.   

 
253. Board membership comes with a range of gender-based benefits.  We heard of the 

importance attached to the WRU blazer (given to Board and Council members) and the 

confusion when the system had no ready equivalent for women on the Board.  Prior to 

many matches the Board has a social event with Board members from the opposing 

team.  We were told that men and women used to dine separately.  Surprisingly there 

was some disagreement about when this ended.  Some said they were not aware of any 

instances in at least 10 years, others said there were several instances more recently.  

Either way, the corporate culture revealed is strikingly unusual.  These are work social 

events for the Boards of companies.  If Board members socialised together, and their 

partners socialised together - and each group had always been entirely male or entirely 

female – that would have been at the least a sort of coincidental segregation.  

Organising things this way risks making inclusion more difficult, not only when a woman 

joins the Board but if a Board member were in a same sex relationship: 

“It's this culture of the prestige ... Whether that's the freebies in terms of the dinners, 

the tickets, the away games, the home games, the clothes.  It's very different, because 

it hasn't changed for decades and it's been so male dominated between the men and 

the women.” 

 

254. We heard reports of language and actions which were discriminatory or derogatory 

towards women: 

• Gossip claiming a female manager had ‘slept her way’ to her job. 

Pack Page 84



  
 

- 68 - 
 
 

• Asking a woman whom she was meeting if she came to work in clothing fitting 

traditional views of being attractive. 

• The greeting ‘hello sugar-tits’ (we are aware of its use on a popular TV programme but 

it is inappropriate for work and affects the environment). 

• Comments about the (asserted) sexual behaviour of particular female colleagues. 

• Asking a FTSE 100 executive what she knew about governance. 

• A Council member posting a message stating that women are inferior to men. 

• Sending email ‘jokes’ to staff which are misogynistic. 
• Asking women if men or women are better at sport. 

 
255. Most people felt the issues were greater in the community, for example expecting 

women to make the tea, not treating their contributions seriously, winking or staring at 

them while they did physical tasks. 

 

256. Similarly, we heard about homophobic language and actions.  For example: 

• We heard there was often chatter about the sexuality of the women’s team.  There was 

a feeling amongst women involved in rugby that they had ‘grown up with this’ – it was 

an attitude they had always been subject to. 

• Saying to a woman going to see her boyfriend ‘at least you play for the right team’. 

• Use of slurs about women in same sex relationships. 
 

257. The WRU accepts that a member of staff did use the P-word in a meeting – as reported 

on the BBC Wales programme - and that the response at the time was not appropriate.  

This was serious and a straightforwardly abusive term which has never been 

acceptable.  It needed an uncompromising zero tolerance approach, which must always 

include informing human resources42.  We had several other examples of completely 

unacceptable language but have not given them so that people are not identified. 

 

 
42 We understand that after the BBC programme an investigation was undertaken, the person was interviewed 
and disciplined. 

Pack Page 85



  
 

- 69 - 
 
 

258. A Council member posted sexist and misogynist comments online.  A disciplinary 

process was followed, leading to sanctions.  There was controversy about the sanctions 

and much debate about any loss of ticketing privileges.  Later, when his election to the 

Board became a possibility, some people felt obliged to intervene.  They were 

concerned that they were doing so as individuals, rather than the WRU dealing with the 

situation. 

 

259. One particular example of a failed interaction shows the issues in practice.  At a 

teambuilding session between the community and performance teams in April 2022, 

during normal working hours, some turned up having done no preparation and (it was at 

an external venue) drank alcohol.  One member of staff said a woman in the team had 

left because of the behaviour of some staff.  Some people put up pictures of members of 

staff with dogs and referred to their ‘bitches’.  We asked a member of the executive team 

about this.  He was incredulous and angry and confirmed that such behaviour was not 

part of working in sport or an example of being relaxed and unconventional.  It was 

unprofessional, wrong and should not have happened. 

 

260. The above examples show cultural failings in the WRU.  However, the positive is that 

some staff were content with how the WRU had responded and this number has 

increased significantly over time. 

 

261. Too often the WRU was not acting on a values-based narrative, starting at the top.  We 

recommend a fit and proper person test for candidates for the Board.  There should be 

an expectation that Board members lead by example.  Clearly further work is required to 

ensure these values are effectively communicated to all involved in the WRU. 

 

I. Steps to imbed equality, diversity & inclusion  

 

262. There is now a brief introductory training on EDI for new staff members.  Gradually the 

WRU has been rolling this out for current employees.  It should become a regular 

programme. 

Pack Page 86



  
 

- 70 - 
 
 

 

263. We have advised that EDI training is built in at director level so it can be embedded 

throughout the organisation. 

 

264. A new EDI strategy was approved by the Board in February 2023.  An EDI delivery plan 

was due to go to the Board in September 2023.  One component will be improved data 

collection.  The delay in having these policies and plans drawn up and approved shows 

the challenge WRU has experienced with the ‘EDI journey’ it referred to in response to 

the BBC report in April 2022. 

 

265. The WRU reports an increase in disciplinary and grievance proceedings in the most 

recent 12 months.  It suggests this shows a greater trust in bringing concerns to the 

organisation.  That can sound counter-intuitive to those not involved in personnel 

management, but we have heard this before and heard in this review how staff used to 

be reluctant to bring complaints or grievances.  We agree grievances can be a sign of 

open communication.  Obviously the WRU needs to consider this interpretation carefully. 

 
 
LOOKING OUTWARDS: VALUES, TRANSPARENCY AND RELATIONSHIPS  

 
266. We repeatedly heard that the WRU struggled to establish positive and open 

relationships with staff and stakeholders.  We also heard it failed to communicate its 

commitment to EDI to the rugby community. 

 

A. Statements of values 

 

267. The WRU lacks a sharp focus on vision and values and is yet fully to embrace those 

values publicly. 

 

268. WRU headed paper ends, in English and Welsh, with: “values: excellence, integrity, 

success, courage, family, humour”.  None easily extends to respect or diversity.   

 

Pack Page 87



  
 

- 71 - 
 
 

269. The Irish Rugby Football Union lists five core values as “The Spirit of Rugby: respect, 

integrity, inclusivity, fun and excellence”.  It spells out that “rugby is a sport of choice for 

all, it transcends barriers and differences of race, gender, religion and sexual 

orientation”.  The English RFU includes “respect” in five values but explains it as giving 

and learning respect in general rather than as inclusion. 

 

270. In 2009 the member unions of World Rugby identified the following values: “integrity, 

passion, solidarity, discipline and respect”.  Its website reads “These are now collectively 

known as the World Rugby values and are incorporated within the World Rugby Playing 

Charter, a guiding document aimed at preserving rugby’s unique character and ethos 

both on and off the field of play”43.  That website describes solidarity: “rugby provides a 

unifying spirit that leads to lifelong friendships, camaraderie, teamwork and loyalty which 

transcends cultural, geographic, political and religious differences”.  That is a broader 

statement than the one adopted by the Welsh Rugby Union but nonetheless sex and 

sexuality are not obviously included in any of those terms. 

 

271. It would be appropriate to include respect or inclusivity as one of the WRU’s values. 

 
B. Expressing values 

 

272. The WRU has not yet found its voice for expressing its values. 

 

273. We heard the WRU on social media had spoken out more about general bullying than 

about racist or sexist abuse.  We asked the WRU for examples of it expressing its 

commitment to inclusion and the material received did seem to reflect what we were 

told.  There is more for the WRU to do so its commitment to inclusion in rugby is clear to 

the entire community. 

 

274. The WRU told us about its work to develop grants to community rugby so inclusion will 

be one aspect of distribution.  We are very hopeful this could play a significant role in 

 
43 https://www.world.rugby/organisation/about-us/values   

Pack Page 88

https://www.world.rugby/organisation/about-us/values


  
 

- 72 - 
 
 

club rugby and needs to be monitored and audited.  We recommend one criterion is that 

clubs operate a proper disciplinary policy for discrimination and bullying off the field.  We 

recognise there must be a boundary where rugby stops but some behaviour off the field 

raises issues meriting a response from clubs. 

 
275. One club sought support from the WRU about unacceptable behaviour by one of its 

teams and some extreme social media activity which included racial and sexual 

misconduct.  The police regarded the material as vile and worked with the club, 

providing restorative support and posters and leaflets about racism.  The WRU pointed 

out to the club the importance of clear responsibility in investigations and disciplinary 

matters and declined to be involved.  Its approach was technical rather than values led: 

“In relation to your email, and the statement that our disciplinary code does not cover 

social media, this is incorrect as we have a social media code of conduct. The issue 

with the comments being on social media related to the criminal offence not being 

made out, due to it being comments made in a private What’s App group… We did 

state that we were satisfied that this was not a safeguarding matter, as it did not relate 

to actions committed against children or adults at risk.” 

 

276. Although the WRU could not be directly involved (disciplinary proceedings were in train), 

it missed the opportunity the police took to work with the reporting body on the cultural 

problem it had. 

 

C. Transparency 

 

277. We heard the women’s performance review had been shown in part – only the 

recommendations – to a few staff.  Equally, the governance report was not made public, 

perhaps a factor in why the October 2022 AGM did not approve the proposed changes.  

We have set out the results of the two reports. 

 

278. As these reports went to such small, senior, groups, their usefulness and potency were 

greatly diminished.  First, it was hard to benchmark or audit their implementation.  

Second, they could not be used to build a coalition for change, for example, by 

Pack Page 89



  
 

- 73 - 
 
 

persuading members to vote for change in governance or empowering those involved in 

women’s rugby to argue for more support. 

 

279. Non-disclosure clauses were over-used in settlement agreements.  Non-disclosure 

agreements (NDAs) are agreements that an employee will not say certain things about 

an employer or former colleagues and are sometimes entered into when employment 

ends in contentious circumstances.  Settlement agreements terminating employment will 

often contain a confidentiality clause which preserves the privacy of the settlement’s 

terms – an NDA goes further and prevents someone making negative statements about 

their former employer.  Where people have left after negative experiences, they may feel 

this prevents them talking about why the employment ended.  NDAs came in for strong 

criticism during the #Me Too movement.   

 

280. The WRU seems to use non-disclosure clauses in its settlement agreements generally – 

possibly for the simple reason that they are in the precedent agreement it uses.  Non-

disclosure clauses seemed to be used even where junior staff left with extremely limited 

compensation (in contrast, were a member of staff to resign s/he could share their 

thoughts about the WRU).  For example, an employee who left with enhanced notice 

pay of a few thousand pounds entered into an agreement not to make statements which 

were detrimental to the WRU, its employees or managers. 

 
281. ACAS guidance on NDAs recommends (amongst other things) that they44: 

• should not be used as a matter of routine  

• should not be used to cover up inappropriate behaviour or wrongdoing, particularly 

when there is a risk of repetition  

• should not try to stop someone from reporting discrimination, harassment, or sexual 

harassment  

• must not try to stop someone from whistleblowing  

• must not try to avoid a legal requirement to make a referral to a regulatory body, 

government agency or to the police  

 
44 https://www.acas.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-03/non-disclosure-agreements.pdf  

Pack Page 90

https://www.acas.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-03/non-disclosure-agreements.pdf


  
 

- 74 - 
 
 

• should not be used before alternative options have been explored. 

 

282. Likewise, EHRC guidance on NDAs recommends use only on a case-by-case basis and 

generally only where victims of discrimination want confidentiality or a falsely accused 

person needs protection.  The Commission points out that one disadvantage of NDAs is 

“the impact that confidentiality agreements may have on the culture of the 

organisation”45. 

 

283. The experience of the WRU shows the wisdom of the guidance from the EHRC that 

NDAs can affect the culture of an organisation relying on them.  Several people’s 

attitude to complaints was ‘they’ll buy it off and bury it with an NDA’.  In this way an NDA 

undermines a culture of openness in which managers act collegiately and staff are 

encouraged to communicate their thoughts. 

 

284. We are unaware of the WRU taking any action, prescriptively or reactively, in connection 

with actual, perceived or alleged breaches of NDAs, despite all that has been reported 

and repeated in the media, including the BBC programme.  This is common for bodies in 

the public eye and leads many to question the purpose of an NDA absent special 

circumstances.  The WRU waived non-disclosure agreements, on a mutual basis, for 

any ex-members of staff who might choose to contribute to this review. 

 
D. Stakeholder relationships 

 

285. Many people recounted tensions in key relationships between the WRU and external 

stakeholders particularly with the four leading professional regional teams.  There was a 

sense of too much competition for the same pool of commercial and fan support and a 

lack of trust in how that would be divided.  Covid was seen as having left clubs in an 

impossible financial position. They had to do anything the WRU told them to and 

decisions about how to manage that challenge were not made collaboratively. 

 

 
45 https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/guidance-confidentiality-agreements-in-discrimination-
cases.pdf  

Pack Page 91

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/guidance-confidentiality-agreements-in-discrimination-cases.pdf
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/guidance-confidentiality-agreements-in-discrimination-cases.pdf


  
 

- 75 - 
 
 

286. The WRU must bear three running costs: its own operation, the ring-fenced community 

expenditure and the representative teams.  The rest of its income is distributed to the 

regions.  During Covid this fell from £25.4m to £3m (financial year 2021).  The WRU 

received no government grants in relation to this and had to borrow money, eventually 

refinanced with the Welsh government.  As a result, the game in Wales is in significantly 

greater debt and the regions struggling, month to month. 

 

287. We asked the new chair, Richard Collier-Keywood, his reflections on his appointment.  

One was that key relationships, including with the regional clubs, were strained.  This is 

what we heard and his early perception of the need to build bridges bodes well. 

 

288. The WRU has many stakeholders but only the member clubs have a formal voice.  We 

recommend that a wider group of stakeholders is involved in the WRU’s structures. 

 

E. Closed culture 

 

289. One difficulty might arise from the high status of the WRU as an employer.  There was a 

pride in working for the WRU but also, at times, an attitude that “we are who we are and 

if you don’t like it, you can sod off”. 

 

290. Staff involved in the BBC Wales programme told us they are used to organisations 

responding to allegations and seeking to engage.  They were surprised the WRU at first 

declined to give an interview in response and then challenged the BBC’s sources, 

including sending a Freedom of Information request.   

 

291. We heard of a lack of trust and a dislike of being challenged.  Thus, people operated in 

silos and dealt with their own environment as best they could but left others to their own 

devices.  The organisation could be defensive.  We heard of competition between the 

stadium, performance development and the community, rather than of cooperative 

working.  There was scant help for those dealing with identifiable strong characters 

Pack Page 92



  
 

- 76 - 
 
 

whom others found difficult to challenge.  We heard work teams had no common 

procedures, goals, or policies. 

 

292. One senior stakeholder described relationships with the WRU as “master-servant”. 

 
 
POSITIVE VOICES 
 

293. The importance of the WRU as the governing body responsible for rugby in Wales was 

acknowledged by everyone, recognising rugby as central to the identity of Wales.  The 

men’s team had great success during several periods, including that of the senior men’s 

national team under Warren Gatland in the past and in the Rugby World Cup 2023.  

People said the WRU deserved credit for this (but also that the WRU used it to deflect 

criticism).  Wales has the smallest population of the leading rugby nations, and its 

performances reflect a men’s club rugby environment with continuing strengths, 

successful player development and effective use of resources.  Wales won the Six 

Nations championship in 2005, 2008, 2012, 2013, 2019 and 2021. 

 

294. Many told us of the excellent work the WRU does in the community.  One example was 

the Fit and Fed programme in which the WRU and clubs from each of the 9 districts 

provide children with a good breakfast and lunch either side of exercise and games.  

Another is the WRU’s role in the creation of a Nightingale Hospital at the Principality 

Stadium during the pandemic.  We heard several times from outside the WRU that it 

does not receive sufficient credit for its community work. 

 
295. The WRU has also achieved considerable commercial success.  It now has an income 

of around £100 million, which has taken hard work and care.  To achieve this it 

negotiates sponsorships, manages hospitality, negotiates television rights, hires out its 

facilities and, of course, arranges ticketing.  When Steve Phillips was appointed chief 

executive the WRU announcement read: 

“In the 13 years since he first joined the Union he has filed a succession of Annual 

Reports charting a significant rise in the turnover of the WRU, which reached £90.5m 

in the accounts for the year ending 2019 and overseen the reduction of the company’s 

Pack Page 93



  
 

- 77 - 
 
 

debt from in excess of £50m when he took over to an all-time low of £6.2m.  These 

accounts also showed the WRU re-invested a record £49.6m (2018: £42.8m) across 

the game in Wales.” 

 

296. The WRU received a Gold Award from Disability Sport Wales in April 202246 for its work 

on inclusion and disability specific provision throughout Wales47.  It was the first national 

governing body to achieve that award.  On its website Disability Sport Wales writes 

positively about its experience working with the WRU and explains how the WRU has 

widened access to rugby: 

In successfully achieving the insport NGB Gold award, the Welsh Rugby Union have 

positively identified the commitment of the organisation to inclusion and as a result 

have raised the expectation within communities of disabled people interested in rugby 

and looking to play, coach, and volunteer across all forms of the game in Wales. 

 

297. On 13 July 2023 both men’s and women’s Welsh deaf rugby teams won their World 

Cups.   

 

298. The commitment to rugby and to the WRU shone through from everyone to whom we 

spoke.  People whose exit interviews explained the problems they had experienced 

generally expressed their commitment to the WRU and occasionally a preparedness to 

return. 

 

299. Messrs Evans and Walker would have been under great pressure before the Senedd on 

2 February 2023.  Their decision to face up to the results of the reports summarised 

above, and unreservedly to accept that the WRU had not tackled issues as early or as 

fully as it could have done, was almost certainly the start of a more positive future. 

 
 

 
46 https://www.wru.wales/2022/04/wru-first-to-receive-gold-inclusion-
award/#:~:text=The%20Welsh%20Rugby%20Union%20has,specific%20provision%20throughout%20the%20co
untry.  
47 https://www.wru.wales/2022/04/wru-first-to-receive-gold-inclusion-
award/#:~:text=The%20Welsh%20Rugby%20Union%20has,specific%20provision%20throughout%20the%20co
untry.  

Pack Page 94

https://www.wru.wales/2022/04/wru-first-to-receive-gold-inclusion-award/#:%7E:text=The%20Welsh%20Rugby%20Union%20has,specific%20provision%20throughout%20the%20country
https://www.wru.wales/2022/04/wru-first-to-receive-gold-inclusion-award/#:%7E:text=The%20Welsh%20Rugby%20Union%20has,specific%20provision%20throughout%20the%20country
https://www.wru.wales/2022/04/wru-first-to-receive-gold-inclusion-award/#:%7E:text=The%20Welsh%20Rugby%20Union%20has,specific%20provision%20throughout%20the%20country
https://www.wru.wales/2022/04/wru-first-to-receive-gold-inclusion-award/#:%7E:text=The%20Welsh%20Rugby%20Union%20has,specific%20provision%20throughout%20the%20country
https://www.wru.wales/2022/04/wru-first-to-receive-gold-inclusion-award/#:%7E:text=The%20Welsh%20Rugby%20Union%20has,specific%20provision%20throughout%20the%20country
https://www.wru.wales/2022/04/wru-first-to-receive-gold-inclusion-award/#:%7E:text=The%20Welsh%20Rugby%20Union%20has,specific%20provision%20throughout%20the%20country


  
 

- 78 - 
 
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. Appoint an oversight body: 

a. The WRU should appoint an external oversight group of no fewer than 3 people.  

At least one should be nominated by an outside body and at least one 

experienced in people management or organisational culture. 

 

b. For the next 3 years the WRU should report quarterly to this group, setting out 

its goals, actions taken to meet them and how success is measured.  We hope 

that substantial progress will be made in the first year but recommend that the 

body stays in place for 3 years so it can oversee the constitutional review and 

changes. 

 

c. The group’s remit should be to consider steps by the WRU to implement the 

recommendations in this report and to create an inclusive environment for staff 

and for all those involved in rugby in Wales. 

 

2. Continue reform of the Board: 

a. The WRU is a national sporting organisation which is also a large corporate 

body.  Its Board must be an efficient body with clear responsibilities for the 

governance of all aspects of the WRU and should not be seen as just 

representing the community clubs.  The executive should report to the Board on 

all aspects of the WRU’s work. 

 

b. The size of the Board should be further reduced to 10 by lowering the number of 

Council representatives, elected or appointed, to 2 from currently 4.  The 

changes made at the March 2023 EGM should be given time to take effect 

before further reform of the Board, so this change need not be immediate but be 

developed during the 3 years in which the oversight body operates.   

 

Pack Page 95



  
 

- 79 - 
 
 

c. We recommend that within two years the WRU commissions an external report 

on governance. That report should consider how the March 2023 reforms are 

operating and how committees can be streamlined to avoid duplication (along 

with other relevant matters). 

 

d. Implement a “fit and proper person” test for Council/Board members and 

candidates for the Council/Board. 

 

1. Board members, elected or appointed, should be able to show that their 

membership of the Board would not undermine the reputation of the WRU or 

make it harder for the WRU to promote rugby in Wales. 

 

2. The test should consider honesty, integrity, public statements, 

experience, any breaches of club or WRU standards, and commitment to 

inclusion of all in the sport of rugby (for example, a commitment to the standards 

set out by World Rugby). 

 

e. There should always be a current strategic plan for key areas of the sport, 

shared with relevant managers and (subject to competitor knowledge) 

published.  This should include professional rugby, community rugby, men’s 

rugby, women’s and girls’ rugby, rugby for those with disabilities, and broadening 

inclusion.  All plans must be approved by the Board.  Staff need to understand 

what they are asked to deliver. 

 

f. Set up a structured system for reporting to the Board which includes: 

a. Written reports to the Board from the executive at least quarterly and 

always in good time prior to each Board meeting. 

b. Papers to the Board should identify relevant options and include clear 

decision-making principles or criteria. 

c. Each report should include KPIs for individual members of the executive 

and departments of the WRU which should be monitored and appraised. 

Pack Page 96



  
 

- 80 - 
 
 

 

g. The administration of the Board should be streamlined: 

a. A dedicated support service should be provided to help the Chair, chairs 

of committees and Board members with their roles. 

b. Each Board member should participate in a skills review, have a skills 

matrix drawn up on appointment and be encouraged to undertake 

appropriate development according to needs identified on their skills 

matrix. 

c. Everyone appointed to the Board should be offered induction training on 

(i) their duties as a director; (ii) good practice in governance; (iii) equality, 

diversity and inclusion; (iv) representing the WRU; and (v) the current 

state of Welsh rugby and the WRU’s strategic plans. 

d. The role of executive staff attending the Board should be clarified.  

e. Clarify the fiduciary role of Board members to oversee all the activities of 

the company, uphold its values and respect one another’s skills and 

experience. 

 

3. Council: 

a. The Council is the key representative body, the forum through which member 

clubs engage in the WRU.  It currently comprises 14 Members elected from the 

nine Districts and 5 nationally elected Members.  

b. Article 47 of the Articles of Association reads: “The Council shall formulate the 

strategy for the community game in Wales, such strategy to be submitted to and 

agreed with the Board of Directors and the Council shall thereafter oversee the 

execution of that strategy.  The responsibilities of the Council from time to time 

shall be set by the Board of Directors following consultation with the Council.” 

c. The Council currently elects 8 of its Members to the Board.  Following the March 

EGM, it may only elect 4 of its Members to the Board and may have up to 6 

Members appointed by the Board.  It will then have a maximum 25 Members.  

d. The Board has a sub-committee, the Community Game Board, which also 

comprises the 14 Members elected from the nine Districts and the 5 nationally 

Pack Page 97



  
 

- 81 - 
 
 

elected Members, plus a maximum 2 Executive Board members. “It is 

responsible for managing and delivering the execution of the strategy for 

community rugby as set by the WRU Council and approved by the WRU’s 

Board from time to time.” (WRU website) 

e. In view of the duplication of Members between Council and Community Game 

Board, the shared responsibility for establishing the strategy for community 

rugby, seeking Board approval and then delivering the approved strategy, the 

constitutional structure should be streamlined and simplified in a single entity.  It 

could perhaps be described as the Community Council.  It should be expanded 

to include a wider group of stakeholders.  

f. To fulfil this role the Community Council should be drawn from a broader base of 

those involved in rugby in Wales:  

a. Membership of the Community Council should be a maximum 1648: 9 

elected from districts, 1 elected nationally and 6 representing other 

rugby community interests, as set out below. 

b. The six new places on the Community Council should be for people 

representing (1) schools rugby; (2) rugby in colleges and universities; 

(3) community rugby players49; (4) women’s and girls’ rugby (5) rugby 

for players with a disability and (6) officials.  Where possible these 

should be elected but it might be difficult to identify an electorate and 

arrange elections at a reasonable cost in all these areas.  If so, the 

WRU should run a competitive appointment process according to a 

person specification it should draw up. 

c. Members of the Community Council should be limited to 3 consecutive 

terms of 3 years (with the possibility of re-election after one fallow 

period). 

 
48 Currently we understand the Council has 19 members: 5 National Council members and 14 District Council 
members – 2 each from Districts A – E and 1 each from F, G, H and J.  Following the EGM in March 2023 the 
Board may appoint up to 6 Council members. 
49 The WRU will need to consult and draw up a definition.  We recommend a broad definition.  One option is 
election by captains of teams that play in leagues in Wales other than the regional sides in the United Rugby 
Championship.  However, the exact approach we leave to the WRU. 

Pack Page 98



  
 

- 82 - 
 
 

d. The individual elected nationally should chair the Community Council 

and have a seat on the Board.  The other Board member should be 

elected by the Community Council.  

g. We recommend above that the Board should approve and maintain the strategy 

for all areas of the game, including the community game.  The Community 

Council should be a representative, not a management, body and should not 

direct management or set strategies or budgets. 

h. Membership of the Community Council should involve at least induction training 

on representing the WRU, its inclusion and diversity policies, its current strategic 

plans and their implementation.  

i. Clubs should not see these changes as a diminution of their role.  They will 

continue to elect or appoint Board members, attend and vote at the Annual 

General Meeting and have a representative forum in the Community Council. 

 

The recommended transformation of Council and of the Community Game Board would be 

fundamental to governance, requiring amendment to the Articles.  It should thus be 

considered within the external report on governance, recommended in paragraph 2(c) above, 

and would probably accelerate that report’s commissioning within the next two years. 

 

4. Take steps to become more transparent: 

a. Draw up a transparency policy setting out when the WRU will give information to 

the public, the rugby community and employees based on the principle of 

sharing as much as possible.  The primary reasons for withholding information 

should be (i) competitor knowledge; and (ii) legal obligations. 

 

b. Publish the privileges associated with membership of the Board and Council, 

and for senior staff (distinct from, for example, attending matches as a host in a 

working role). The grounds for reduction or removal should also be set out.  

 

Pack Page 99



  
 

- 83 - 
 
 

c. When terminating employment, the WRU should only use non-disclosure 

agreements (NDAs) for an express purpose, not as a matter of course.  This 

does not preclude the use of confidentiality clauses about the terms of a 

settlement agreement. 

 

d. When reports are commissioned about general matters (rather than specific 

employees) they should be published unless there is a particular and agreed 

reason not to do so.  If publication is not appropriate, the authors should be 

asked to write a brief summary of the issues, and their conclusions, for 

publication The WRU would have been in a better place at the start of 2023 had 

it been known that it had commissioned reports into women’s national rugby, 

governance, and equality, diversity and inclusion which recommended 

significant change. 

Debate about the organisation and funding of Welsh rugby should be actively 

encouraged and the WRU should seek to share information to engage people’s 

productive participation in a structured, not speculative, way.  Underlying this is 

greater acceptance of constructive criticism with a view to improvement.  A 

number of people commented on the WRU seeking to control the rugby 

environment too much. 

 

5. Align the WRU clearly and publicly with inclusion and diversity, demonstrating visible 

and vocal leadership on equality, diversity and inclusion.  The WRU’s commitment to 

inclusion and its opposition to abusive behaviour, exclusion and discrimination need to 

be unambiguous: 

a. Amend the WRU’s statement of values to include one related to diversity and 

inclusion. 

b. Give greater publicity to women’s rugby and rugby for people with disabilities. 

c. Respond robustly to discrimination and hate crime in stadia and online. 

d. Express clearly and publicly the WRU’s commitment to the inclusion of all 

members of Welsh society both in rugby and in its own staff group. 

Pack Page 100



  
 

- 84 - 
 
 

e. Have a clear equality, diversity and inclusion strategy underpinned by a delivery 

plan. 

f. Work collaboratively with the EHRC, should the EHRC take any steps in relation 

to WRU. 

 

6. Reform financial support to clubs with a view to achieving key goals reflecting the 

WRU’s strategy for the community game.  These should include all facilities for women 

and girls (including training and club house facilities), steps to broaden access to rugby 

for all communities, proper disciplinary policies and procedures in clubs for responding 

to unacceptable behaviour (including discriminatory behaviour) off the pitch. 

 

7. Invest in the women’s and girls’ game: 

a. Analyse the expenditure on the women’s and girls’ game in light of  

(i) income and expenditure of other unions;  

(ii) growing sponsorship, broadcast revenue and attendances at women’s 

matches; and 

(iii) the need to invest to develop the game 

so that funding for women and girls is benchmarked and expressly managed 

based on data.  Spending should be in line with other unions and with spending 

on men and boys and appropriate to a growth and investment phase.   

 

This analysis will require decisions about allocating income50 and expenditure 

and is not intended to be an exact exercise but to inform decisions.  The 

analysis should include support for the community game as well as player 

development and national squads. 

 

 
50 For example how does one allocate general sponsorship?  The sponsor will want the exposure from large TV 
audiences currently obtained by the men’s first team.  That will affect how much they pay.  However sponsors 
will pay nothing to an organisation the public sees as excluding groups in society. 

Pack Page 101



  
 

- 85 - 
 
 

b. Keep the salary for professional female players at a level competitive to other 

careers and other nations and ensure the number of contracts is sufficient to 

support full national teams. 

 

c. Embed a player pathway for women and girls by completing development of the 

hubs offering support to players in Wales and by continuing outreach support to 

players at clubs in other nations.  The specific approach might change but the 

WRU should continue to provide professional staff to support the pathway in 

women’s rugby. 

 

d. Ensure the women’s team has (as a minimum) current levels of support staff 

and access to sufficient gym time with required equipment.  If sharing resources 

with men, the division of time should be made clear. 

 

e. Develop a maternity strategy for professional, or soon to be professional, 

players.  This might involve additional funding to cover maternity and advice on 

return to work. 

 

8. Continue to improve employment practices: 

a. Regularly measure staff and player experience, separately considering players, 

coaching/ managing staff and administrative staff.  A range of approaches 

should be used to include individual interviews and anonymous online surveys. 

 

b. Expand appraisals for senior staff to include 360-degree feedback - a structured 

approach to listening to those at and below their level of management - from 

people not chosen by the manager.  Managers should be helped to a sense of 

how they are perceived by others. 

 

c. Offer mentoring and reverse mentoring.  Each will best be used for limited 

groups and defined periods given the time commitment of proper mentoring. 

 

Pack Page 102



  
 

- 86 - 
 
 

d. Include as KPIs for senior staff to be assessed in performance reviews (1) co-

operation with managers at an equivalent level; (2) breaking down departmental 

barriers/ ‘silos’; (3) adopting a collegiate management style towards junior 

colleagues. 

 

e. Annual training in equality, diversity and inclusion should take place for all staff.  

This should be as broad as possible so it is delivered in different ways and 

different places.  There are more engaging approaches than an annual zoom 

lecture.  

 

f. Adopt a Speak Up approach, with systems to encourage communication and 

appoint a member of the executive to implement this and a Board member to 

oversee communication within the organisation. 

 

g. Designate someone responsible for managing the culture at the National Centre 

of Excellence.  The success criteria should be to make the NCE more inclusive 

and facilitate frictionless sharing of facilities. 

 

h. Implement a zero-tolerance approach to language which excludes others from 

work or sport.  By zero tolerance we do not mean that people must always be 

dismissed for exclusionary language but that it must always be reported, 

recorded and dealt with according to an express policy.  If ‘banter’ is defined as 

making a comment which breaks social taboos, and waiting for nervous 

laughter, staff should be told it is not appropriate for the workplace. 

 

i. Ensure each team manager has as part of their role an objective of listening to 

concerns and helping communication.  The approach is likely to include 360-

degree appraisal and communicating to WRU necessary changes to manage 

stress, relationships, group and personal concerns. 

 

Pack Page 103



  
 

- 87 - 
 
 

j. Arrange for someone independent of the WRU to sit in on final interviews for 

Board members, the Chair and Chief Executive and any members of the 

Community Council who are appointed (see above), reporting in writing to the 

Board on whether the appointment followed good practice and the stated 

process.  This should not be an audit or lead to a detailed report but a simple 

conclusion.  

 

9. Continue to work with disability sports bodies, according to a published strategy. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 104



  
 

- 88 - 
 
 

APPENDICES 
 

APPENDIX 1 – BACKGROUND ON RUGBY UNION IN WALES  

The Welsh nation is understandably proud of and devoted to its national sport.  Wales 

understands and embraces the sport; it is effectively, a feature of its DNA.  Wales has the 

smallest population of the leading rugby nations but over many years it has soared in 

achievement.  We are confident it will meet today’s challenges and soar again.  

a. MEN’S RUGBY IN WALES 
By the start of the twentieth century Wales was the dominant force in rugby.  It has enjoyed 

periods of exceptional achievement, for example prior to the First World War and in the 1970s 

with three Grand Slams in that decade alone. 

Four events in recent decades are vital context to understanding rugby in Wales. 

First, in 1995 the old International Rugby Football Board (now World Rugby) made men’s 

rugby into a professional game.  A change of this significance has primary and secondary 

effects which take decades to work through a system.  It has been accompanied by more 

money entering rugby – albeit not on the scale of football and, unlike football, mainly for 

national teams. 

Second, at the start of the 2003/4 season the structure of men’s club competition in Wales 

changed when regional teams were formed.  There were initially five regional teams but the 

Celtic Warriors closed after one season, leaving four professional teams playing in the top 

band (Cardiff, Scarlets, Ospreys and Dragons) which now play in the United Rugby 

Championship with teams from Ireland, Italy, Scotland and South Africa.  Ospreys and 

Scarlets have won that competition 6 times between them but neither has done so since 

2017.  

Below those four leading professional teams are more than 200 clubs affiliated to the WRU 

which play in the Welsh Premier Division and the Welsh Divisional leagues.  However, some 

people told us clubs were now less connected to their communities than previously and 

questioned whether the South Wales valleys any longer had a representative team. 

Pack Page 105



  
 

- 89 - 
 
 

Third, Wales has had another period of great international success for the men’s team, 

winning Grand Slams in 2005, 2008, 2012 and 2019 making Wales the joint most successful 

team across the Home Nations, 5 Nations and 6 Nations tournaments51.  Some believe the 

WRU defends challenges to its behaviour by pointing out the success of the Welsh men’s 

national rugby team. 

Fourth, the funding to the regions from the WRU and the payments to players for representing 

Wales mean the WRU is involved in key decisions for the regional teams and in more aspects 

of players’ professional lives. 

b. WOMEN’S RUGBY IN WALES 
Women have long played rugby in Wales, with a famous early game at Cardiff Arms Park in 

1917 between Cardiff Ladies and Newport Ladies52.  However, the attitude to women’s 

participation in contact sports has at times been repressive, the Welsh FA banning women’s 

football at any club from 1922 to 1970, in line with many other countries53.  

In 1983 the Women’s Rugby Football Union was formed to govern women’s rugby across the 

British Isles.  In 1987 Liza Burgess54 led a Wales women’s team in the first official match 

against England.  In 1988 the Women’s International Rugby Board was established.  The first 

Women’s World Cup was in 1991 in Wales although the competition was not formally adopted 

by the International Rugby Board until 1998.  In 1994 the Women’s Rugby Football Union 

broke up and the new Welsh Women’s Rugby Union affiliated with the WRU. 

A Home Nations competition in 1996 was followed by a women’s Five Nations starting in 

1999.  In 2007 the Welsh Women’s Rugby Union merged with the WRU.  In 2009 Wales’ 

women for the first-time defeated England, on their way to a Triple Crown. 

We received a unanimous “no” to our enquiries about whether the WRU had built on this or 

prepared for the growth of women’s rugby both from a playing and a commercial perspective. 

 
51 https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Six_Nations_Championship 
 
52 https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wales_women%27s_national_rugby_union_team 
53 https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Women%27s_football_in_Wales  
54 Who went on the be a member of the WRU Board 

Pack Page 106

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Six_Nations_Championship
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wales_women%27s_national_rugby_union_team
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Women%27s_football_in_Wales


  
 

- 90 - 
 
 

Participation in women’s rugby is growing fast.  World Rugby gives the following data55: 

Female participation levels are at an all-time high with 2.7 million players globally. More 

than a quarter of the overall playing population is now female, and there has been a 28% 

increase in registered players since 2017. 

Developments of the women’s game continue at pace, for example equal, joint inclusion in 

the Olympics from 2016 in the Sevens format. 

c. THE WELSH RUGBY UNION 
The WRU is a limited liability company registered under the Companies Acts.  Welsh rugby 

clubs are in effect its shareholders and have control over the company through general 

meetings.  WRU governance arrangements are set out in its Articles of Association and so 

changes are made through votes by the clubs. 

The WRU has an income of about £100m and employs about 400.   

It owns the Millennium Stadium (now the Principality Stadium, sponsored by the Principality 

Building Society for 10 years from 2015) through a wholly owned subsidiary, Millennium 

Stadium plc.  This is significant source of revenue from ticket sales and venue hire. 

Starting in the early part of the 21st-century the WRU began to develop training facilities in 

Hensol, now the National Centre of Excellence. 

The WRU has a Rugby Services Agreement with the four Welsh Regions.  Through this 

system money is paid to the Regions to be spent on developing Welsh players.  The 

Agreement also supports dual contracts with leading players where both the WRU and the 

Region contribute to a player’s wages to ensure leading players play in Wales. 

From 2017 to 2023 the WRU took a significant role in Newport Gwent Dragons after the club 

got into financial difficulties, showing the financial connection between the governing body 

and club rugby. 

Covid had a particular effect on rugby as a close contact sport.  Revenues to the WRU 

stopped overnight and the WRU entered into significant additional debt.  A lot of people told 

 
55 https://www.world.rugby/organisation/about-us/womens 
 

Pack Page 107

https://www.world.rugby/organisation/about-us/womens


  
 

- 91 - 
 
 

us about the continued distribution during Covid of ring-fenced financial support to community 

rugby made no sense where club rugby was banned, and the professional teams were 

struggling to survive.  People said this showed the excessive power of clubs over the WRU. 

d. GOVERNANCE OF THE WRU 
The WRU is a company limited by guarantee, whose principal object is to promote rugby 

union in Wales.  Like any company it has Articles of Association, directors and members 

(shareholders).  The Articles and list of directors are available from Companies House.  The 

Articles can only be amended by 75% of those attending and voting at a general meeting. 

The members of the company are the roughly 200 rugby clubs in Wales.  In order to be a 

member a club must be run by a committee or board appointed by the club members, have 

insurance and follow the World Rugby bye-laws (along with other obligations).  The Board has 

power to discipline, suspend or expel member clubs including for conduct ‘prejudicial to the 

interests of the game’.  Member clubs are allocated to one of 9 districts, which can hold their 

own annual meetings. 

An Annual General Meeting of the WRU must be held each October or November and each 

club has one vote.  This meeting considers reports from the main office holders and considers 

the accounts, in line with usual practice.  A general meeting has the power to dismiss the 

Board. 

The Board of directors was predominantly made up of elected members but over recent years 

an increasing number of members have been appointed members.  Prior to the EGM on 26 

March 2023, 8 of the 12 directors were elected from the Council.  Since that EGM that 

number has been 4 and the Board of directors is made up as follows: 

• An independent chair and appointed chief executive, both by competitive process 

• Two District Council Members (who are elected) 

• Two National Council Members (who are elected) 

• The Chair of the Professional Rugby Board 

• Four appointed independent non-executive directors 

• A person to advance the women’s game. 

Pack Page 108



  
 

- 92 - 
 
 

There is also a Council.  People are elected to this body either by districts or nationally.  

Districts elect 1 or 2 members to the Council (depending on the size of the district).  These 

people are ‘District Council Members’ and, prior to the EGM on 26 March 2023, there were 14 

such members of Council.  Also 5 people are elected to the Council by all clubs in Wales and 

these are ‘National Council Members’. 

The Council can have a maximum of 25 members but at present there are 19: districts A-E 

each elect 2 members and districts F, G, H and J each elect 1, with 5 National Council 

Members.  In addition, the Board has power to appoint up to 6 members of the Council, but 

no current members have been appointed.  At the EGM in March this year the Board was 

given the power to appoint up to 6 members of the Council, making the maximum number of 

Council members 25. 

People may be members of the Council for 9 years.  This is an absolute cap and further terms 

are not possible.  There is a similar limit on the term of office for directors. 

The Board has the following sub-committees: 

• Community Rugby Board.  The Community Rugby Board is responsible for setting and 

over-seeing the strategy for community rugby.  All Council members are members of 

the Community Rugby Board, as is the executive director for Community Rugby.  In 

turn the Community Rugby Board has sub-committees: a Disciplinary Committee, a 

Club Development Committee and a Competitions Management Committee. 

• Professional Rugby Board.  The Professional Rugby Board is responsible for 

overseeing the Board’s strategy for professional rugby.  Members include each 

regional club, an appointed chair and the group CEO and finance director.  There are 

three sub-committees: the Rugby Management Board, the Finance Management 

Board and the Business Management Board. 

• Finance Sub-Board.  This handles all finance matters other than dealing with the 

auditors. 

• Appointments and Remuneration Committee.  This is the committee which leads on 

the appointments of Board members. 

• Audit and Risk Committee. 

 

Pack Page 109



  
 

- 93 - 
 
 

e. PARTICIPATION IN RUGBY TODAY 
We heard that - like many things – participation sport has not recovered to pre-pandemic 

levels.  World Rugby records 7.6 million people who play rugby including 4.2m active, 

registered, players as well as those just starting to try the sport.  24% of participants are 

female and they make up 17% of the 54,000 teams. 

At 3.1 million Wales has the smallest population of the leading rugby nations, compared to 

about 5 million in each of Scotland, New Zealand and Ireland.  World Rugby gives the figure 

for active players in Wales as 46,879 compared to 42,000 in Scotland and 44,000 in Ireland – 

reflecting a high participation rate in Wales.  New Zealand has 84,000 active players.  

Countries with much larger populations tend to have more active players, for example France 

at 191,00056. 

Anyone who follows rugby will know that results do not reflect those figures but lots of people 

pointed out to us that Wales is having to do more with less.  Those high participation rates in 

Wales show rugby is deeply ingrained into Welsh society. 

People told us rugby is a declining force in Wales.  We heard results sheets show many 20-nil 

scores, giving statistical support to apocryphal comments that even some well-known clubs 

are struggling to put out competitive teams.  Football in Wales has been through its own 

Golden Era, with Wales qualifying for the World Cup in 2022, and this naturally diverted 

children to watching and playing football.  The issues surrounding early onset dementia and 

pending group litigation add to a challenging health background.  We were also told that post-

Brexit Welsh people are gradually re-evaluating their national identity. 

A number felt the change to regional teams in 2003/4 was forced on Welsh rugby with too 

little consultation and broke the link between clubs and their local community.  A trip to watch 

the match on Saturday became less automatic. 

On 25 October 2023 the Today programme on Radio 4 reported on rugby in Wales, opening 

with “rugby feels to many Welsh people like a part of the culture of the nation” and ending with 

Wyre Davies saying “rugby is almost a religion in Wales”.  The report noted Wales again 

 
56 http://publications.worldrugby.org/yearinreview2021/en/46-1 
 

Pack Page 110

http://publications.worldrugby.org/yearinreview2021/en/46-1


  
 

- 94 - 
 
 

“outperformed” at the World Cup.  Hugh Bevan, head of performance at the WRU, pointed out 

that they “must have been doing something right” given the success achieved with the 

available population. 

In the report, Wyre Davies asked if this success had “papered over the cracks”.  He said 

“rugby was at the heart of almost every community” in Wales but that the game was 

“struggling” with 13% of matches below professional level cancelled last year, largely due to 

lack of players.  Rugby clubs had financial difficulties.  A BBC survey of 140 schools found 

that two-thirds had run a sixth form team in the past but almost half of those schools had 

stopped in the last 20 years, often because of lack of staff or lack of pupil interest.  Finally, the 

report explained that more Welsh boys were playing in England – one English college 

identified had 10 players from Wales in the first team. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 111



  
 

- 95 - 
 
 

APPENDIX 2 - Letter from Tonia Antoniazzi MP and 121 former players to the Welsh 
Rugby Union, April 2021 

Tonia Antoniazzi MP 

Ty Newydd Community Centre 

17 West Street Gorseinon SA44AA 

Wednesday 14th April 2021 

Dear Steve, 

As former Welsh women's rugby players we are writing to you, the WRU and the executive, 

as the custodians of our national sport. 

Governing bodies have a moral and ethical responsibility to develop the national game and 

implement a vision befitting the commitment of the women who pull on the red jersey of 

Wales. 

As players we never own the jersey, we are merely looking after it for future generations. It is 

our duty to leave the game in a better place and improve the legacy for the next players. This 

is why we cannot stand by and turn a blind eye to the deepening inequality of provision in the 

women's game in Wales. 

The inaction of the WRU in providing a performance pathway for women and girls continues 

to negatively affect the national team's performance. 

The WRU Strategy affirms: 

'to commit to support each player through all levels of the game and beyond, and as a 

consequence our players choose to stay in Wales, our teams 'win' at every level'. 

We want you to know that today this statement could not be further from the experience of 

representing Wales as a female rugby player. You have failed to provide a route for our 

female players through any elite level, our top players are encouraged to play outside of 

Wales, and our only women's team on an international stage is not winning. 

Pack Page 112



  
 

- 96 - 
 
 

The results of the last two Six Nations games are a product of the current environment, which 

brings us to the crisis point we have feared was inevitable; your systematic dismantling of the 

age grade and development pathways, which you inherited from the WWRU, contribute 

significantly to the failures of the women's game in Wales today. 

The WRU has yet to publish a strategy for long-term development of female rugby players or 

defined pathways for them. We urge you to rise to this challenge to do better, be true 

custodians of our game, and implement a strategy, setting clear and measurable goals, 

timelines for the development and implementation of these programmes and specific high-

performance targets to ensure the success of our national game. 

Beyond Rugby, the WRU's own strategy, states that you... 

'have a responsibility to be role models, to make a positive difference to Welsh society and to 

help to define Wales as a nation'. 

While you stand at this crossroads, in a moment of time where more eyes are on our national 

team than ever before, we are looking at how you, as the governing body, can provide a 

positive change for women and girls playing rugby in Wales. 

We expect you to be the role models our nation of female players and their supporters need, 

and to make a positive difference by committing to a clear pathway from grassroots to the 

national teams by building an environment of expectation of success and winning at all levels. 

We cannot stand by and watch the women's game deteriorate any further, we want to work 

with you. This letter isan offer of support for a 'working party', bringing a variety of experience 

to work together and achieve the best outcomes for the future of women and girl's rugby in 

Wales. 

I'd like to invite you, on behalf of the signatories of this letter and a small working group to 

discuss this further via zoom the week commencing the 26th April. 

We look forward to meeting with you soon, Kind regards, 

Tonia Antoniazzi MP for Gower 

Former Wales Squad Members. 

Pack Page 113



  
 

- 97 - 
 
 

120 passionate women who have represented Welsh squads from 1988 - 2020. 

[121 names followed] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 114



  
 

- 98 - 
 
 

APPENDIX 3 - Resignation speech and letter from Amanda Blanc, November 2021 

15th November 2021 

Private & Confidential 

To the Chair of the WRU, 

I am writing to advise you of my resignation from the WRU Board and as Chair of the PRB. I 

am informing you of my intentions in advance of telling the PRB Regional Chairs in due 

course. 

I am sorry to say that I have been deeply saddened at the approach taken towards the 

Women’s Game Review and more generally at some of the conversations regarding women 

that I have experienced. 

Following some high-profile resignations earlier this year, the Women’s Review was originally 

created to investigate, among other areas, the important cultural aspects of the WRU 

organisation. The Board agreed to this approach, but the subsequent scope of the Review 

was focussed more on contracts, performance and pathways. We should remember that the 

Women’s Review originated following bullying allegations towards the women’s coach, but I 

am yet to observe any specific actions to address the cultural transformation that is required. 

The intention of the Board was to make the findings of the Review public some months ago - 

and yet we are largely still waiting. 

The Review was trumpeted as being the key component to fix the women’s game and a 

priority for the WRU. Yet only 45% of Board members and 27% of Council members found the 

time to contribute to it. Moreover, I am still at a loss to understand how only 3 out of 8 of the 

Executive felt it important enough to respond and can only imagine how this would be 

perceived nationally. 

With this backdrop and having reflected carefully on the recent Board discussion regarding a 

Council member's derogatory and disparaging comments about women, l am afraid that I can 

no longer be associated with the decisions made by the Board in this area. The conversation 

about the sanctions being excessive if too many complimentary game tickets were taken from 

the individual concerned was extremely disappointing. 

Pack Page 115



  
 

- 99 - 
 
 

It was this conversation that finally concluded my decision to resign. 

In addition, I have also raised behaviour, tone and in particular governance many times before 

in various guises over the last 2 years. Despite the platitudes from others, I am afraid I do not 

see any meaningful progress towards better governance and an effective Board. 

I would once again strongly recommend that you carry out a Board Effectiveness Review, 

both to assist with much needed governance changes and also as a 360-degree mechanism 

for you to examine some of the Board behaviours which fall short of what is expected by 

stakeholders in 2021. I have offered to assist with this but again the willingness to engage is 

not there. I would caution with your best interests at heart that unless the Board recognises 

that change is needed, the implications could be far reaching. 

My observations if such Review were ever to take place would be: - 

1) Outside of the Non-Execs, what is the Board competence to run a £100 million turnover 

organisation? Where is the skills matrix to assess the experience and capabilities needed on 

the Board? 

2) On taking the Chair role, Rob stated that he would seek to change the governance during his 

one- year term so that an Independent Chair could be appointed. There has been no 

discussion about an Independent Chair and Rob has just been reappointed, unopposed. 

3) The CEO recruitment process was not undertaken in line with good governance and ended 

with a fairly meaningless vote and the decision to appoint ratified by a divided Board. 

4) Exco roles have largely been appointed by reshuffling the team and the opportunity has not 

been taken to recruit talented individuals who would prepare the organisation for the digital 

and Private Equity world. 

When you look for a successor to chair the PRB can I also suggest that you give some 

consideration as to the scope of this voluntary role. 

On taking the position I was advised I should be available to attend 6 PRB meetings per year 

and 8 WRU Board meetings. As at the end of October I have attended 84 meetings this year - 

including several half days and some full days, many of which have not been a good use of 

time such as the CEO recruitment process. Almost all of these have been in my spare time, 

Pack Page 116



  
 

- 100 - 
 
 

over weekends, holidays, etc. Candidly, I think you are probably being unrealistic to expect 

somebody who has current Board room experience to carry out this PRB / WRU role on a 

voluntary basis. In my view it is at a minimum, a one day per week appointment and probably 

ought to be remunerated. 

I have given considerable thought as to whether I should remain in position to try and 

continue to pursue change from inside the Board. However, I have sadly concluded that after 

two years of trying this will not be fruitful. 

That said, I will of course continue in role until you have found a replacement and will advise 

the PRB members accordingly. For any communications issues that you wish to discuss 

relating to disclosure of my resignation then please contact emurphy@brunswickgroup.com 

In conclusion, I would just like to say that I continue to wish the women’s and the men’s 

national team and all four Regions the best of luck and remain a fervent supporter of them all. 

Kind Regards,  

Amanda Blanc 

 

Hi everybody and thanks Rob. 

Firstly I wanted to thank you for giving up some time this evening. 

As you will know, I handed in my resignation letter to Rob some three weeks ago. I am not 

sure if Rob has shared that letter with you all - I hope he has - but I wanted to be absolutely 

sure that there was no ambiguity for the entire board as to why I am leaving. 

There has been much speculation and so far I have resisted national media contact so that I 

could communicate with you first. 

Whether you have seen the letter or not, having witnessed how quickly an issue can rip apart 

an institution like Yorkshire Cricket Club, literally overnight, I feel obligated to make sure that 

you are fully aware. 

Pack Page 117

mailto:emurphy@brunswickgroup.com


  
 

- 101 - 
 
 

Some of you may consider the reasons overly forthright, some of you may consider that they 

should have remained private to only me - especially for those of you that are used to 

operating under rules such as secret anonymous voting for board matters. 

I on the other hand am used to transparency and corporate governance that is rigorous and fit 

for modern society and so I make no apologies about this responsibility. 

There are three key areas why I feel I can no longer align myself with the decisions made by 

this board. 

Firstly, 

The Women’s Review is beyond disappointing and verges on insulting towards women. 

I would encourage any directors that are new to the board to make time to read the review 

and note its conclusions if they haven’t already done so. 

We should remember that the review was started because of very specific bullying allegations 

- I know that because I sat in a car park for a 1hr 20 minute board meeting deciding what to 

do - where the first 1 hour and 6 minutes was listening to a discussion about how to defend 

the man at the centre of the allegations. 

It wasn’t until I raised this very fact that there was an acceptance that culture and behaviour 

should be reviewed. 

Just to be very clear - I had conversations with Rob about resigning at this stage but was told 

to give the Review a chance and stay on the pitch to bring about change. 

However, the Terms Of Reference were subsequently watered down and the cultural aspects 

quickly moved aside. 

I should have known when only 27% of council members and 45% of this Board found the 

time to contribute to a Review about Women that there was a serious and deep rooted 

problem. 

3 out of the 8 executives felt that it was important enough to contribute to. 

3 out of 8 - can you imagine how that would be perceived across the nation. 

Pack Page 118



  
 

- 102 - 
 
 

Just to put that in perspective that is less than the percentage of former women players that 

contributed to the review when asked. 

Women who have already played the game for Wales and moved on care more about this 

issue than the current Board, the District Council members and the Executive. That’s the 

public perception - and there’s the reality to back it up. 

There were 40 actions in the Review - how many have been implemented or started. 

I would just remind the Board that the headline finding was that this was a strategic, 

operational, financial, commercial, political, social and reputational risk to the WRU. That’s 

pretty much a full house… 

In my experience any review that has such serious consequences like this for an organisation 

would be discussed in each and every board meeting. We have discussed it once around July 

when it was produced and have hardly referenced it again. 

The Review was trumpeted as being the key component to fix the women’s game and that the 

findings of the review would be made public - yet we are still waiting. 

Every Monday on Twitter a certain woman tweets to the world - another Monday, another 

week where the WRU have failed women with no review released - you are probably not even 

aware this happens but the public are. 

But it’s ok because this week when I asked as a concerned NED about progress, I was told - 

it’s alright, I went to watch the women training. 

Seriously - that was the answer. 

I couple all this to my own experience of being a woman on this Board and I am even more 

concerned for the WRU. 

I have raised behaviour before. 

I have had a written apology from another member of the board. 

Unbelievably I have even been questioned by the Board about whether I have sufficient 

business experience - none of you, absolutely none of you would question Henry about his 

business experience and you know what, Henry would never ever question mine either - but 

Pack Page 119



  
 

- 103 - 
 
 

for some reason it is ok for some of the WRU Board with hardly any business credentials to 

question my experience. 

I wonder what the difference is between Henry and myself for that to happen. 

My feelings were reinforced with the recent, truly offensive discussion about reducing the 

sanctions for a WRU District Council member who had made public misogynist comments. 

This was simply staggering. 

I still can’t quite believe what I heard. 

Women should know their place in the kitchen and stick to the ironing. Men are the master 

race. 

To have to sit in room and listen to some of you say that taking away too many free six nation 

tickets from this man would be completely unfair was beyond insulting. 

I would say that some of you need to sit down, pause and reflect on what answer you would 

give to a Select Committee if this evidence was put in front of you. What would you say to the 

nation when an MP asks - does the WRU respect women? 

You have two women with employment tribunals after what looks like years of neglect. You 

are left with one woman on the board and by the way, absolutely no ethnic diversity at all. 

I am the UK Governments Women In Finance Champion - if I don’t call out problems 

whenever I see them then that is a hollow appointment. 

My integrity won’t allow me to sit silently and I am telling you loud and clear with your best 

interests at heart - You have a problem. 

Set in the context of the world as it is today - racism in cricket, gender equality being a priority, 

diversity and inclusion being integral to every organisation - you are sitting on a ticking time 

bomb. 

All of the above I believe has been created and driven by my second area of concern. 

I am afraid that in my opinion the Board is simply not experienced enough to run a £100 

million, modern organisation. 

Pack Page 120



  
 

- 104 - 
 
 

It’s not a reflection on the character, or the desire, or the enthusiasm, or the positive intentions 

of the Board or individuals - just the honest truth about the the skills and capabilities for an 

organisation of this size. 

When Rob was initially appointed Chair he made a commitment to revisit the potential rule 

change to allow the appointment of an independent Chair. This has not been done. 

At the time and on a number of occasions over the last year I have spoken to Rob about the 

skills and capabilities on the board and the need for a board effectiveness review. I have even 

offered to assist in setting this up. 

A board effectiveness review is best practice in any organisation, whether it is for profit or not 

for profit. Despite assurances - again it has not even been started let alone completed. 

If you ask Cat or Henry or any other NED they will be all too familiar with a board 

effectiveness review and the value it brings. If there was a skills matrix completed we would 

look at whether we have the right skills here like digital, IT, commercial and people skills to 

oversee this business. 

Boards operate with directors who can challenge and hold the executive to account. If the 

board does not have that competence then how can they carry out that valuable function. 

Early on at my time here we were discussing the succession for the Chair role in a board 

meeting. One of you said that there was plenty of experience amongst the people eligible for 

the Chair role to be able to do this successfully. Respectfully I disagreed then, I disagree now. 

I would never dispute that the Board know rugby inside and out, but that’s not solely what this 

board needs or in fact is crying out for. 

Just take my own resignation and how it was handled. 

I am not looking for any public gratitude at all, I don’t need it, but for any organisation to send 

out a press release without even thanking the person leaving is yet another example of 

people who don’t have enough experience of handling the commercial world. 

The media spotted it, leapt on it and that is why I got calls from the BBC, ITV, The Times. Too 

many people here have the best of intentions but are simply out of their depth. 

Pack Page 121



  
 

- 105 - 
 
 

It is frightening for example, that this organisation does not have a strategy and we have 

never discussed a strategy during my time at the WRU. 

In two years of board meetings no strategic discussions, we have discussed museums but 

never a strategy. 

And finally the appointment of the CEO - this was another example of a really poor 

governance process that would never have been approved in any other organisation I have 

experienced around the world. 

It just wouldn’t stand up to external public scrutiny. 

Ultimately I would urge you to look at governance, a board effectiveness review and creating 

some much needed structural change to get a better balance of skills and experience on the 

board. 

It’s the only way that I can see you ensuring the long term future of the organisation. 

So to my third and final area of concern. 

I would highlight to you all that the role of PRB chair is a voluntary one. 

When I accepted it, I was informed I would need to be available for a PRB meeting every 

other month and be required to attend WRU boards. 

As at the end of October, I had attended 84 meetings this year. 

84 scheduled meetings in 10 months - lasting from an hour to a whole day. 

Almost all of them at weekends, late evenings, holidays. 

Again I would urge you to look at the nature and scope of this role. It is simply not sustainable 

for anyone who has any other significant commitments to take this on. 

I assume you will again be looking for a specific and current skillset to hold 4 commercial, 

experienced, headstrong, talented, business savvy regional chairs together but let’s be 

honest - that’s a very hard search criteria on a voluntary basis. 

I have mentioned to Rob that you may need to move this to a remunerated role to find an 

agreeable candidate. 

Pack Page 122



  
 

- 106 - 
 
 

The treatment of the Pro Clubs also needs very serious review. 

If you all believe that the flow of talent from the Pro Clubs to the welsh game is essential for 

the future of welsh rugby, then I strongly suggest you push Steve for a coherent strategy 

which starts again with the PRA and looks to invest in the game properly to ensure future 

relevance and success. 

 

In my view the PRA is unworkable in its present form. 

So in conclusion I believe you need to 

● consider the treatment of women at the WRU 

● modernise the governance here for the 21st century 

● change the shape of the PRA and the PRB chair role. 

Look, I appreciate this probably hasn’t been an easy listen and there may be aspects you 

fundamentally disagree with. 

However when any director leaves an organisation it is a golden opportunity to welcome the 

feedback as free consultancy, open up a debate internally and reflect on whether change is 

needed and how fast. 

I hope it is accepted in the spirit it is meant. 

Thank you for your time listening - I remain a fervent supporter of all the national teams ,and 

the four Regions, and I wish you the best of luck in whatever you decide to do at the WRU. 

I will always be proudly welsh.  

Thanks. 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 123



  
 

- 107 - 
 
 

APPENDIX 4 - Open letter from Hayley Parsons, January 2023 

Dear Ieuan, 

I write to you today to urge you to take immediate and decisive action to address the issues 
raised in this week’s BBC Wales Investigates programme, but also against a backdrop of a 
long-standing and deep-rooted culture of toxicity and bullying within the Welsh Rugby Union. 

In my role as a non-executive director at Cardiff Rugby, I constantly witness and have to deal 
with the fallout of incompetence at the Welsh Rugby Union. I believe the board, in its current 
state, does not possess the expertise and experience to run the WRU, which is essentially a 
£100million company. As a group of individuals, they are not fit for purpose, and the future of 
Welsh rugby requires people with the capability and experience to turn this urgent and dire 
situation around. 

Many people have told me first-hand about the culture of bullying and manipulation within the 
WRU. I was saddened but not shocked to read the comments from Amanda Blanc, one of the 
UK’s leading businesswomen who invested her time and effort in the future of Welsh rugby, 
only to be disrespected and devalued, subsequently leaving her role. 

How many more experienced, professional and good people need to leave Welsh rugby 
before you take action and say enough is enough? 

As a business professional and entrepreneur, who founded a multimillion-pound business that 
remains in Wales, I am pleading with you to make the right decision for the WRU, both as a 
business and for rugby as our national sport. 

Ieuan, you are surrounded by amazing business professionals who already invest their time 
and energy into Welsh rugby. They have the desire and capability to help you through this 
crisis. They sit as non-executive directors within the WRU, they are your sponsors and are in 
your regions, and they want what is right and fair for the people of Wales, our fans and our 
game. 

Pick up the phone to Amanda Blanc, Andrew Williams or Henry Engelhardt and ask for help, 
and I guarantee you they will go out of their way to help because our staff, our players and 
our game are worth it. We all want to make Welsh rugby great again. 

Welsh rugby needs a clear overarching business strategy that the whole of Welsh rugby and 
its regions can work towards. This week’s crisis isn’t new, it’s just brought the underlying 
issues that we have experienced for years to the fore. 

As regions, we have been in crisis for so long that our only strategy at present is survival - to 
stay afloat in the hope that the governance of the WRU is changed soon so we can make it to 
the next season. This cannot carry on – we all deserve better, as do our players, staff and 
fans. 

Pack Page 124



  
 

- 108 - 
 
 

As regional clubs we hold back on a range of issues, too scared to go against the Union for 
fear of retribution, because of the utter choke hold it has on us. It is akin to being in an 
abusive relationship, and as such, is unacceptable and untenable. 

Yet still, despite allegation after allegation, mistake after mistake, sacking after sacking, 
statement after statement, denial after denial, the WRU does not appear to have modern 
governance structures or a proper strategic business plan in place to affect positive change 
and nurture rugby at a regional, never mind national level. 

The WRU’s dedicated and hardworking staff, most of whom are a credit to the game and work 
tirelessly to champion it, are being failed by the WRU’s continued unwillingness to accept 
responsibility for the failures at board level to tackle the toxic and oppressive culture within the 
Union. 

The treatment of its staff, its regional clubs and its dominance and total control over the game 
has to change, now. The only way to truly remedy these issues is to appoint a new board 
made up of people who know how to run a Union and a business properly, with a thought out, 
well executed business strategy, and stringent and clear governance system. 

You have rightly called for governance reform as our new Chair. The Board Governance 
report conducted in 2022 outlined major concerns and issues with the governance structure. 
Those changes must now be urgently implemented and explained to the membership at an 
Extraordinary General Meeting. We must restore confidence in the leadership of our game, 
and I’m sure we will all as regions, commit to supporting you in delivering those changes. 

Please don’t underestimate our combined determination, frustration, disappointment, shame 
and despair at what is, and has been happening at the WRU. We will not stop campaigning 
until change is actioned, until the current CEO and the WRU board is either sacked or resign 
to safeguard the future of Welsh rugby – in what is a pivotal World Cup year for our game. 

I have watched in admiration how the Football Association of Wales has turned around its 
fortunes with its clear business and development strategy for the future of football, which is in 
stark contrast to that of the WRU. It puts the WRU to shame, demonstrating how archaic 
rugby governance and management is in Wales and further demonstrating how change must 
happen, and happen now. 

Ieuan, we have the will, we have the people, we have the resolve, we have the expertise, and 
we have the passion - and please believe me, we will not stop campaigning on this matter 
until something is done. The WRU needs to clean up its act, it needs to listen to its staff, its 
players, its fans and work with its regions to make a positive change for the future. 

We are here to help, and I can assure you I have no other agenda than to do what’s right for 
our people and Wales. You have the perfect opportunity to grab hold of Welsh rugby and 
make it great again and you have an army of people who understand great culture and what 
great looks like - you have the “best boss in the world” Henry Engelhardt within touching 
distance of you and many others. 

 

Pack Page 125



  
 

- 109 - 
 
 

Yours sincerely 

Hayley 

Hayley Parsons OBE  

 

 

  

Pack Page 126



 

 
 
1 Paternoster Lane, St Paul’s London EC4M 7BQ resolve@sportresolutions.com 020 7036 1966  
 
Company no: 03351039 Limited by guarantee in England and Wales  
Sport Resolutions is the trading name of Sports Dispute Resolution Panel Limited  
 
www.sportresolutions.com 
  

 

 

 

 

Dame Anne Rafferty  

 

Quentin Smith 

 

Maggie Alphonsi MBE 

13 November 2023 

 

Pack Page 127



Response from Ofcom to questions posed by the Committee 
following the evidence session on 4 October 2023 

During the evidence session, Eleanor referenced changes to commercial radio 
licensing proposed under the Draft Media Bill that would change the regime 
for enforcing public service commitments for licence holders. Please could an 
explanation of these changes be provided, including a publicly available 
source if possible? 
 The Explanatory Notes which were published alongside the draft Media Bill by the UK 
Government include, at paragraph 14, a summary of the proposed changes to the 
regulation of radio services. This is the only publicly available source we are aware of. For 
any further information on the proposals in the draft Media Bill, you should contact the 
Department for Culture, Media and Sport of the UK Government. 

 What assessment has Ofcom made of the relative importance of certain 
sports (such as rugby) to audiences in Wales? 
In 2022 we commissioned and published a report from Ampere Analysis looking at 
trends and dynamics in the sports broadcasting sector. This included a section that 
looked at trends in audience consumption habits of sport and listed events. This did not 
focus on particular sports, nor did we look at audiences in specific Nations or Regions.  

Our role in the Listed Events regime is principally to assess applications from broadcasters 
for consent to broadcast listed events (in circumstances where our consent is required). 
We determine whether to give our consent by reference to  criteria set out in our Code, 
which focuses on the way in which rights were acquired and can also require us to 
consider whether there are restrictions placed on a broadcaster in how they make 
coverage available. We do not approve the broadcasters’ coverage plans nor do we 
determine which events should be listed, which is a matter for the Secretary of State for 
Culture, Media and Sport. For this reason, our research thus far has been focused on 
understanding changes to the rights market rather than the relationship between 
audiences and certain sports.     

 

How has the ability of public service broadcasters to buy sports rights changed 
since the current sports rights listing regime was established? 
The report linked above provides insights into the trends and changes seen across the 
sports rights market in recent years, including the changing role of PSBs. PSBs have 
maintained a steady level of investment in sports in recent years, largely driven by 
focussed on Listed Events. However, there are a number of challenges facing PSBs that 
may impact their ability to compete for sports rights. PSBs are facing budget constraints, 
whether from a freeze to the licence fee or a downturn in the advertising market, and this 
is compounded by production cost inflation. Sports rights can be expensive, and these 
budget constraints may be impacting PSBs’ ability to compete for these rights packages. 
In recent years PSBs have also faced competition from new global media organisations 

Pack Page 128

Agenda Item 4.1

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fassets.publishing.service.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment_data%2Ffile%2F1146694%2F1285-HH-Media_Bill_Explanatory_Notes_29.03.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CSeneddCulture%40senedd.wales%7C841b36dc5a0c45cd9b0408dc00ac627b%7C38dc5129340c45148a044e8ef2771564%7C0%7C0%7C638385987598334994%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=25eIwUa%2Bb7WxF4SLgdiyF1Po2irpqW8aBlsLUW8OttA%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ofcom.org.uk%2F__data%2Fassets%2Fpdf_file%2F0019%2F240553%2FAmpere-abridged-report.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CSeneddCulture%40senedd.wales%7C841b36dc5a0c45cd9b0408dc00ac627b%7C38dc5129340c45148a044e8ef2771564%7C0%7C0%7C638385987598334994%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=sGefOW%2BpUBn%2BsJ5iAlv2T31BIAu1UJhw2GCAeC21bnA%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ofcom.org.uk%2F__data%2Fassets%2Fpdf_file%2F0029%2F35948%2Fofcom_code_on_sport.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CSeneddCulture%40senedd.wales%7C841b36dc5a0c45cd9b0408dc00ac627b%7C38dc5129340c45148a044e8ef2771564%7C0%7C0%7C638385987598334994%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=pduM6U20PkMjPXGzxGMwVO8cf3T%2BbHHWjamNZ7PuWII%3D&reserved=0


interested in expanding into the sports market. Warner Bros Discovery appear to have 
committed to sports and have ample resources to invest, but it should be noted that the 
extent to which other players, such as Amazon or Apple TV+, are committed to investing 
in sports is still unclear. PSBs have long faced competition in the sports rights market 
from Pay TV providers, such as Sky or BT Sport, so this is not a new challenge but is 
certainly becoming more acute.  

Summary of the Listed Events regime  
The Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport has the power to draw up a list of 
sporting (or other) events of ‘national interest’. The regime’s aim is to promote the 
availability of live coverage of these events on free-to-air services by seeking to ensure 
that, when offered, the broadcast rights for listed events are offered to ‘qualifying services’ 
(and indeed ‘non-qualifying services’) on ‘fair and reasonable’ terms (as described in the 
Code).  

The regime divides broadcasters into two categories of service based on a measurement 
criteria:  

‘Qualifying services’ must be free and received by 95% of the UK population.  

‘Non-qualifying services’ are all other broadcasters, including Pay-TV providers and free-
to-air services that do not reach 95% of the population.   

The list consists of:  

 Group A events – a broadcaster requires consent to exclusively broadcast live 
coverage of these events.  

 Group B events – a broadcaster requires consent to exclusively broadcast live 
coverage of these events, but the Code sets out that consent will be granted 
‘automatically’ where another broadcaster (in the other category of service) has 
rights to provide adequate secondary coverage such as highlights (as further 
defined in the Code), and rights to provide live radio coverage have also been 
acquired.  

Draft Media Bill 

 The draft Media Bill simplifies the qualification criteria for the regime by removing 
the measurement criteria, and instead providing that only PSBs and services 
provided by PSBs will qualify as long as they are provided for free. This would mean 
that, for the first time, S4C would be considered a ‘qualifying service’. 

 It also makes provision to extend the regime to include “internet programme 
services” as well as television programme services. 

 The regime does not currently include ‘digital rights’, including on-demand rights, 
which have become an important element in the sale of sports rights. This, 
together with changes to viewing habits (i.e. catch-up and on-demand viewing), 
raised questions about whether the listed events regime remains fit for purpose. 
DCMS is carrying out a review of whether ‘digital rights’ should be included in the 
listed events regime, and will announce its position in due course. 

Pack Page 129



 One objective of the regime is to find an ‘appropriate balance’ between promoting 
free-to-air sports events for the public and allowing rights holders to negotiate 
agreements in the best interests of their sport. 

 S4C is campaigning for greater protection for sports content in Welsh. Given the 
service’s remit to support and encourage the use of Welsh it argues that certain 
sporting events that are of national significance in Wales (e.g. the Euros, The Six 
nations Rugby Tournament) should be protected and made available free-to-air in 
Welsh regardless of the ownership of the primary rights. 

 S4C has lobbied DCMS for changes to the listed events regime and expects 
changes to be brought forward in the Media Bill. S4C would like to see a Wales list 
of events that would have to be available free-to-air on S4C, but current proposals 
do not go as far as S4C would like. 

Ofcom says that the Operating Licence it sets for the BBC should contain 
“appropriately challenging” regulatory conditions in relation to the BBC’s 
services. Have any metrics used to measure the BBC’s performance for 
audiences in Wales improved since 2017? 
The Charter requires Ofcom to set an Operating Licence which secures, amongst others, 
that audiences in Wales are well served. In March of this year, we published a new 
Operating Licence for the BBC: 
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0022/255721/bbc-operating-licence-
march-2023.pdf  

Alongside regulatory requirements that apply to the whole of the UK, the Operating 
Licence also contains requirements specific to programming and services for Wales. 
These include requirements relating to:  

 Television programme production in Wales: the licence ensures that at least 5% of 
hours and 5% of expenditure on network television programmes must relate to 
programme making in Wales. 

 Programmes made for Welsh audiences: a suite of provisions, including a range of 
quotas, ensure programmes are made with Welsh audiences in mind. These 
include: 

- A requirement for BBC One Wales to show at least 275 hours of news and 
current affairs programmes every year; 

- A requirement for BBC One Wales and BBC Two Wales to show 
programmes other than news and current affairs;  

- A requirement for BBC Radio Wales to allocate at least 1,669 hours to news 
and current affairs programmes (and to provide news bulletins regularly 
throughout the day); 

- A requirement for BBC Radio Cymru to allocate at least 1,199 hours to news 
and current affairs (and to provide news bulletins regularly throughout the 
day); 

Pack Page 130

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ofcom.org.uk%2F__data%2Fassets%2Fpdf_file%2F0022%2F255721%2Fbbc-operating-licence-march-2023.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CSeneddCulture%40senedd.wales%7C841b36dc5a0c45cd9b0408dc00ac627b%7C38dc5129340c45148a044e8ef2771564%7C0%7C0%7C638385987598334994%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=HO%2BrjGdkbZ9BwPZKPR9wij904630RwVTPVeZgc1dZ6I%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ofcom.org.uk%2F__data%2Fassets%2Fpdf_file%2F0022%2F255721%2Fbbc-operating-licence-march-2023.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CSeneddCulture%40senedd.wales%7C841b36dc5a0c45cd9b0408dc00ac627b%7C38dc5129340c45148a044e8ef2771564%7C0%7C0%7C638385987598334994%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=HO%2BrjGdkbZ9BwPZKPR9wij904630RwVTPVeZgc1dZ6I%3D&reserved=0


- A requirement for the BBC's linear services specific for Welsh audiences and 
its online services (BBC iPlayer, BBC Sounds, and the website) to provide 
content of interest and relevant to audiences in Wales. 

Under the new Operating Licence, the BBC is required to publish a range of information 
in its Annual Plan and Annual Report, including information related to how it delivers for 
audiences in Wales. This includes, for example, detailed information relating to non-news 
programming on BBC One Wales and BBC Two Wales, and hours of network 
programmes which are specifically aimed at audiences in the nations and regions.   

Ofcom assesses how the BBC delivers for audiences, including how it delivers for 
audiences in Wales, on an annual basis. We do this by assessing compliance with the 
conditions in the operating licence, but also assessing its performance more widely. We 
published an up to date performance measurement framework in July of this year: 
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0025/264463/performance-
measurement-framework_2023.pdf 

Ofcom's annual reports and performance reports on the BBC are available here: 
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/tv-radio-and-on-demand/information-for-
industry/bbc/performance/bbc-annual-report  

The data for our performance assessment is based on a range of sources, including 
Ofcom surveys, for example the Ofcom BBC Performance Tracker, Ofcom BBC Children's 
Tracker, and the Ofcom News Consumption Survey; and industry data, such as Barb and 
RAJAR. 

The performance measures for the BBC have continued to evolve since 2017. Examples 
include: 

 Including a specific survey to measure perceptions of children, including a 
robust sample within Wales 

 Understanding more about device take-up for radio across the UK with the 
inclusion of smart speakers on the radio industry survey, RAJAR (including a 
robust sample within Wales) 

 Including more nations’ analysis in our Barb and RAJAR analysis in our 
performance monitoring 

 Identifying gaps in knowledge and introducing new annual tracking surveys 
which include boosts in the nations (Audio survey, Podcast survey, VoD 
survey) 

 Using supplementary third-party data where available, such as the IPA’s 
cross-media survey, TouchPoints  

Pack Page 131

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ofcom.org.uk%2F__data%2Fassets%2Fpdf_file%2F0025%2F264463%2Fperformance-measurement-framework_2023.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CSeneddCulture%40senedd.wales%7C841b36dc5a0c45cd9b0408dc00ac627b%7C38dc5129340c45148a044e8ef2771564%7C0%7C0%7C638385987598334994%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=tSz5Otun7V92URbFDj0%2BjzFfubKQM%2BUOfoWtTDUiaxM%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ofcom.org.uk%2F__data%2Fassets%2Fpdf_file%2F0025%2F264463%2Fperformance-measurement-framework_2023.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CSeneddCulture%40senedd.wales%7C841b36dc5a0c45cd9b0408dc00ac627b%7C38dc5129340c45148a044e8ef2771564%7C0%7C0%7C638385987598334994%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=tSz5Otun7V92URbFDj0%2BjzFfubKQM%2BUOfoWtTDUiaxM%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ofcom.org.uk%2Ftv-radio-and-on-demand%2Finformation-for-industry%2Fbbc%2Fperformance%2Fbbc-annual-report&data=05%7C02%7CSeneddCulture%40senedd.wales%7C841b36dc5a0c45cd9b0408dc00ac627b%7C38dc5129340c45148a044e8ef2771564%7C0%7C0%7C638385987598334994%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=GeV%2BDB3if8MSbD6RDtGFCFX9vlHrQxnjMXokByBN9KA%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ofcom.org.uk%2Ftv-radio-and-on-demand%2Finformation-for-industry%2Fbbc%2Fperformance%2Fbbc-annual-report&data=05%7C02%7CSeneddCulture%40senedd.wales%7C841b36dc5a0c45cd9b0408dc00ac627b%7C38dc5129340c45148a044e8ef2771564%7C0%7C0%7C638385987598334994%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=GeV%2BDB3if8MSbD6RDtGFCFX9vlHrQxnjMXokByBN9KA%3D&reserved=0


Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Dirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau, Chwaraeon a Thwristiaeth  
Deputy Minister for Arts, Sport and Tourism 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NS 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

                                    Gohebiaeth.Dawn.Bowden@llyw.cymru          
  Correspondence.Dawn.Bowden@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref MA-DM-2949-23 
 
Delyth Jewell MS  
Chair 
Culture, Communication, Welsh Language, International Relations and Sport Committee 
 

17 January 2024 
Dear Delyth, 
 
Thank you for the Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International 
Relations Committee’s report on ‘Behind the scenes: The creative industries workforce’, and 
for your agreement to extend the deadline for submission of our response. I am pleased to 
enclose a copy of the Welsh Government’s written response to the above report. 
 
A number of the recommendations call for action across sub-sectors within the remit of both 
Creative Wales and the Culture Division, including through the Arts Council of Wales. These 
include recommendations that cover both the creative industries as supported by Creative 
Wales and the cultural sectors, calling for action through the Culture Strategy. Where this is 
the case we have sought to separately explain the differing positions across these 
departments and bodies. 
 
The Culture Strategy now exists in draft form and has recently been tested with trusted 
partners. The 2024/25 budget is extremely challenging, and we are currently considering 
the potential implications of this for our creative industries and cultural sectors. I am in 
discussion with the Designated Member about the most appropriate timing for publication of 
the strategy and about how any budget cuts may have consequences for our ambitions in 
the short term. 
 
The Welsh Government has undertaken a reprioritisation exercise following the 
announcement of the Autumn statement to release funding from within portfolios for 
reallocation across Government due to the increased pressure on the Welsh Government 
budget and public services in Wales. On the Culture Strategy, you will be aware that we are 
now at a stage where we have a revised draft strategy and a draft implementation plan. 
Obviously as a result of the budget settlement, we need to consider the implications of 
these cuts on the development of the Culture Strategy.  
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Dawn Bowden AS/MS 
Dirprwy Weinidog y Celfyddydau, Chwaraeon a Thwristiaeth  
Deputy Minister for Arts, Sport and Tourism 

Pack Page 132

Agenda Item 4.2

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Dawn.Bowden@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Dawn.Bowden@gov.wales


Written Response by the Welsh Government to the report of the Culture, 
Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International Relations 
Committee’s entitled ‘Behind the scenes: The creative industries workforce’. 
 

 
The Welsh Government welcomes the findings of the report and offers the following 
response to the 13 recommendations contained within. 
 
Recommendation 1 
 
The Welsh Government should ensure that the forthcoming Culture Strategy sets out 
support for developing and sustaining the workforce in the arts and music sectors. 
 
Response: Reject  
 
The scope of the draft Culture Strategy includes the arts, heritage, museums, 
archives and library sectors. The draft strategy narrative is high level and will not 
include specific ambitions for developing and sustaining the arts and music sector 
workforce. However, the draft strategy does currently include ambitions around 
ensuring that our sectors are great places to work and volunteer. The strategy 
remains in draft and will require further consideration in light of the publication of the 
draft budget and the potential impacts on the cultural, heritage and creative sectors. 
 
Skills development is a priority in the Arts Council of Wales’ (ACW) Memorandum of 

Understanding (MoU) with Creative Wales, and discussions regarding freelancers 

are already underway. ACW’s open Lottery funds (Create) are open to training and 

skills development applications and are often used for this purpose. ACW also 

supports key programmes and projects directly such as Weston Jerwood Creative 

Bursaries, and also have expectations of the organisations it funds. Nurturing Talent 

is a principle that guided ACW’s decisions on what organisations were offered multi-

year funding as part of its Investment Review. 

 
Financial implications: No financial implications  
 
Recommendation 2 
 
The Welsh Government should outline how it is coordinating initiatives to ensure 
there are sufficient Welsh language skills available in the creative industries. If no 
specific plans are currently in place, the Welsh Government should work with 
partners who require Welsh language skills to develop and implement a scheme to 
increase the Welsh language workforce in the creative industries. 
 
Response: Accept  
 
Developing Welsh Language across the Creative Sector is a key priority for Creative 
Wales.  Our three-year Creative Skills Action Plan outlines our objective to find, 
support and nurture Welsh creative talent with a specific action to support Welsh 
language talent and those from diverse backgrounds to enter the industry and 
progress within the creative sector.  Furthermore, the Action Plan commits to 

Pack Page 133



ensuring training provision is promoted and delivered through the Welsh language 
where possible and those interested in learning or improving their Welsh language 
skills have the opportunity to do so.  Creative Wales is currently working with S4C 
and Ffilm Cymru on the Sinema scheme, to develop Welsh language film. As part of 
this scheme, we have recently funded the Welsh language script writing course O’r 
Sgript i’r Sinema delivered in conjunction with NFTS Cymru Wales and S4C. 

 
The draft culture strategy also highlights the issue of Welsh language skills across 
the sectors in scope. 
 
The National Centre for Learning Welsh’s Cymraeg Gwaith programme provides 
Learn Welsh courses ranging from online self-study taster courses to intensive 
learning courses. As well as increasing the number of Welsh speakers and Welsh 
language use in workplaces, Cymraeg Gwaith also allows organisations to provide 
better Welsh language services to their users.  The Coleg Cymraeg also encourages 
more young people to study courses through the medium of Welsh when 
undertaking post-16 education and works to increase the capacity of Welsh-medium 
courses in key sectors.  
 
Financial implications: No additional financial implications 
 
Recommendation 3 
 
The Welsh Government, in partnership with trade unions and production companies, 
should identify best practice to ensure that workers can work in an environment free 
of discrimination, bullying and prejudice. The Welsh Government should report back 
to the Committee within six months on its progress with this recommendation.  
 
Response: Accept  
 
Creative Wales is taking forward a range of actions to help address discrimination, 
bullying and prejudice in the screen sector, working with trade unions and industry. 
This includes the development of actions in response to recommendation set out in 
the creative industries Policy and Evidence Centre (PEC) Good Work report, building 
on the success of the Well-being Facilitators project and the role of economic 
contracts in production funding, and engaging with the UK wide Creative Industries 
Independent Standards Agency. 
 
Financial implications: No financial implications. Any new initiatives developed to 
support this activity in 2024/25 will be subject to ministerial and budget agreement 
processes. 

 
Recommendation 4 
 
The Welsh Government and the Arts Council of Wales should review what additional 
resource is required by the arts, culture and music sectors to achieve equitable pay 
settlements and outline what additional support they can provide. This work should 
be completed in time for the next financial year.  
 

Pack Page 134



Response: Reject  
 
The Welsh Government is using the policy levers and influence it has to promote and 
encourage fair work.  This includes working in social partnership with cultural arms-
length bodies and trade unions, who represent workers in the cultural and creative 
sectors.   
 
We and our partners are aware of the issues we collectively face in seeking to 
improve pay, terms and conditions and the specific challenges in respect of 
freelancers.  We do not believe that an additional review would add value or improve 
our understanding of the issues, barriers and opportunities.    
 
We recognise employment law and industrial relations is not devolved and the UK 
Government has important reserved powers to improve workers rights’, raise legally 
enforceable standards, and strengthen the rights of freelancers.  The Employment 
Bill the UK Government promised in 2019 has failed to materialise. 
 
Welsh Government are also aware that there are other factors influencing pay, 
including scope and budget in the commercial marketplace, which are to be 
expected.  
 
Financial implications: No financial implications. 
 
Recommendation 5 
 
The Welsh Government should include provisions on fair pay and working conditions 
and the use of well-being facilitators in the forthcoming Culture Strategy.  
 
Response: Reject  
 
The draft Culture Strategy covers the arts, heritage, libraries, museums and archives 
sectors.  
 
The use of well-being facilitators is taking place in the creative industries sector 
which is outside of scope for the culture strategy.  
 
Fair pay, at least in line with union levels where relevant, is a requirement of all 

ACW’s funding opportunities. 

Financial implications: No financial implications. 
 
Recommendation 6 
 
The Welsh Government should mainstream contractual clauses on equality, diversity 
and inclusion within production funding agreements to improve equality, diversity and 
inclusion. The use of these should also be stipulated within the forthcoming Culture 
Strategy, and used wherever possible.  
 
Response: Accept in part 
 

Pack Page 135



Creative Wales is committed to using production funding to support improvements in 
key areas including skills, diversity and inclusion, sustainability and fair work. These 
work in tandem with the pledges within the economic contract, which all companies 
in receipt of production funding support must sign up to on a rolling basis.  
 
We already require applicants for funding to demonstrate that they have a 
commitment to diversity, inclusivity and sustainability. Plans are in place to further 
develop funding criteria related to these issues, using specialist guidance as a base, 
such as the BFI diversity and inclusion standards and the mental health toolkit 
issued by the Film & TV Charity.  
 
All recipients of Creative Wales Production Funding are contractually committed to 
provide paid trainee placements, both at entry level and upskilling levels.  Production 
companies are obliged to ensure all placements are recruited on a fair and 
transparent basis to support the development of an equal, diverse and inclusive 
workforce within the screen sector in Wales.  
 
The draft Culture Strategy includes a clear ambition around ensuring that culture is 
inclusive, accessible and diverse. Supported by the Anti-racist Wales Action Plan 
commitments for culture, this ambition will remain an area of focus for all sectors. 
Within the Anti-racist Wales Action Plan, we have committed to working with our 
sponsored bodies to ensure they use their spending powers to embed anti-racist 
practices, facilitate equality of access and outcomes and maximise participation for 
Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic People. The Plan also includes a specific goal and 
a set of actions which holds accountable funded organisations to deliver on anti-
racist measures. 
  
The draft Culture Strategy cannot include actions around the use of specific 
contractual clauses because of the wide range of contractual contexts which exist 
across the sectors.  
 
Widening Engagement is one of ACW’s six principles which guides its work and 

investment in the arts. This is routinely assessed as part of any funding opportunity - 

including at the recent Investment Review - in terms of who makes work, who the 

work is for and the governance and staffing of organisations and projects.  

Financial implications: No financial implications 
 
Recommendation 7 
 
The Welsh Government should work with the Arts Council of Wales and the 
academic partners to outline how it can improve data collection on equality, diversity 
and inclusion. The Welsh Government should report back to the Committee within 
three months on how it intends to achieve this. 
 
Response: Accept in principle 
 
The recently launched Memorandum of Understanding between Creative Wales and 
the Arts Council of Wales includes commitments to work together to share data and 

Pack Page 136



gather research and evidence related to equality, diversity and inclusion in sectors 
within their remit.  
 
In addition, the draft Culture Strategy has identified the need for a strategic and 
collaborative approach in relation to research and data collection across the whole of 
our cultural sector and this is captured as an ambition statement in the draft strategy.  
The Anti-racist Wales Action Plan also sets out the need for publicly funded 
organisations to capture ethnic diversity data and implement steps to increase ethnic 
diversity at all levels of the organisation. 
 
We will provide an update on progress within three months. 
 
Financial implications: No financial implications 
 
Recommendation 8 
 
We recommend that the Welsh Government increases the funding available through 
the Creative Skills Fund and works with industry to identify future skills gaps. 
 
Response: Accept in principle  
 
The three-year Creative Skills Action Plan already commits to a circa £1M annual 
Creative Skills Fund, which will seek to support projects that deliver against the 10 
identified priority areas. In the context of the finite budget available to Creative Wales 
to support activity across our priority sub-sectors and areas of focus, this represents 
a significant proportion of the revenue budget on an annual basis. However, we take 
every opportunity to maximise the support that’s made available to skills and talent 
development in the sector, exploring all options to lever additional investment, 
including through partnership projects with match funding to ensure maximum value 
for money.   
 
Financial implications: No additional financial implications. Any new funding to 
deliver related activity in 2024/25 will be subject to ministerial and budget agreement 
processes. 
 
Recommendation 9 
 
The Welsh Government should provide longer term (beyond 2024) funded support 
for skills development in the creative industries. 
 
Response: Accept  
 
We are already providing support beyond 2024 as outlined in the Creative Skills 
Action Plan, which runs until September 2025 and commits to a circa £1M annual 
Creative Skills Fund, which will seek to support projects that deliver against the 10 
identified priority areas.   
 
In the recently published MOU between ACW and Creative Wales, skills has been 
identified as an area of shared priority, with a commitment to collaborate further.  
 

Pack Page 137



Financial implications: No additional financial implications. Any new funding to 
deliver related activity in 2024/25 will be subject to ministerial and budget agreement 
processes. 

 
Recommendation 10 
 
The Welsh Government should undertake joint working with schools, education 
providers and the creative industries to ensure that young people are aware of the 
range of career opportunities, and have the required skills, to work in the creative 
industries. The Welsh Government should report back to the Committee by the end 
of March 2024 with an outline of how it will do this.  
 
Response: Accept  
 
A key priority of the three-year Creative Skills Action Plan is to demystify careers 
within the music, digital media and screen sectors with a focus to support initiatives 
which make career pathways clearer, roles more visible across all priority sectors 
and demonstrate how to access the industry easily.  Initiatives which raise career 
aspirations for young people from underrepresented groups are of particular interest.   
 
A number of current projects supported via the Creative Skills Fund already address 
this area; a new Screen Academies network which places classrooms within four 
working film studios across Wales.  Screen Alliance Wales, who deliver the Screen 
Academies, work with Careers Wales and every Local Authority in Wales and have 
recorded over 400 school visits to-date; Beacons Cymru a music initiative delivering 
strands such as SUMMIT 2024 an innovative music industry conference, designed 
and delivered by young people for young people in Wales and Bŵts, a new bilingual 
series of career awareness videos illuminating important routes into the music 
industry workforce and Gêm, a new games hub run by Media Academy Cymru with 
BTEC levels 1 -3 in games design which aims to develop a creative workforce which 
reflects all communities. 
 
Careers Wales currently works with all secondary schools, special schools, Pupil 

Referral Units and colleges, supporting young people to become more effective at 

planning and managing their careers.. In addition, the digital tools produced by 

Careers Wales help learners explore potential career pathways, including pathways 

relating to creative industries and details relating to creative industries further and 

higher education courses.  

Other related activities organised by Careers Wales include: 

• two virtual “Careers Discovery Weeks” a year – one for primary schools and 

one for secondary schools, including a series of employer-led challenges, 

with accompanying teacher resources, linked to each of the six Areas of 

Learning and Experience in the Curriculum for Wales; these both include 

creative industry content. 

• a large-scale creative industries event in conjunction with various key 

stakeholders from the sector; as well as a series of regional careers fairs, 

branded as “Choose Your Future”, with many creative sector employers 

represented. 

Pack Page 138

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcareerswales.gov.wales%2Fplan-your-career%2Fskills-and-strengths&data=05%7C01%7CGareth.Beynon%40gov.wales%7C1e5bf4dd09fb4f9fe6ab08dbe7723b11%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C638358250022909672%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=joh0iZnQyLs0WP0e%2BN4rbL%2BdqQw1EKg3rkXIEN4C1bo%3D&reserved=0


In the area of music, the National Plan for Music Education sets out a work strand, 

“Making music with others – performing and creative industries”, through which the 

National Music Service is working with key partners including local authorities, Urdd 

Gobaith Cymru, Creative Wales, the Arts Council of Wales and the wider creative 

sector, to help signpost young people in accessing career pathways into the creative 

industries. This includes providing routes and information on apprenticeships into 

other music industry careers, to be made available to schools, settings and young 

people, and supporting development of practitioners’ skills in recording and 

production and industry knowledge and experience. 

The Arts Council of Wales has also been involved in career development initiatives 

around the Expressive Arts and is engaged in helping to develop the Seren approach 

to Expressive Arts and will work in partnership with education consortia and partners 

to further support career pathways. 

Financial implications: No additional financial implications. Careers Wales is a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Welsh Government; their work, supporting education 
with young people, parents, education providers and employers, is funded through 
their core grant from the Welsh Government, which for 2023-24 amounts to a total of 
£20m. The National Music Service is currently supported with Welsh Government 
grant funding of £13.5 million, covering the period 2022-23 to 2024-2025 (equating to 
£4.5 million per annum). 
 
Recommendation 11 
 
The Welsh Government should urgently undertake an assessment of the financial 
health of arts venues in Wales in collaboration with the Arts Council of Wales, the 
Music Venues Trust and other suitable organisations. This assessment should be 
completed before the next financial year in order to allow for any further support to 
be provided if required. 
 
Response: Not a recommendation for the Welsh Government. Reviewing the 
financial health of arts venues in Wales is a matter for the Arts Council of Wales. 
 
ACW already holds data on the financial health of the 67 revenue funded 

organisations that are part of the current Arts Portfolio Wales, which includes venues.  

Additionally, ACW is currently undertaking a review of the capital needs of arts 

venues across Wales.  

Officials liaise with grass roots music venues all over Wales regularly and are aware 

of any that are facing difficulty. Since its launch in 2020, Creative Wales has invested 

just under £9m in music venues, recording studios, rehearsal spaces and suppliers. 

Another round of significant funding for grass roots venues has just been 

announced.  

Financial implications: No financial implications.  
 
Recommendation 12 
 

Pack Page 139



The Welsh Government should urgently undertake an assessment of the health of 
the cinema sector in collaboration with Ffilm Cymru. This assessment should be 
completed before the next financial year in order to allow for any further support to 
be provided if required. 
 
Response: Accept in principle 
 
Support for cinemas is provided across a number of partners. Creative Wales will 
engage with the Arts Council of Wales and other partners, as appropriate, to explore 
this recommendation further.  
 
Financial implications: No financial implications. Any new funding to deliver related 
activity in 2024/25 will be subject to ministerial and budget agreement processes. 
 
Recommendation 13 
 
The Welsh Government should review the outcomes of the Irish Government’s Basic 
Income for the Arts pilot at the appropriate time.  
 
Response: Accept  
 
The Welsh Government has met with the Irish Government to discuss the Basic 
Income for Arts pilot and the research programme that has been put in place to 
assess its impact on artists, creative arts workers and the arts sector. This is a long-
term, three year programme, and we will continue to engage with officials in Ireland 
during this process. We are also taking the opportunity to learn from the Welsh 
Government’s own Basic Income for Care Leavers in Wales pilot, as appropriate. 
 
Financial implications: No financial implications.  
 
 
Dawn Bowden MS 
Deputy Minister for Arts, Sport and Tourism 
 

Pack Page 140



Jeremy Miles AS/MS 
Gweinidog y Gymraeg ac Addysg  

Minister for Education and Welsh Language  
 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Jeremy.Miles@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence.Jeremy.Miles@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17 Ionawr 2024 
 
 
Annwyl Delyth  
 
Thank you very much for your letter of 11 December on behalf of the Culture, 
Communications, Welsh Language, Sport and International Relations Committee relating to 
the Welsh language in banking. 
 
I have received several pieces of correspondence from members of the public recently 
responding to HSBC's decision to close their Welsh language telephone service. My 
response to them has been consistent; namely, that the news is extremely disappointing 
and that I am committed to increasing the use of our language. This is a priority for the 
Welsh Government and central to our strategy, Cymraeg 2050.  
 
The Welsh Government has a Memorandum of Understanding with the Welsh Language 
Commissioner. In the Memorandum, the area of banking is the responsibility of the 
Commissioner. However, it is my intention to correspond with the heads of banking services 
in Wales to reinforce the importance of the Welsh language within the sector and to 
persuade the sector to increase their use of Welsh. 
 
I know that the Commissioner has already met with HSBC to discuss the company's 
decision. While there has been no suggestion that the decision will be overturned, HSBC 
has agreed to consider how to improve customer awareness of the Welsh language 
services they still offer. The Commissioner has confirmed that she will work with banks to do 
the following: 
 

• Include information on their website stating what Welsh language service is available 
from which bank and building society and update this annually; 

• Maintain proactive relationships with the banks and building associations; 

• Arrange a visit with heads and senior officials of banks and building societies during 
2024. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 141

Agenda Item 4.3

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Jeremy.Miles@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Jeremy.Miles@gov.wales


 

 

 

We will continue to target sectors that are beyond the scope of the Welsh Language 

(Wales) Bill 2011 through the Helo Blod service. The service is going from strength to 

strength and providing direct and proactive support to businesses to use more Welsh. This 

work goes hand in hand with the Commissioner's provision to the private sector, so we will 

continue to work together in shaping our services for these sectors.  

 
I hope that the above information will be useful to the committee to gain an understanding of 
the work already underway in this area. If you have any further questions, please do not 
hesitate to contact me. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Jeremy Miles MS 
Minister for Education and Welsh Language  
 
 

Pack Page 142



 

 

 

 

 

 

18 January 2024 

Welsh Government Draft Budget 2024-25 

Dear Vaughan and Dawn 

Thank you for appearing at the Committee’s meeting on Wednesday 16 January 2024 to give 

evidence for our scrutiny of the Welsh Government’s Draft Budget 2024-25. The Committee would 

like to follow-up on some issues discussed, and we would be grateful to receive the additional 

information outlined below. 

Prioritising spending to safeguard the national collections 

As a Committee, we acknowledge the exceptionally difficult decisions you have to make regarding 

next year’s budget. We would, however, like to know why you aren’t prioritising the need to address 

existing risks to the national collections over some of the other spending commitments you have 

made. We would ask what consideration you have given to pausing spending on other commitments, 

such as the Museum for North Wales, over protecting the precious items already in the national 

collection. 

Remit letters and Culture Strategy 

You told us that the long-awaited Culture Strategy will be published by the end of the year. We would 

like to know what changes you are making to the strategy in light of reduced budgets, as well as what 

has changed when it comes to your expectations of the arms-length bodies regarding the strategy.  

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddDiwylliant@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDiwylliant 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddCulture@senedd.wales  

senedd.wales/SeneddCulture 
0300 200 6565 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, Cyfathrebu, y Gymraeg, 
Chwaraeon, a Chysylltiadau Rhyngwladol 
— 
Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, 
Sport, and International Relations 
Committee 

Vaughan Gething MS 

Minister for Economy 

Dawn Bowden MS 

Deputy Minister for Arts, Sport and Tourism 

Welsh Government 

Pack Page 143

Agenda Item 4.4



 

 

Redundancies in arms-length bodies 

We would like an outline of the discussions you’ve had with arms-length bodies funded by your 

department regarding any redundancies they may have to make. We would ask that this include what 

support, including financial, you are able to provide in the next financial year to assist them with this. 

National Contemporary Art Gallery 

We note that you confirmed that you will be taking a decision regarding the anchor site by the end of 

March 2024. Given the long lead-in-time this project has already experienced, we are concerned that 

any further delay in decision-making relating to the anchor site could be the worst of all worlds, as 

this could lead to stasis. We think its important that decisions are made as soon as possible and would 

welcome further assurances from you that there won’t be any delay in the timetable.  

Entrance fees to attractions currently free 

We would like an outline of any discussions you have had relating to introducing entrance fees to 

attractions that are currently free of charge. We would ask that this include details of any models you 

have used to inform such discussions (that is, learning from other models or examples elsewhere, and 

so on).  

Due to the curtailed scrutiny period for the Draft Budget, we would request a response by no later 

than 26 January 2024. 

Yours sincerely 

 

Delyth Jewell MS 

Committee Chair 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Pack Page 144



 

 

 

 

 

 

16 January 2024 

Scrutiny of the Welsh Government’s Draft Budget for 2024-25 

Dear Mark, 

I am writing to you following our consideration of your written evidence for the Draft Budget 2024-25 

on 11 January 2024. We would be grateful if you could provide further information on a number of 

points. 

Whilst we were grateful to receive the paper you provided, we regret that the information falls 

significantly below the standard we had expected. Large discrepancies in the evidence has prevented 

us from considering the information with any confidence. We are unclear as to the amount of the 

budget allocations for International Relations within the Draft Budget for 2024-25. This is of major 

concern to us as a Committee.  

Figures included in the Draft Budget published on 19 December 2023 indicated that £8.383m would 

be allocated to the International Relations Budget Expenditure Line (“BEL”) in 2024-25. This has been 

revised down, as further savings of £290,000 had been identified, and a transfer of £350,000 will be  

made to the Social Justice Main Expenditure Group (“MEG”). The revised figure is £7.743million; a 

reduction of 8.3 per cent from 2023-24. 

If correct, these revised headline figures do not, however, correlate to the breakdown of spending 

within the International Relations BEL contained in your letter. According to our calculations, and 

assuming that all the costs outlined in the breakdown come from within the International Relations 

BEL, the amounts listed to deliver some parts of the International Strategy would result in a overspend 

in 2024-25: 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddDiwylliant@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDiwylliant 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddCulture@senedd.wales  

senedd.wales/SeneddCulture 
0300 200 6565 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, Cyfathrebu, y Gymraeg, 
Chwaraeon, a Chysylltiadau Rhyngwladol 
— 
Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, 
Sport, and International Relations 
Committee 

Mark Drakeford MS 

First Minister  

Welsh Government 

Pack Page 145

https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s500010491/Response%20from%20the%20First%20Minister%20Welsh%20Government%20Draft%20Budget%202024-25%20-%2020%20December%202023.pdf


 

 

Budget description Draft Budget Allocation 

International Engagement 3,059,000 

International offices 5,434,000 

Total  8,493,000 

Given that £7.743million has been allocated for 2024-25, this would mean there is a £750,000 or 9.7 

per cent overspend. This calculation does not include other amounts mentioned in your written 

evidence and elsewhere, such as funding for Wales’s peace academy, Academi Heddwch (this is listed 

as £140,918 for the current financial year). We would request that you urgently clarify these 

inconsistencies.  

We are also concerned by the lack of detail relating to the transfer of £350,000 to the Social Justice 

MEG. This transfer from the International Relations BEL to the International Development budget does 

not reappear after it shows up as a deduction in the International Relations BEL in your written 

evidence. This matter is further complicated by the fact that the ‘International Development’ BEL, 

referenced throughout your written evidence, does not appear in the 2024-25 Draft Budget, as with 

previous budgets. There is a BEL for ‘International Sustainable Development’ in the Social Justice MEG 

of the 2024-25 Draft Budget, the figure in which is £1.050m. This corresponds to the figure given for 

‘International Development’ in your evidence to us. The two terms are not, however, interchangeable 

and the £350,000 transfer does not reappear in the International Sustainable Development BEL, 

regardless. We would welcome an explanation as to why this transfer does not re-appear in the Draft 

Budget.   

These two issues compound our previous concerns relating to the lack of clarity we’ve received 

relating to previous Draft Budgets. It is regrettable that you have not agreed to give oral evidence to 

our Committee, so that we might explore these inconsistencies with you. We think that providing 

clear, accurate and timely information, accompanied by an oral evidence session, would resolve most 

of these issues. In order to correct these inconsistencies, we would request that you attend a 

Committee meeting before the end of the scrutiny process for the Draft Budget to discuss these 

issues. If that is not possible, we would request that you attend a meeting of the Committee before 

you finish your term as First Minister.  

A request for additional information is outlined in the Annex attached to this letter.  

I look forward to receiving your response by no later than 24 January 2024.  

Yours sincerely 

Pack Page 146



 

 

 

Delyth Jewell MS 

Committee Chair 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

 

Annex: Additional information required for consideration of Draft Budget 

2024-25 

In addition to the information outlined in the letter, we would like to request the following: 

▪ An explanation of the discrepancy of £750,000 as outlined; 

▪ Comprehensive breakdowns of planned spending within the BEL including International 

Engagement and International Offices; 

▪ Information relating to outputs, outcomes, impacts and value for money for each area of 

expenditure within the International Relations BEL; 

▪ Allocations and comparisons with planned spend for 2024-25 against 2023-24; 

▪ Information on the apparent increase in the International Engagement budget for 2024-

25, including where this money has come from, what activities and outcomes this will 

deliver; 

▪ Clarification on all spending noted within your written evidence, including projects such as 

Academi Heddwch; 

▪ Information on how you have prioritised your spending including what savings you have 

identified (and the rationale for doing so); 

▪ An outline of further potential challenges and prioritisations you may need to take in 

future years; 

▪ On the involvement and funding requirements of strategic partners responsible for 

delivering the International Strategy :  

Pack Page 147



 

 

▪ Confirmation of what steps were taken to obtain key financial information from 

strategic partners during the Draft Budget’s development, and prior to its 

publication on 19 December 2023; 

▪ The Welsh Government’s contingency plan if strategic partners report in Q1 

that the reduced Draft Budget is insufficient to deliver their responsibilities 

under the International Strategy. 

▪ A breakdown of planned spending on priority relationships identified in the International 

Strategy for 2024-25; 

▪ The rationale for renaming the International Development BEL as the International 

Sustainable Development BEL, including what difference this has made to the spending 

under this BEL; 

▪ Comprehensive breakdowns of planned spending under the International Sustainable 

Development BEL; 

▪ Why the £350,000 MEG to MEG transfer from the International Relations BEL to cover 

costs of Wales and Africa does not reappear as an incoming transfer on the 2024-25 Draft 

Budget; and 

▪ A list of emergency appeals supported by the Welsh Government in the 2023-24 budget 

year, where this funding came from, and current plans for support relating to global 

conflicts in the 2024-25 Draft Budget. 

▪ Information on major/international events, including specific budget allocations for 2023-

24, and details of any planned events and current planned spending for 2024-25.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 148



 

 

 

 

16 January 2024 

Welsh Government Draft Budget 2024-25 

Dear Jeremy, 

Thank you for appearing at the Committee’s meeting on Thursday, 11 January 2024 to give evidence 

for our scrutiny of the Welsh Government’s Draft Budget 2024-25. The Committee would like to 

follow-up on some issues discussed, and would be grateful to receive the additional information 

outlined below. 

As discussed during the scrutiny session, in order for Cymraeg 2050 to be a success, the aims and 

objectives of the strategy need to be “mainstreamed” across the work of all government departments. 

Every Minister and Deputy Minister has an important role to play in supporting the development and 

growth of the language, to help build Welsh speaking capacity and create opportunities for its use 

across Wales. At present, the contribution each government department makes to the aims of 

Cymraeg 2050, and the impact of that work on Welsh language development is unclear to us.  

The Committee wants to gain a fuller understanding of the range of activities and expenditure across 

government departments that are contributing towards Cymraeg 2050 objectives. As such, it is 

important to us that we have information about the wider impact of budget cuts in other 

governments departments on Welsh language policy development and interventions.  

The Committee would also welcome an update following the planned discussions between officials, 

Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol, and the National Centre for Learning Welsh to better understand how 

the proposed budget cuts might affect post-16 Welsh language provision and Welsh learners. 

The Committee understands that it will not be possible to provide this information in time to inform 

its scrutiny of the draft budget and before it is due to report its findings to the Senedd. We would 

nevertheless be grateful, however, if you could outline an indicative timeframe for collation and 

reporting of this information so that we might incorporate this into our future work plans.  

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddDiwylliant@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDiwylliant 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddCulture@senedd.wales  

senedd.wales/SeneddCulture 
0300 200 6565 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, Cyfathrebu, y Gymraeg, 
Chwaraeon, a Chysylltiadau Rhyngwladol 
— 
Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, 
Sport and International Relations 
Committee 

Jeremy Miles MS 

Minister for Education and Welsh Language 

Welsh Government 

Pack Page 149



 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

Delyth Jewell MS  

Committee Chair 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

 

Pack Page 150



 
Patrons: Sir Simon Jenkins FSA, FRSL.  Dr Euwyn Wiliam MA, PhD, FSA 

 
 

Dear Deputy Minister, 

 

PROPOSED BUDGET CUTS TO THE ROYAL COMMISSION ON THE ANCIENT 

AND HISTORIC MONUMENTS OF WALES 

 

On behalf of Discovering Old Welsh Houses, I would like to express our deep shock and 

concern at the proposed cuts to the Royal Commission’s baseline grant for 2024-5. Even in 

an age of austerity, a 25% cut seems to be particularly savage. It will undermine the 

Commission’s ability to enhance public understanding and enjoyment of Wales’s unique 

heritage. We understand that the cuts will not even cover the redundancy costs necessary to 

restructure the organisation. With equally severe cuts planned for Cadw, we are baffled as to 

why the Welsh Government has singled out our heritage for such draconian treatment. It 

stands in marked contrast to the generous additional spending on arts and culture announced 

last month by the Scottish Deputy First Minister who believes that ‘the transformational 

power of our culture is immense’ and acknowledges its power to enable ‘individuals and 

organisations to realise their potential’.  

 

This belief in the enabling power of heritage strikes a chord with us. Discovering Old Welsh 

Houses is an active group of over 200 members that works hard to raise public appreciation 

of the smaller historic houses of North Wales, especially the rich legacy of farm houses. It 

has a busy schedule of public meetings and workshops and a publicly accessible digital 

archive of many hundreds of house histories, architectural and scientific dating reports, most 

of them compiled by volunteers. Over the last twenty years, the Royal Commission has been 

our valued partner, promoting our work and helping our members learn new skills. In 

addition, our partnership has, over the years, helped us raise over £250,000 from public, 

charitable and private sources for our survey work—all accessible on our website and that of 

the Commission. This has raised international awareness of Wales’s unique traditional 

buildings. The loss of the Royal Commission’s support would be a grievous blow to the 

voluntary heritage sector. Please think again. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Janice Dale, 

 

Chair, Discovering Old Welsh Houses.  

   
Cc Delyth Jewell, MS Chair of the Senedd Senedd Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, 

and International Relations Committee 

Delyth.Jewell@senedd.wales  

 

 
www.discoveringoldwelshhouses.co.uk registered charity no 1131782 

Pack Page 151

mailto:Delyth.Jewell@senedd.wales
http://www.discoveringoldwelshhouses.co.uk/


 

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 152



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Cyrnol (wedi ymddeol) / Colonel (Retired) Nick Lock OBE 
Cadeirydd Dros Dro yr Ymddiriedolwyr/Acting Chair of Trustees 

Amgueddfa'r Ffiwsilwyr Brenhinol Cymreig / The Royal Welch Fusiliers Museum 
Castell Caernarfon / Caernarfon Castle 

  
 

16th January 2024 

 
 
Dear Deputy Minister, 
 
I write on behalf of the Trustees of the Royal Welch Fusiliers Museum, which is based at 
Caernarfon Castle.  
 
We would like to request that the Welsh Government reconsiders its draft decision to impose a cut 
of 22.3% in funding to Cadw which we believe will lead to significant consequences for the RWF 
Museum.  
 
The Museum has been based in the castle since 1960 and is the largest military museum in 
Wales. We curate 22,000 artefacts and documents within an internationally important historical 
collection. Our collection and exhibition depicts three hundred years of military service by Wales’ 
oldest infantry regiment. The Museum receives 100,000 visitors each year, many of whom are 
from overseas and only visit Caernarfon Castle to see our collection. We also deliver educational 
programs, in support of the new Welsh curriculum, to 3,400 students annually and our online 
platforms also engage with over 200,000 viewers and researchers. 
 
The Museum is currently funded through annual grants from Cadw (£95,000) and the MOD 
(£24,000) along with private donations, sponsorship and sales from the Museum shop. The 
Museum is set to lose its MOD funding in 2030 so have invested in recent years in a transitional 
plan which aims to grow income from private donations and sponsors to replace our non-Cadw 
funding and ensure our sustainability but any significant change in our annual Cadw grant will 
severely hamper and jeopardise our efforts. 
 
We note that the Welsh Government’s draft budget proposes that all other cultural and heritage 
organisations will face funding cuts of just 10% and are concerned that there seems to be no 
justification for Cadw facing cuts of 22.3%, especially given its statutory obligations. 
 
The Museum’s relationship with Cadw is excellent. Cadw has acknowledged the work that we do 
to attract visitors to both the Museum and Caernarfon Castle and appreciates that the Museum is 
an integral part of the offer to visitors to Caernarfon Castle, we are therefore very concerned that 
Cadw has notified the Trustees of impending cuts to the Museum’s grant in a bid to meet their 
significantly smaller budget. 
 
While the Museum recognises the financial challenges faced by the Welsh Government the reality 
is that if Cadw is forced to pass on the full 22.3% cut then the immediate future of the Museum will 
be unsustainable. 
 

1 

Pack Page 153



 

 

Given that more that 100,000 men served in the Regiment in the First World War and a sizeable 
number during the Second World War, many families across Wales share their family history with 
the Royal Welch Fusiliers. The poets Hedd Wyn, Robert Graves and David Jones, as well as 
artists such as Kyffin Williams all served with the Regiment. Many of their manuscripts and 
paintings are on display at the Museum. It would be a tragedy if these collections were no longer 
accessible. 
 
Given the above, the Museum Trustees would urge the Welsh Government to reconsider the 
proposed cuts to Cadw’s budget in order to ensure that the RWF Museum and the unique Welsh 
heritage for which we are responsible, is able to survive and will be accessible for all. 

 
Yours Faithfully 

 
Nick Lock 

 
 
 
Copies to: 
 
Member of - Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International Relations 
Committee 

Darren Millar MS - Chair Cross Party Armed Forces and Cadets Committee 

Pack Page 154



 

 
 

Delyth Jewell MS 
Chair Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport and International Relations Committee 
Welsh Parliament 
Cardiff Bay 
CF99 1SN  

 
By email: Delyth.Jewell@senedd.wales 
          16th January 2024 
 
Dear Ms Jewell, 

 
Re: Proposed Budget Cuts to Cadw and Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical 
Monuments of Wales (RCAHMW). 

I am writing to you on behalf of the Wales Heritage Group regarding the cuts proposed to both Cadw 

and the Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Wales (RCAHMW) in the 

draft budget 2024-25, announced in December 2023. 

The Wales Heritage Group is an alliance of statutory consultees and voluntary national organisations 

active in the conservation of the historic environment in Wales. Heritage is vital for social, economic 

and environmental wellbeing of people and communities in Wales. It is key in promoting sustainable 

development supporting wider regeneration, catalysing investment and enhancing skills for jobs.  

Disproportionate Funding Cuts 

Whilst we recognise that the Welsh Government, like the UK more broadly, cannot escape the 

current economic climate where tough choices about where to make funding cuts are needed, the 

Wales Heritage Group are deeply concerned by the extent of the proposed cut of 22.3% to the core 

revenue funding of both Cadw and the Royal Commission. In real terms this amounts to a c27% cut, 

almost a third of their core funding. The sustainability of both bodies, and as a result the important 

work they do, will be catastrophically impacted. It is impossible to see an operational future for the 

RCAHMW following such a severe cut. Cadw will need to scale back all but their core statutory 

purposes. This will massively impact the ability of both bodies to deliver against Wales’s Well-being 

of Future Generations Act, to which essential and highly valued contributions are currently made in 

relation to the historic environment. 

Cadw and the Royal Commission are the two bodies that care for and promote an understanding of 

Wales’s historic environment and heritage. The Welsh landscape, its buried archaeology and its built 

heritage are the physical record of how people have been interacting with the natural environment 

in Wales for thousands of years; essentially, the record of Wales’s evolution as place and a nation. 

Not only do these arms-length heritage bodies care for and manage Wales’s historic environment, 

but they also facilitate people’s interaction with and enjoyment of it. Thousands of connections 

between current generations and the places that help define a sense of Welsh identity are enabled 

through their work and the small grants Cadw make to small independent heritage bodies to fulfil 

Pack Page 155

mailto:Delyth.Jewell@senedd.wales


 

 
this mission. Cadw’s grant aid for small, localised projects makes possible the participation of people 

with their place in a way that holds resonance and meaning for them. The fragility of the eco-system 

of small heritage organisations, where small grants enable the (often voluntary) work of local people 

to live the goals set out in The Well-being of Future Generations Act according to the Social Value 

Framework, should not be underestimated.  

Impact of the Cuts 

The members of the Wales Heritage Group deliver national and local heritage projects which benefit 

the people of Wales through the conservation of their heritage and opportunities for individuals and 

communities to be involved with and learn about their heritage. This helps develop a sense of 

identity, promotes well-being and economic regeneration, and helps heritage act as a vital part of 

Welsh culture and tourism. Our members rely on grant funding from Cadw to achieve these goals, 

and cuts to this funding will directly impact our ability to carry out our work in Wales. 

Heritage organisations are the very bedrock of grassroots and community heritage in Wales and will 

be further impacted by these cuts, on top of the major disruption of the pandemic, causing long-

term damage to heritage in Wales and thereby the benefits which heritage delivers for Welsh people. 

We ask for clarification on why heritage has been targeted so disproportionately for funding cuts, in 

comparison to 10.5% cuts to other arts and cultural bodies such as the Arts Council Wales, 

Amgueddfa Cymru, National Library, Sport Wales and the National Botanic Garden. We consider that 

an urgent review of the proposed cuts is required to avoid long-term damage to the heritage of 

Wales. 

Yours sincerely,  

 

Alison Edwards 

Secretary, Wales Heritage Group 

Pack Page 156



Y Gwir Anrh/Rt Hon Mark Drakeford AS/MS 
Prif Weinidog Cymru/First Minister of Wales 

 
 
 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru 

               Correspondence.Mark.Drakefordy@gov.wales  

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni 

fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received 

in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Delyth Jewell MS  
Chair  
Culture, Communication, Welsh Language, Sport  
and International Relations Committee  
Senedd Cymru 
 

 
 

16 January 2024 
 
 
 
Dear Delyth 

 
I would like to thank the members of the Committee for their ‘International Relations 
Annual Report 2022-23’ following the conclusion of their inquiry into our international 
relations activity. 
 
I have set out my response to the report’s individual recommendations below.  
 

Yours sincerely, 

 
MARK DRAKEFORD 

Pack Page 157

Agenda Item 4.5

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Mark.Drakefordy@gov.wales


Detailed Responses to the Committee’s Recommendations 
 

 
Recommendation 1 
We repeat our request and reiterate our statements made during the previous 
draft budget, that more detailed information is provided to the Committee to 
assist its scrutiny. This should include details of the outcomes and outputs 
that will be delivered in draft budget allocations to support the Welsh 
Government’s international relations work, including delivery of the 
International Strategy and its action plans.  
 

 
Response: Accept 
 
The Committee wrote on 25 October requesting detailed information on the draft 
budget 2024-25 as it relates to International Relations. A separate response will be 
issued to the Committee with regards to the budget. The publication of our annual 
overseas network report is just one of the methods that we use to report on our 
outcomes.  
 
Financial Implications 
N/A. 
 

 
Recommendation 2 
We call on the First Minister to provide oral evidence in person for draft budget 
scrutiny. 
 

 
Response: See below 
 
On 2 November, my office informed the Committee that I would not be giving oral 
evidence relating to the Welsh Government’s Draft Budget 2024-25 and would 
instead provide a written paper.  
 
I trust that my response to your request on budget information submitted to the 
Committee is satisfactory. As before, I stand ready to assist the Committee with any 
further written information that may be required following your consideration of the 
evidence. 
 
Financial Implications 
N/A. 
 

 
Recommendation 3 
We request a progress update against the short- and medium-term actions 
listed in the International Strategy’s actions plans. 
 

 
Response: Accept 
 

Pack Page 158



As part of the review of the International Strategy in 2024, and any decisions to 
refresh our priorities, officials will provide the Committee with a progress update on 
the action plans.  
 
We also plan to publish our Overseas Network Annual Report again later this year. 
This will set out the range of activity that is being undertaken to deliver against the 
actions in the International Strategy and Action Plans.  
 
Financial Implications 
None. Any additional costs will be drawn from existing programme budgets. 
 

 
Recommendation 4 
The Welsh Government should produce a dedicated EU strategy. 
 
Recommendation 5  
If recommendation 4 is not accepted, the Welsh Government should be more 
explicit in setting out its priorities as they relate to UK-EU, and Wales-EU 
relations.  
 
Recommendation 6  
The Welsh Government should set out how it will make the ‘European 
dimension’ of the International Strategy more explicit, as described by the 
First Minister. 
 
Recommendation 7 
The Welsh Government should include the EU as one of its priority 
relationships. 
 

 
Response: See below 
 
The economic relationship between Wales and the EU is vital to us and should be 
enhanced by the relationship between the UK and the EU. As I mentioned at the 
Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee in September, I do not agree that a 
separate EU strategy is needed at this time. Our focus is on delivering the 
International Strategy, which includes our relationship with Europe.  The retention of 
our office in Brussels, and the creation of a dedicated representative for the EU, 
affirms our commitment that Wales places a high value on our relations with Europe 
and the European Union.  
 
As I explained in my follow-up letter to that Committee on 18 October, the focus and 
foundation of any developments of the relationship with the EU should be around 
recreating an economic relationship that works for both sides. The longer-term and 
fuller development of a deeper economic relationship, based on a better political co-
operation between the UK and the EU, will realistically only be able to take place 
after both the European Parliament elections and the appointment of a new 
European Commission in mid-2024, and after the next UK general election. In the 
meantime, there will be a soft refresh of the International Strategy before the end of 
this Senedd term, and we will use this opportunity to make the European dimension 
more explicit.  
 

Pack Page 159



Financial Implications 
None. Any additional costs will be drawn from existing programme budgets. 
 

 
Recommendation 8  
The Welsh Government should set out its approach to the 2025-26 review of 
the Trade and Cooperation Agreement.  
 

 
Response: Accept in principle 
 
The scope and nature of the review of the TCA will be determined by wider political 
developments, including European Parliament elections, the appointment of a new 
European Commission, and the next UK general election. It is therefore premature to 
set out an approach at this stage. In the meantime, our focus is on ensuring TCA 
arrangements work as effectively as possible and on continuing to improve UK 
Government engagement with the Welsh Government, building on the Inter-
Ministerial Group on UK-EU Relations. I note that the Legislation, Justice and 
Constitution Committee recently published its report of its Inquiry into UK-EU 
governance https://senedd.wales/media/3jvbyvys/cr-ld16176-e.pdf . We will respond 
to it in due course. The Senedd will wish to take that response into account in 
assessing the evolving Welsh Government approach to the UK-EU relationship and 
the operation and evolution of the TCA. 
 
Financial Implications 
None. Any additional costs will be drawn from existing programme budgets. 
 

 
Recommendation 9 
We call on the Welsh Government to clarify when costs related to overseas 
travel will next be published. 
 
Recommendation 10  
We call on the Welsh Government to publish costs in accordance with the 
commitment made by the First Minister to publish the latest costs after the 
end of each financial year. 
 

 
Response: Accept 
 
The Welsh Government published the latest costs for ministerial travel overseas 
costing more than £500 per trip, together with the total cost of all Ministers’ visits 
overseas, in September 2023: https://www.gov.wales/ministerial-code-information-
publication-6th-senedd .  This information is published as soon as possible after the 
end of the financial year.  
 
Financial Implications 
None. Any additional costs will be drawn from existing programme budgets. 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 160

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.wales%2Fministerial-code-information-publication-6th-senedd&data=05%7C01%7CRebecca.Dunn%40gov.wales%7Ca2b38746b1dc4abdfcc108dbf0de4b7d%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C638368609753854650%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=5drwhg7nGzJKu%2BRI2Du5oCmkhyxansxEvMS7eae76Gs%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.wales%2Fministerial-code-information-publication-6th-senedd&data=05%7C01%7CRebecca.Dunn%40gov.wales%7Ca2b38746b1dc4abdfcc108dbf0de4b7d%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C638368609753854650%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=5drwhg7nGzJKu%2BRI2Du5oCmkhyxansxEvMS7eae76Gs%3D&reserved=0


 
Recommendation 11  
We call on the Welsh Government to ensure the accuracy of the lists of 
overseas visits and visitors. 
 

 
Response: Accept 
 
Officials will continue to notify the Committee of all Ministerial meetings with 
diplomatic visitors to Wales, as well as Ministerial overseas visits, by providing a 
retrospective summary provided each month. For Ministerial visits overseas, 
additional information is usually provided by Ministers in a Written Statement within 
10 days of their return. 
 
Financial Implications 
N/A. 
 

 
Recommendation 13  
The Committee calls on the Welsh Government to routinely include detailed 
analysis of the Trade and Cooperation Agreement where UK-EU matters are 
cited in their Legislative Consent Memorandums, as provided during the 
course this Bill’s scrutiny. 
 

 
Response: Accept 
 
The example of the potential impact of the Data Protection and Digital Information 
(No.2) Bill on the TCA is a very good one for cases where proposed UK legislation 
needs to take account of the Agreement. I am happy to agree that Welsh 
Government LCMs on Bills that impact on the TCA should set out our assessment of 
such an impact. 
 
Financial Implications 
None. Any additional costs will be drawn from existing programme budgets. 
 
 

 

Pack Page 161



 

 

It’s 

 

 

 

16 January 2024 

National Theatre Wales 

Dear Dawn 

I am writing to you about the Arts Council of Wales’s recent Investment Review and its impact on 

National Theatre Wales. At our meeting on 11 January 2024, our Committee considered a number of 

items of correspondence relating to the review process, National Theatre Wales’s appeal, and the 

subsequent outcomes. 

As you will be aware, National Theatre Wales was established by the One Wales Programme of 

Government in the Third Assembly, as part of a government pledge to establish a national English-

language theatre. During its lifetime, it has provided some critically acclaimed, thought provoking and 

memorable works including “The Passion” in Port Talbot in 2011, and Roald Dahl’s “City of the 

Unexpected” in Cardiff in 2016.  

The correspondence we considered raised a number of concerns with us about how the Arts Council 

of Wales has approached the Investment Review, and the subsequent appeals process.  

We too are concerned that the complete and rapid termination of funding for the National Theatre, 

before the Arts Council's review into English language theatre has taken place, could lead to long-

term damage to the sector. This in turn could make the Arts Council's new plans for the sector 

significantly more difficult to implement. We are also worried that such an abrupt ending to the 

funding may lead to the loss of intellectual property, physical resources and future planned 

performances, despite significant millions of public money already having been invested in the 

National Theatre.  

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddDiwylliant@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDiwylliant 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddCulture@senedd.wales  

senedd.wales/SeneddCulture 
0300 200 6565 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, Cyfathrebu, y Gymraeg, 
Chwaraeon, a Chysylltiadau Rhyngwladol 
— 
Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, 
Sport, and International Relations 
Committee 

Dawn Bowden MS 

Deputy Minister for Arts, Sport and Tourism 

Welsh Government 

Pack Page 162

Agenda Item 4.6

https://business.senedd.wales/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=41953&PlanId=0&Opt=3#AI84519
https://business.senedd.wales/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=41953&PlanId=0&Opt=3#AI84519


 

 

 

With that in mind, we would be grateful to receive further information from you on the matters 

below.  

Specifically, could you please let us know whether you or any of your officials have considered, and 

gained reassurance, that the investment review and appeal process undertaken by the Arts Council 

was equitable and appropriate? If so, we would welcome an outline of the considerations relating to 

this. 

Furthermore, and given the decision has been made to end National Theatre Wales’s funding in April 

2024, have you, or indeed any of your officials, given consideration to providing interim funding to 

National Theatre Wales? That is, either as core funding for the organisation, or production funding to 

enable planned English language theatrical work to take place ahead of the Arts Council’s planned 

review into English language theatre. If so, again, we would welcome an outline of considerations that 

have been taken relating to this. 

I would be grateful if you could consider this matter urgently and would be happy to arrange a 

meeting to discuss this further. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Delyth Jewell MS 

Committee Chair 

 

 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Pack Page 163



Rt Hon Lucy Frazer KC MP
Secretary of State for Culture, Media

and Sport
1st Floor

100 Parliament Street
London SW1A 2BQ

E: enquiries@dcms.gov.uk

www.gov.uk/dcms

S4C Board Members,
Sianel Pedwar Cymru (S4C)

16 January 2024

Dear Board Members,
Annwyl aelodau’r Bwrdd,

Since its launch in 1982, S4C has made a valuable contribution to the lives and wellbeing of
Welsh speakers and learners. This Government is committed to helping S4C to adapt to the
changing media landscape, including through the vital reforms in the Media Bill which is
currently going through Parliament. You will also be aware of how we are supporting S4C with
an additional £7.5m per year from April 2022 until 2028 on top of its funding from the Licence
Fee to support its digital development. I recognise and celebrate the many achievements S4C
has made in the last few years, including as a result of this additional support.

Despite these achievements, S4C has been experiencing a challenging period. Serious
concerns have been raised including in the Capital Law report. My department has always
been clear that the Board has a responsibility to address the concerns raised with
commensurate seriousness.

I followed with interest the evidence sessions last week at both the Welsh Affairs Select
Committee in the House of Commons and the Senedd’s Culture, Communications, Welsh
Language, Sport and International Relations Committee. As was noted in these appearances,
recent events show that a significant amount of work is required to rebuild trust in and at S4C -
not just the trust of its staff, but also that of those with whom the organisation works more
widely. Clearly there are lessons to learn, and it is vital that such reflection is incorporated into
your plans moving forward.

Developing those plans needs to proceed without delay. I therefore strongly encourage the
Board and the acting senior team at S4C to move as quickly as possible to agree a programme
of future-facing work which addresses the serious issues of culture, management and policies
which are needed in any working environment. Given the scale of the challenge, I would also
invite you to consider seeking external advice and input to help identify how S4C’s culture and
practices can be strengthened. I request that you provide me and my officials with an update
about the Board’s collective decisions, detailed next steps and timescales.

It is important to bring a fresh start to S4C to help the organisation to draw a line under this
period. The Chair has confirmed to me today that he will not seek appointment for a second
term. I will therefore launch the process to appoint a new chair of S4C. I will shortly confirm the
arrangements for both the selection of a new chair, which will be run in accordance with the
Governance Code on Public Appointments; and I will work with the Board to nominate an
interim chair after the Chair’s term ends on 31 March while this appointment process
concludes.

Pack Page 164

Agenda Item 4.7

mailto:enquiries@dcms.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/dcms


The UK government remains committed to ensuring the future success of S4C and
Welsh-language broadcasting.

I am copying this letter to the acting Chief Executives of S4C, the Secretary of State for Wales,
the Deputy Minister for Arts, Sport and Tourism in the Welsh Government, the chair of the
House of Commons Welsh Affairs Committee and the chair of the Senedd Culture,
Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International Relations Committee.

Yours sincerely,

Rt Hon Lucy Frazer KC MP
Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport

Pack Page 165



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth,  
Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 
— 
Legislation, Justice and  
Constitution Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddDCC@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDCC 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddLJC@senedd.wales  

senedd.wales/SeneddLJC 
0300 200 6565 

 18 January 2024  

  

Dear Delyth,   

UK/Belgium: Agreement on the Gainful Occupation of Certain Family Members of the Personnel of 
the Diplomatic Missions and Consular Posts  

You will be aware that the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee is responsible for 
monitoring the implementation of non-trade international agreements in the Sixth Senedd. 

During our meeting on 4 December 2023, we considered the UK/Belgium: Agreement on the Gainful 
Occupation of Certain Family Members of the Personnel of the Diplomatic Missions and Consular 
Posts. The aim of this agreement is to allow family members (spouses, partners or children) of those 
employed by the UK in diplomatic missions, consular posts or international organisations to undertake 
gainful occupation outside the mission in Belgium (and vice versa).  

Although foreign affairs and employment policy within the Foreign, Commonwealth and 
Development Office and the civil service are reserved matters, there are potential implications for the 
devolved governments. For example, we consider that this agreement could apply to Welsh 
Government’s representatives who work within Welsh Government overseas offices that are afforded 
diplomatic status. 

As the agreement may affect the Welsh Government’s representatives in its Brussels office, we agreed 
to draw it to the attention of your Committee, for information.  

Our latest report is available here. 

Delyth Jewell MS  
Chair, Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International 
Relations Committee 

Pack Page 166

Agenda Item 4.8

https://senedd.wales/committee/725
https://business.senedd.wales/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=725&MId=13579&Ver=4
https://senedd.wales/media/34hp2jpy/cr-ld16252-e.pdf


 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Huw Irranca-Davies 
Chair 

Pack Page 167



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 168

Agenda Item 7 By virtue of paragraph(s) vii of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 179



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 181



MINISTERIAL INTERNATIONAL ENGAGEMENT 
 

DECEMBER 2023 
 

 

INWARD VISITS  

 
NIL 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

OUTWARD VISITS  

 
NIL 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Pack Page 182



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 183



OVERSEAS TRAVEL BY MINISTERS IN 2021-22 COSTING MORE THAN £500 PER TRIP

Minister Departure Date Destination Purpose of Trip Mode of Travel Number of accompanying 
officials (Private Office 
and policy) 

Total Cost of travel 
and 

accommodation 
(£) 

Vaughan 
Gething 

27/02/2022 Dubai Visit Dubai Expo Flight 1 £8,574.54 

First 
Minister 

02/03/2022 Brussels Ministerial Meetings Train 2 £1,831.80 

Total cost of all Ministers’ engagements overseas in 2021-22 is £10,406.34 

P
ack P

age 189



GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY RECEIVED BY MINISTERS IN 2020-21 ON BEHALF OF THE WELSH GOVERNMENT VALUED AT MORE THAN £320 

Minister Gift/Hospitality  Value Retained by Welsh 
Government 

Purchased by Minister 

Vaughan Gething Tickets Wales v Austria 
football match, provided 
by BT 

 £500 N/A N/A 

Vaughan Gething Six Nations – Wales vs 
Scotland tickets – 
provided by WRU 

 £600 N/A N/A 

 

 

P
ack P

age 190



OVERSEAS TRAVEL BY MINISTERS IN 2022-23 COSTING MORE THAN £500 PER TRIP 

Minister Departure 
Date 

Destination Purpose of Trip Mode of 
Travel 

Number of 
accompanying 
officials (Private 
Office and policy) 

Total Cost of travel 
and accommodation 
(£) 

Dawn Bowden 08-Oct-22 New Zealand Attendance at Women’s rugby 
world cup 

Flight 2 
£25,636.941 

Eluned Morgan 
01/03/2023 Copenhagen 

WHO European Health 
Bilateral Flight 

1 
£537.14 

Jeremy Miles 23/10/2022 Brussels Government business  Eurostar 1 £1,659.60 

Jeremy Miles 28/03/2023 Dublin Government business  Flight 2 £1,781.71 

Julie James 09/12/2022 Montreal  COP15 Flight 2 £24, 444.18 

Mark Drakeford  
17/05/2022 Oslo 

Urdd Gobaith Cymru and 
stakefholder meetings  Flight 

1 
£2,445.01 

Mark Drakeford  19/11/2022 Qatar Qatar World Cup Flight 2 £14,716.982 

Mark Drakeford  
28/02/2023 Brussels 

St David's Day reception and 
engagements Eurostar 

2 
£3,083.22 

Mark Drakeford  16/03/2023 Paris Wales in France Eurostar 3 £2,200.00 

Mark Drakeford  28/03/2023 Bilbao Basque Country visit Flight 3 £2,950.95 

Vaughan Gething 08/05/2022 Doha To meet with Qatar Airways Flight 1 £8,801.56 

Vaughan Gething 13/10/2022 Cork Wales/Ireland Forum Flight 0 £2304.863 

Vaughan Gething 
20/11/2022 Washington DC 

To celebrate first USA v Wales 
World Cup match Flight 

1 
£14,363.24 

Vaughan Gething 27/11/2022 Qatar World Cup Qatar World Cup Flight 1 £11,166.124 

Vaughan Gething 
19/03/2023 San Francisco  

Trade Mission - Games 
Developer Conference  Flight 

1 
£22,478.56 

Vaughan Gething 

22/03/2023 

Los Angeles 
 

Show support for Media 
Cymru first mission on the 
West Coast Flight 

1 

£1,460.70 

       

 

Total cost of all Ministers’ engagements overseas in 2022-23 is £115,895.57 

 

 
1 Please note an earlier figure of £30,260.68 was incorrectly declared due to a transcription error, which resulted in some costs being declared twice in the total.  
2 Cost of travel only (see below for estimated costs of accommodation) 
3 Includes cost of PS ticket which could not be refunded. 
4 Cost of travel only (see below for estimated costs of accommodation) 

P
ack P

age 191



GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY RECEIVED BY MINISTERS IN 2022-23 ON BEHALF OF THE WELSH GOVERNMENT VALUED AT MORE THAN £320 

Minister Gift/Hospitality Value Retained by Welsh 
Government 

Purchased by Minister 

Eluned Morgan Travel and hotel costs 
for Copenhagen 

£468 N/A N/A 

First Minister Daniel Huws A 
Repertory of Welsh 
Manuscripts and Scribes 
c.800–c.1800 

£360 Yes  

First Minister Accommodation at Ritz-
Carlton Qatar 

£800 N/A N/A 

Jane Hutt Awards Ceremony and 
Evening Meal Hospitality 

£360 N/A N/A 

Vaughan Gething WWE Clash at the 
Castle tickets and replica 
title belt 

£851   

Vaughan Gething Tickets to attend World 
Supercross British Grand 
Prix 

£450 N/A N/A 

Vaughan Gething Accommodation and 
travel in Qatar 
 

£1023 N/A N/A 

 

P
ack P

age 192



Y Gwir Anrh/Rt Hon Mark Drakeford AS/MS 
Prif Weinidog Cymru/First Minister of Wales 

 
 
 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

 
Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  

0300 0604400 
Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru 

               Correspondence.Mark.Drakefordy@gov.wales  

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni 

fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and 
corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 

 
 
Delyth Jewell MS  
Chair  
Culture, Communication, Welsh Language, Sport  
and International Relations Committee  
Senedd Cymru 

 
         

6 July 2023 
 
 
 
Dear Delyth, 
 
I am writing in response to your letter of 07 June which requested further information 
following my attendance at the Committee’s annual scrutiny session of International 
Relations on 10 May. 
 
Guidance on DAs sent to UK Heads of Mission by UK Foreign Secretary 
 
I wrote to the Foreign Secretary on 3 May expressing disappointment with the revised 
guidance sent to UK Heads of Mission. The approach is not in line with the 
collaborative principles set out in the Inter-governmental Review as the guidance was 
developed unilaterally by the UK Government without consultation. It also states that a 
senior UK officials should be present at all overseas meetings held by devolved 
governments if they believe that reserved matters may be discussed.  
 
The matter was raised at the Inter-Ministerial Standing Committee (IMSC) attended by 
Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution. The meeting noted the concerns 
around the recent guidance and agreed that Ministers would invite the FCDO to a 
future IMSC to discuss this issue.  
 
The FS responded to my letter on 22 May, noting the concerns but concluding that the 

practice of UK Government officials being present at ministerial-level meetings with 

host governments has been a longstanding and common one, and having UK 

Government officials present can help to ensure policy cohesion and clarity of 

messaging on UK international policy. I enclose both letters for noting (English only). 

 

Pack Page 193

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Mark.Drakefordy@gov.wales


 
International bi-lateral agreements 
 
I signed the Wales/Flanders Memorandum of Understanding with the Minister 
President on his visit to Cardiff on 6 June. Similar agreements with Baden 
Württemberg and Silesia are currently in development, and subject to agreement we 
expect these to be signed before the end of the year. I will also be re-signing our 
agreement with Brittany when I travel to Rennes in the Summer, and we are exploring 
the possibility of a refreshed agreement with Catalonia at some point in the future. 
 
Following the recommendation by the Committee, we created a dedicated webpage 
that lists all active international bi-lateral agreements, including the listing of the areas 
of co-operation with our partners. Details on the Flanders agreement have been 
included. On the basis that we have the details of the agreements on a dedicated 
webpage, I see no reason to send on copies of these to the Committee which are 
generally standard in their form and structure.  

 
Wales in Canada 2022 Programme of Activity 
 
I have included a summary of the Wales in Canada 2022 activity at Annex A, which 
also includes achievements and outcomes. All the activity aligned with at least one of 
the international strategy’s three key ambitions to: 
 

- Raise Wales’ international profile, 
- Grow our economy through exports and inward investment, 
- Establish Wales as a globally responsible nation. 

 
The main lessons learned from the previous campaigns centred around earlier 
engagement in the planning process - both across government and with external 
stakeholders - and the securing of additional support officers to help deliver the 
campaign at least three months ahead. We have also seen a difference in our 
communications opportunities and outputs when a press officer is part of an outward 
ministerial delegation.  All of these lessons have been applied to Wales in France 2023 
and we will continue to evaluate each campaign to measure its success and to 
continue to apply learning to ensure we maximise the opportunities of each campaign.  

 
Language activity during Wales in Canada 2022 
 
Language forms an important part of our international activity as set out in the 
International Strategy. Our ‘Wales in’ years have sought to use this opportunity to 
engage in this area. As part of the Wales in Canada year, activity covering language  
included:  

 

• Welsh presence at BreakOut West Festival in Calgary, with three separate artists 
showcasing. In collaboration with FOCUS Wales, we supported three showcase 
concerts to highlight the Welsh artists and held a Sunday music session with 
Welsh and Indigenous languages artists. On Truth and Reconciliation Day, Wales 
Arts International and a representative of the Welsh band Adwaith spoke on a 
panel around the role music plays in protecting and promoting indigenous 
languages. 

 

Pack Page 194

https://www.gov.wales/international-bi-lateral-agreements


• Supporting a project through the Wales-Quebec Call for Proposals to facilitate 
collaboration between Literature Across Frontiers and literary festival ‘Metropolis 
Bleu’ in Montreal. A bilingual language writer came to Montreal and did a reading in 
Welsh and English in the Montreal Botanical Gardens. 

 

• Promotion on social media of Urdd Peace message in Canada’s official languages, 
and Inuktitut – the most widely-spoken indigenous language in Canada. 

 

• Promotion of Wales via the collaboration with Yukon-based social media influencer, 
Pavlina Sudrich, who promoted Wales’ values, language, sport, culture and 
heritage to her hundreds of thousands of followers.  The videos we commissioned 
from this collaboration gained over 5.5million views, with high rates of 
engagement. 

 

• Office of the Future Generations Commissioner visit to Canada showcasing our 
work in Wales on language as part of the UN Decade of Indigenous Languages. 

 
A full list of Wales in Canada 2022 activity is at Annex A. 

 
Welsh Government Relationship with Welsh Rugby Union 
 
We look forward to Wales being represented again in a major international sporting 
tournament and the excitement that this brings to Wales and the platform it offers to 
raise our profile internationally. In terms of the Rugby World Cup, this means that we 
will continue to work with all our stakeholders involved in the Wales in France year 
including the Welsh Rugby Union (WRU). The WRU is the national governing body for 
rugby union in Wales and has an aim to promote rugby and participation in the sport 
across Wales. Citizens across Wales will be looking forward to our nation’s 
participation in the tournament and it is right that we are ready to support that. 
 
I am concerned when any organisation faces challenges and allegations around its 
internal processes and cultures. I think it is important to acknowledge that the WRU 
has recognised and accepted the concerns that have been raised and has taken 
positive steps. The external review and the recent governance changes that were 
agreed at the EGM in March is a very positive step in the right direction. Last week 
WRU appointed an independent chair and a new director onto the board. We need to 
continue to see improvements and we will continue our engagement with WRU on that 
basis. 
 
From a sport perspective we need to continue working closely with key partners and 
stakeholders, such as the WRU, as custodians of the game. We will maintain 
productive relations to deliver, for example, the community game, as this contributes to 
the Programme for Government commitment to enhance access and increase 
participation in sport and physical activity.  

 
Future role of Welsh Government’s representative in Europe. 
 
Derek Vaughan was appointed as the Welsh Government Representative on Europe in 
January 2022 by open competition for a fixed term until early 2024.  Since taking up 
the role, he has been successfully using his experience and contacts to enhance 
Wales’ connectivity and visibility in Brussels in the post-Brexit period. 

Pack Page 195



We will consider the future of the role during this year, taking account of how the role 
has worked, and assessing the broader context of the Wales-EU relationship. 

 
Progress against the International Strategy 
 
Flexibility is key to achieving the ambitions of the International Strategy. When it was 
written, no-one would have predicted war in Europe, the shift in the geopolitical 
landscape, or the fact that many of our longest-standing partner countries, such as 
Japan, would be forced to close their borders for more than two years hampering trade 
and tourism.  These challenges have taught us that we have to react to change.  
 
In fact, there is a view that global events over the last few years have increased our 
profile. Diplomatic and international visits into Wales are increasing rapidly. Diplomats 
arrive in Wales with a significant knowledge of the country, our culture and our policies. 
I frequently get asked specific questions about Wales’ approach during the pandemic, 
innovative policy approaches - such as the Taith programme - or about our action to 
safeguard and strengthen the Welsh language. Other events, particularly sporting 
ones, have raised the profile of the country and we have worked hard to make the 
most of these. The Men’s Football World Cup is an obvious one and very high profile. 
But it is important to remember our activities in other tournaments - including the 
Women’s Rugby World Cup in New Zealand, the Commonwealth Games in England 
and the Men’s Hockey World Cup in India.  
 
The 2022-23 Annual Report and the statement I made during Plenary on 13 June 
provides a good summary of progress on our international activity. 

 
Co-ordinating activity with the UK Government overseas to ensure Value for Money 

 
Our International Strategy and Export Action Plan commit us to working closely with 
our partners in-market, including overseas missions and embassies, to amplify our 
voice overseas and deliver our in-market activities/trade missions. 
 
Where appropriate, we work jointly with the Department for Business & Trade’s (DBT) 
overseas networks and UK Embassies to support the delivery of trade mission activity, 
including the delivery of in-market briefing sessions for Welsh businesses, organise 
networking receptions, joint stands with UK Government pavilions at targeted global 
trade exhibitions, to maximise opportunities and ensure value for money. 
 
Where we have Welsh Government offices, the in-market teams develop relationships 
with their DBT and FCDO colleagues looking for opportunities to cooperate on key 
events and activities.  
 
Overseas colleagues work with DBT colleagues to promote opportunities for Welsh 
companies to participate in overseas DBT initiatives such as in-bound and out-bound 
sector missions, virtual/physical conferences and events and business/ academic/ 
expert speaking opportunities. 
 
Overseas teams also seek UK colleague’s engagement with Wales-led projects such 
as St David’s Day and our “Wales in…” initiatives. The French Ambassador, for 
example, recently hosted the launch and supported other activities for Wales in France 
2023. And we had a close working relationship with the UK Embassy in Qatar 
throughout the 2022 FIFA World Cup.  

Pack Page 196

https://www.gov.wales/overseas-network-annual-report-2022-to-2023
https://record.assembly.wales/Plenary/13379#A80284


In markets where we don’t have an office, we work on a reactive basis building links 
with local governments and economic development agencies to develop opportunities 
for Welsh exports and uncover any linked investment opportunities.  

 
Delivery against the Overseas Office Remits 
 
I am very proud of what our overseas offices have delivered in 2022-23 – and have 
had the chance to see some of that in person through my programmes in Dublin and 
Cork, Qatar, Brussels and Paris. The annual report shows an extensive array of activity 
that they have delivered against their remits.  
 
As well as delivering on trade and investment, our offices have also undertaken 
considerable work in terms of projecting Wales’ values and our commitment to working 
in partnership as a globally responsible partner. They have promoted Wales’ innovative 
programmes and policies such as Taith and the Well-being of Future Generations Act. 
 
They have worked with colleagues across the Welsh Government to support 
Programme for Government and other commitments in education, sport, education, 
tourism, culture, Welsh Language, sustainable futures and science to promote Wales’ 
distinct propositions and ideas to collaborate to solve our global challenges of climate 
change and decarbonisation.     

 
The overseas offices have worked with Wales delivery partners and overseas 
stakeholders from sector forums and business clusters, including those where we have 
established strategic international partnerships such as the Urdd, Wales Arts 
International, Future Generations Commissioner’s Office, and Academi Heddwch – as 
well as other partnerships with British Council Wales, Global Wales and Amgueddfa 
Cymru. These partnerships are growing year-on-year and combined efforts are 
delivering more impact internationally.   
 
In Europe, the team has also been active in developing key European networks, such 
as the Conference of Peripheral Maritime Regions (CPMR) and Vanguard Initiative to 
support the delivery of European aspects of our economic, academic, science and 
research and innovation objectives.  
 
Our combined international marketing and communications reach has also increased 
significantly - discovering some new, innovative ways to tell Wales’ story - particularly 
through digital channels - reaching new audiences in engaging ways, as well as some 
success stories with traditional TV and press coverage e.g. Wales in Canada, Wales in 
France, FIFA World Cup. 

 
Monitoring and evaluation of international activity 

 
Soft power, by the very nature of its activity, is difficult to measure, but is a valuable 
tool in our international engagement.   
 
The Annual Report sets out publicly what we have achieved over the past year. It 
includes three case studies – the FIFA 2022 World Cup, Wales in Canada 2022 and 
our approach to Europe. Each overseas office also has a published remit which sets 
out how it will support the delivery of the International Strategy and its action plans.  
 

Pack Page 197



Each of the Action Plans contain a series of short- and long-term objectives which 
contain a mix of tangible and intangible outcomes.  
It is relatively easy to measure attendance and engagement at our overseas events. 
The number of companies attending a trade mission or trade show, the value of export 
deals signed at these events all provide very tangible outcomes - as do the number of 
attendees at a diaspora reception or networking event.   
 
Where it is difficult to measure the outcomes, we can use metrics - such as 
communications - to understand the reach of our activity. Not all our activity can be 
measured in this way but each of our overseas teams uses social media to promote 
Wales in line with the ambitions of the International Strategy.   

 
The media coverage of Wales throughout the Minister for Economy’s visit to Washington 
DC for the Wales v USA game was wide and varied, including radio and television 
interviews. The Washington Post had the ‘Soccer in the Circle’ event as the front page 
of its Metro supplement, plus a double page inside spread, which included interviews 
with American alumni who had studied in Wales. This type of engagement is valuable 
but difficult to measure – readership is estimated at over 655,000 in the DC Metro area 
and more than 63 million people access the Washington Post’s website.     
 
A fuller evaluation of the Qatar World Cup is still taking place and is expected to be 
published in July. 

 
Ministerial Overseas Travel Costs  
 
All ministerial overseas travel costs will be published in line with the timetables set out in 
the Ministerial Code. A Written Statement outlines the programme for each visit and 
ensures that Members - and the public - can see the breadth of activity undertaken on 
an overseas visit.  
 

Yours sincerely, 

 
 

MARK DRAKEFORD  

Pack Page 198



Annex A 

Wales in Canada 2022 

 
Below is the full list of activity between March 2022 – February 2023. 
 

Activity Where 

March  

• Launch Wales in Canada - FM message Virtual - Canada/ Wales 

• Launch Wales in Canada -  HC to UK message Virtual - Canada/ Wales 

• Launch Wales in Canada - Reception on Ice Ottawa, Ontario 

• Panel on indigenous languages in music Virtual - Canada/ Wales 

• St David’s Day activities  London, UK 

• Expo Dubai  Dubai, UAE 

• Parliamentary Internship Programme visit to Wales Cardiff, Wales 

• Cyber UK Newport, Wales 

April   

• Nuclear Trade Mission Ottawa, Ontario 

• Global Wales Scholarship extended to Canadian Students Virtual - Canada/ Wales 

• Agent General for Ontario visit to Cardiff Cardiff, Wales 

May  

• World AI Summit Montreal, Quebec 

• FOCUS Wales Wrexham, Wales 

• Canada Goes Cymru Launch Wrexham, Wales 

• Metropolis Blue Montreal  Montreal, Quebec 

• Urdd peace message Virtual - Canada/ Wales 

• Launch of Wales-Quebec joint call for proposals Virtual – Quebec/ Wales 

• Alumni Event Toronto Toronto Ontario 

• Visit to Welsh Church Toronto Toronto Ontario 

June  

• Jubilee Garden Party Ottawa Ontario 

• Doors Open Ottawa Ottawa Ontario 

• HMS Protector event – Montreal & Quebec City Quebec City, Quebec 

• Wales Coast Path press trip Wales 

• Canadian Poet in Wales through Wales-Quebec Call for 
proposals 

Aberystwyth, Wales 

• Banff Cultural Centre visit – National Indigenous People’s Day Banff, Alberta 

• Cor Gogledd America concert – Banff & Calgary Banff & Calgary 

  

Pack Page 199



July  

• Marking 6 month of WiC Virtual 

• Commonwealth Games Birmingham, UK 

• Farnborough International Airshow  Farnborough, UK 

August  

• Donna Screening Ottawa 

• Welsh Women Rugby Team in Canada: Wales v Canada match Halifax 

September  

• Trade Mission to Canada Ottawa / Toronto / Halifax 

• Toronto International Film Festival Toronto 

• WFG Commissioner visit Montreal/ Ottawa / 
Vancouver  

• Welsh Event Vancouver Vancouver, BC 

• Wales Arts International Visit Montreal Ottawa, 
Vancouver 

October  

• Breakout West  Calgary, Alberta 

November  

• SoftPowerCymru Podcast Launch Virtual - Canada/ Wales 

• Ontario & Wales at Medica Düsseldorf Düsseldorf, Germany 

• CAMH/Wales Symposium: Digital Mental Health from Policy to 
Practice 

Virtual - Ontario/ Wales 

• M for Montreal Montreal Quebec 

• Announce results of Call for Proposals Quebec & Wales 

• BC Creative x Creative Wales Trade reception London, UK 

• FIFA World Cup events Canada 

December  

• Minister for Climate Change Visit to Montreal Montreal, Quebec 

• WG presence at Biodiversity COP15 Summit Montreal, Quebec 

• End of year message from MCC Virtual – Canada/ Wales 

• FM responds to Yukon TikTokker  Virtual The Yukon 

January  

• FM interview on CBC Radio Virtual The Yukon 

February  

• Yukon TikTokker visits Wales Wales 

 

  

Pack Page 200



Outcomes & Achievements 
 
Wales in Canada key achievements and outcomes included: 
 
Education 
 

• The extension of the Global Wales Postgraduate Scholarship to students from 
Canada. So far, over more than 100 students from Wales are to study in Canada 
through the Taith programme, and this Scholarship aims to encourage even 
more links between higher education institutions in Wales and those in Canada. 

 
Arts 
 

• Wales Arts International signing an agreement with the Conseil des arts et des 
lettres du Québec (CALQ) for three reciprocal artistic residencies between Wales 
and Quebec, supporting six artists. The first of these will begin with a Welsh artist 
taking up residency at the Centre des musiciens du monde in Montreal in 
September 2023. 
 

• Screening of the film ‘Donna’: Screening event to premier the film 'Donna' at 
Ottawa's Capital Pride. The event included a Q&A with Welsh director Jay 
Bedwani, Welsh producer Dewi Gregory, and protagonist Donna Personna who 
was flown out from San Francisco by the US Embassy Ottawa, who we 
partnered with on the event. 

 
Strengthening relationships 
 

• Following the alumni and diaspora events, new contacts were made and used to 
facilitate other events throughout the year, such as World Cup watch parties. 
 

• Policy roundtable between the Future Generations Commissioner’s and 
Vancouver Economic Commission (VEC), focussed on First Nations approaches 
to well-being and knowledge sharing between Wales and Canada. 
 

• Ongoing discussions with the Ontario Government about signing a Memorandum 
of Understanding across a range of sectors for mutual benefit, with an 
accompanying action plan, in 2023. 
 

• A pipeline of follow up activity from the Minister of Climate Change visit to 
Montreal in December 2022; the first inward visit to Wales by one of the 
Canadian stakeholders met is planned for June 2023. 
 

• 12 joint projects between Welsh and Quebec-based stakeholders approved for 
2022 in collaboration with the Quebec Government to be undertaken in 2023, 
with a fourth Call for Proposals to be launched in spring 2023. 

 
  

Pack Page 201



Raising Wales’ profile 
 

• Three Canadian television networks covered our work, the Globe and Mail (with 
a readership of over seven million) published a full-length op-ed.  The First 
Minister also delivered an audio interview with CBC. 
 

• Our collaboration with a Canadian social media influencer from the Yukon 
generated over 5.3million views for the commissioned Wales content across 
TikTok and Instagram alone, with nearly 750,000 likes and comments. 

 

• The collaboration was a news story for major news organisations in Canada and 
Wales, with articles and interviews about this work appearing online and on 
primetime television broadcasts. 

 

• The Welsh women’s rugby team played the Canadian women’s rugby team in 
Halifax, Nova Scotia, in the run-up to the Rugby World Cup in New Zealand in 
October 2022. The match was used to host local business, political, and diaspora 
contacts. The match was broadcast on S4C in Wales and the main sports 
channel in Canada, TSN. We also undertook some corporate sponsorship of the 
match to market tourism to Wales. 

 

Pack Page 202



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 203

By virtue of paragraph(s) vii of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	1 Welsh Government Draft Budget 2024-25: Draft Budget summary of main findings
	3 Allegations surrounding the Welsh Rugby Union: evidence session with the Welsh Rugby Union
	Sport Resolutions: Independent review of the Welsh Rugby Union - 14 November 2023
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	OPENING
	GOVERNANCE
	MANAGEMENT OF WOMEN’S AND GIRLS’ RUGBY
	EMPLOYMENT AND EQUALITY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION
	LOOKING OUTWARDS: VALUES, TRANSPARENCY AND RELATIONSHIPS
	POSITIVE VOICES
	RECOMMENDATIONS
	APPENDICES


	4.1 Public service broadcasting in Wales
	4.2 Challenges facing the creative industry workforce in Wales
	Written response by the Welsh Government to the report of the Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International Relations Committee’s entitled ‘Behind the scenes: The creative industries workforce’

	4.3 HSBC UK Welsh Service Line
	4.4 Welsh Government Draft Budget 2024-25
	Letter to the First Minister - Welsh Government Draft Budget 2024-25 - 16 January 2024
	Letter to the Minister for Education and Welsh Language- Welsh Government Draft Budget 2024-25 - 16 January 2024
	Letter from Discovering Old Welsh Houses Group to the Deputy Minister for Art, Sport and Tourism - Proposed cuts to the Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historic Monuments of Wales - 12 January 2024
	Letter from the Royal Welch Fusiliers Museum to the Deputy Minister for Art, Sport and Tourism - Proposed cuts to the Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historic Monuments of Wales - 16 January 2024
	Letter from the Wales Heritage Group - Proposed cuts to the Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historic Monuments of Wales - 16 January 2024

	4.5 International Relations in Welsh Government
	4.6 Arts Council of Wales Investment Review
	4.7 Allegations concerning bullying at S4C
	4.8 UK/Belgium: Agreement on the Gainful Occupation of Certain Family Members of Personnel of the Diplomatic Missions and Consular Posts
	7 Welsh Government international relations: analysis of overseas visits - Autumn term 2023
	Annex 1 - Letter from the First Minister to the Secretary of State for Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Affairs: Devolved Governments on overseas ministerial visits - 3 May 2023
	Annex 2 - Response from the Secretary of State for Foreign, Commonwealth and Development Affairs to the First Minister: Devolved Governments on overseas ministerial visits - 22 May 2023
	Annex 3 - Welsh Government international visits - December 2023
	Research brief: Welsh Government international relations: Scottish Government Overseas Ministerial Visits
	Overseas travel by Minister in 2021-22 costing more than £500 per trip
	Overseas travel table (E) 2021-22
	Overseas travel table (E) 2022-23

	Welsh Government international relations: response from the First Minister to the International Relations Annual Report 2023-24 - 6 July 2023
	Correspondence from the Welsh Government: Welsh Government international relations - 10 January 2024




